
 

 

 
 
 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 9 September 2025 

Time: 6.30pm, 
Location: Council Chamber 

Contact: Gemma O'Donnell (01438) 242216 
committees@stevenage.gov.uk 

 
 

Members: Councillors:  C Parris (Chair), C Veres (Vice-Chair), J Ashley-Wren, 
S Booth, R Boyle, K Choudhury, F Chowdhury, P Clark, 
C DeFreitas, A Elekolusi, L Guy, E Plater, A Wells and 
N Williams 

 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

AGENDA 
 

PART 1 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

2.   MINUTES - 21 JULY 2025 
 
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 21 July 
2025.  

3 – 18 
 

3.   25/00413/FPM - FORMER KODAK SITE, BESSEMER DRIVE 
 
To consider the erection of 1no. detached industrial building with flexible use classes 
Eg(iii) and B8 uses, and 2no. semi-detached industrial buildings with flexible use classes 
Eg(iii), B2 and B8 uses with ancillary offices (for a total area of 11,093m2 GIA), and 
supporting car/cycle parking, landscaping and service yards. 

19 – 64 
 

4.   25/00424/FPM - STEVENAGE SWIMMING CENTRE, ST GEORGES WAY 
 
To consider the demolition of existing Swimming Centre and erection of new sports and 
leisure centre with associated parking, landscaping and access. 

65 – 122 
 

5.   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

123 – 142 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

6.   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

143 – 144 
 

7.   URGENT PART I BUSINESS 
 
To consider any Part I Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 

 
8.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider the following motions that: 
 

1. Under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
described in paragraphs 1-7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as 
amended by Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 
2006. 

 

2. That Members consider the reasons for the following reports (if any)being 
in Part II and determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from 
disclosure of the information contained therein outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure. 

 
9.   URGENT PART II BUSINESS 

 
To consider any Part II Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 
 

 
 
Agenda Published 01/09/2025 

 



1 

STEVENAGE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
MINUTES 

 
Date: Monday, 21 July 2025 

Time: 6.30pm 
Place: Council Chamber 

 
Present: Councillors:  Claire Parris (Chair), Carolina Veres (Vice Chair),  

  Julie Ashley-Wren, Stephen Booth, Kamal Choudhury, 
  Forhad Chowdhury, Peter Clark, Coleen De Freitas and 
  Nigel Williams 
 

Start / End 
Time: 

Start Time: 6.30pm 
End Time: 7.25pm 

 
 
1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Robert Boyle, Cllr Akin Elekolusi, Cllr 

Lynda Guy and Cllr Anne Wells. 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

2   MINUTES - 5 JUNE 2025  
 

 The Minutes of the meeting of the Planning & Development Committee held on 5 
June 2025 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

3   25/00221/FPM - WILTRON HOUSE, RUTHERFORD CLOSE  
 

 The Committee received a presentation from the Team Leader (AD) on an 
application seeking permission for the demolition of the existing two-storey office 
building and construction of a new unit for flexible use (Classes E, B2 and B8), with 
associated access, servicing, parking and landscaping. 
 
The Team Leader (AD) outlined the site context within the Gunnels Wood 
employment area, noting surrounding uses and residential dwellings to the north. 
Plans, elevations and landscaping proposals were presented. It was confirmed that 
13 trees would be removed but replaced with new planting, and that design 
measures such as a stepped roof profile sought to reduce the visual massing of the 
building. 
 
The Committee was advised that the Lead Local Flood Authority had lifted its 
objection, subject to standard conditions relating to drainage and surface water 
management. 
 
A Member questioned why the existing office building could not be extended rather 
than demolished, commenting on potential waste and the impression that the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2 

scheme was designed for a specific occupier. In response, Officers advised that 
there was no relevant planning history for redevelopment of the site, and that the 
landowner had chosen to submit an application to redevelop the site rather than 
extend.  It was further noted that Stevenage had a shortage of modern employment 
floor space, and that the proposed building would address this need. 
 
Members commented on the number of HGV spaces, adequacy of parking 
provision, and loss of trees. Officers confirmed that 35 car spaces would be 
provided, meeting parking standards for B2 and B8 uses, and that conditions 
required further parking details if the unit were to be occupied by a research and 
development user. Replacement planting and biodiversity net gain requirements 
were highlighted. 
 
Questions were raised regarding cycle and pedestrian routes adjoining the site. 
Officers confirmed that highway improvements and segregated cycle routes 
associated with the wider west of Stevenage development would not be affected. 
 
During discussion, Members commented regarding demolition of relatively modern 
buildings and the need for more robust local policy on this matter. 
 
A recorded vote* was taken on the application and it was RESOLVED that planning 
permission be GRANTED the applicant having first entered into a Unilateral 
Undertaking to secure/provide contributions towards: 
 
• S278 Agreement (covering access works) 
• £6000 Travel Plan evaluation and support fee 
• Local Employment and Apprenticeships 
• Monitoring fee 
 
The detail of which be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Regulation in liaison with the Council’s appointed solicitor, along with the 
recommendations of the Lead Local Flood Authority, as well as the imposition of 
suitable safeguarding conditions.  
 
Authority be given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation in 
consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to the 
suggested draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being 
issued, where such amendments or additions would be legally sound and most 
effectively deliver the development that the Planning Committee has resolved to 
approve. These suggested conditions are as follows: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  

02001 REV PL01; 03000 REV PL02; 03001 REV PL06; 03002 REV PL01; 03101 
REV PL02; 03102 REV PL02; 03103 REV PL02; 03201 REV PL05; 03210 REV 
PL01; 03211 REV PL01; 03301 REV PL03; 03302 REV PL02; 250109MJ-1; 
POE_322_001 REV D; POE_322_002; 25006-MBA-EX-SP-DR-E-0001 PL2. 
  

2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

Page 4



3 

  
 

3. No site clearance or construction work relating to this permission shall be 
carried out except between the hours of 0730 and 1800 on Mondays to 
Fridays and between the hours of 0800 and 1300 on Saturdays, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These times 
apply to work which is audible at the site boundary. 
 

4. No demolition and site clearance shall commence until a demolition 
management plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, demolition and clearance of the site shall only 
be carried out in accordance with the approved plan. The demolition 
management plan shall include details of the following: 

 a) Vehicle numbers, type, routing;  
 b) Access arrangements to site; 
 c) Traffic and pedestrian management requirements;  
 d) Construction and storage compounds (including areas   
 designated for car parking, loading / unloading and turning   
 areas); 
 e) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  
 f) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public  
 highway;  
 g) Timing of demolition activities (including delivery times and   
 removal of waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;  
 h) Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of  
 demolition/site clearance activities;  
 i) Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site, a plan  
 should be submitted showing the site layout on the highway   
 including extent of hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining  
 road width for vehicle movements;  
 j) A Site Waste Management Plan including mechanisms to deal  
 with environmental impacts such as air quality and dust control  
 measures, noise and vibration restriction measures, light and  
 odour and predicted and latterly actual waste arisings and how  
 this is to be managed and where it is sent to. 
 k) Dust control measures during demolition and construction from  
 plant and machinery, and vehicles. 
 

5. No development shall commence (excluding demolition and site clearance) 
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including elements of the CLOCS 
standards as set out in the Highway Authority’s Construction Management 
template. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried 
out in accordance with the approved Plan: The Construction Management 
Statement shall include details of: 

 • Access arrangements to the site. 
 • Traffic management requirements. 
 • Construction and storage compounds (including areas   
 designated for car parking, loading / unloading and turning   
 areas). 

Page 5



4 

 • Siting and details of wheel washing facilities. 
 • Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public  
 highway. 
 • Timing of construction activities (including delivery times   
 and removal of waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off   
 times. 
 • Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of  
 construction activities. 
 • Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas  
 and temporary access to the public highway. 
 • Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan  
 should be submitted showing the site layout on the highway   
 including extent of hoarding which must be kept within the site  
 boundary, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for   
 vehicle movements. 
 

6. Prior to commencing works on the vehicle access, technical plans shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority which show the detailed 
engineering designs and construction of the vehicle access off Rutherford 
Close and associated highway works in accordance with the hereby approved 
plans. Prior to occupation, the access shall be delivered and retained as 
approved.  

 
7. Before the occupation of the proposed development, a Parking and Servicing 

Management Plan (PSMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority, 
which details how parking will be managed and enforced, including how 
egress of HGVs will be managed to ensure that at no point are two HGVs 
expected to pass each other along Rutherford Close. The PSMP shall then be 
in operation from first occupation of the development hereby approved and 
shall thereafter be kept operational at all times. 

 
8. The development shall ensure that arrangement shall be made for surface 

water drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does 
not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway. 

 
9. The cycle parking shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with the 

agreed details and completed prior to occupation of the development hereby 
approved and shall thereafter be retained, maintained, and kept available for 
the occupants of the development at all times. 

 
10. Prior to the occupation/use of the development hereby permitted, EVCPs 

(active and passive) shall be installed in accordance with the approved details 
and permanently maintained and retained. 

 
11. Prior to the first occupation/use of the development hereby permitted the car 

parking layout including servicing bays shall be installed in accordance with 
the approved detailed technical plans and thereafter retained at all times at 
the position shown or otherwise approved under condition 27. 

 

Page 6



5 

12. If contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme a verification report must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
13. The development hereby permitted shall not come into night time use until a 

verification report containing evidence of compliance with the maximum off-
site artificial lighting levels as set out in Drawing Number 25006-MBA-EX-SP-
DR-E-0001 Rev PL2 dated March 2025 cited in the External LED Lighting 
Assessment Report by MBA Consulting Engineers (Version 3, dated 
22/4/2025) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The luminaires and associated lighting equipment shall 
thereafter be retained, operated, and maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturers’ specifications. 

 
14. The rating level of noise emitted by any or all fixed plant shall not exceed 

54dB(A) within the curtilage of any nearby residential property between 07:00 
and 23:00 and 38dB(A) between 23:00 and 07:00 hours. Any measurement 
or computation, and assessment shall be made in accordance with BS 
4142:2014+A1:2019. 
 

15.  The development hereby permitted shall not come into use until such time a 
noise barrier has been erected as shown on drawing 24-072-03001 Rev PL06 
and within the Assessment of Noise report prepared by Sharps Acoustics LLP 
dated 20 March 2025. The barrier shall be imperforate and be retained and 
maintained for the life of the approved use. 

 
16.  There shall be no use of on-board commercial vehicle refrigeration or 

compressor units whilst on site at any time. 
 

17. No vehicle internal combustion engine shall be used on site at any time other 
than in connection with that vehicle’s movement. 

 
18. There shall be no use of tonal alarms by any vehicle on site at any time. 

   
19. The development to which this permission relates shall be carried out in 

accordance with the external materials specified on drawing number 03201 
REV PL05 submitted as approved or any alternative to be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
  

20. All soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details as shown in drawing number POE_322_001 REV D to a reasonable 
standard in accordance with the relevant British Standards or other 
recognised Codes of Good Practice. 

  

Page 7



6 

  
21. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the completion of the development. 

 
22. Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which within 

a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
23. No tree shown retained on the approved landscaping scheme, shall be cut 

down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be topped or lopped 
within five years of the completion of development without the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

           
24. The measures to address adaptation to climate change as set out within the 

Energy and Sustainability Strategy and BREEAM Pre-Assessment by MBA 
Consulting Engineers shall be implemented and permanently maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. 

   
25. The recommended mitigation measures and enhancements set out within the 

Ecological Appraisal by Aspect Ecology dated March 2025 shall be 
implemented and permanently maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
26. The external lighting strategy set out within the External Lighting Assessment 

Report by MBA Consulting Engineers rev PL3 dated April 2025 and drawing 
number 25006-MBA-EX-SP-DR-E-0001 Rev PL2 shall be implemented and 
permanently maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

 
27. Should the end user of the building hereby approved fall within planning use 

class E(g)(iii), a parking layout plan shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to occupation.  

 
28. No piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the depth 

and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling 
will be carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential 
for damage to subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the programme for the 
works) and piling layout plan including all Thames Water wastewater assets, 
the local topography and clearance between the face of the pile to the face of 
a pipe has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in 
accordance with the terms of the approved piling method statement and piling 
layout plan.  

 
29. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied prior to the 

implementation of the approved Travel Plan, dated May 2025. Those parts of 
the approved Travel Plan that are identified therein as being capable of 
implementation after occupation shall be implemented in accordance with the 

Page 8



7 

timetable contained therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as 
any part of the development is occupied. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 

1. The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated with the 
construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which 
is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further  information is available 
via the website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx  

 
2. Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the 

Highways Act 1980  for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any 
way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. If 
this development is likely to result in the public highway or public right of way 
network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must contact the 
Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements before construction 
 works commence. Further information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx 

 
3. New or amended vehicle crossover access (section 278): Where works are 

required within the public highway to facilitate a new or amended vehicular access, 
the Highway Authority require the construction of such works to be undertaken to 
their satisfaction and specification, and by a contractor who is authorised to work 
in the public highway. If any of the works associated with the construction of the 
access affects or requires the removal and/or the relocation of any equipment, 
apparatus or structures (e.g. street name plates, bus stop signs or shelters, 
statutory authority equipment etc.) the applicant will be required to bear the cost of 
such removal or alteration. Before works commence the applicant will need to 
apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission, requirements and for the 
work to be carried out on the applicant’s behalf. Further information is available via 
the County Council website at: 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-
toyour road/dropped-kerbs/dropped-kerbs.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 

4. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit mud or 
other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party 
responsible. Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development are in a 
condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the 
highway. Further information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx  

Page 9

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-to
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-to
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx


8 

 
5. A Section 106 agreement will be required for the following: Approved Travel Plan 

with individual monitoring fees in accordance with the current HCC Travel Plan 
Guidance for Business and Residential Development (£6k per use). The above 
contributions will come under the auspices  of the Planning Obligations 
Guidance Toolkit for Hertfordshire (2008) for schemes in the local area that accord 
with the three CIL tests. 

 
6. Avoidance of surface water discharge onto the highway: The applicant is advised 

that the Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the Highways Act 
1980, to take appropriate steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to the 
occupier of premises adjoining a highway) to prevent water from the roof or other 
part of the premises falling upon persons using the highway, or to prevent so far 
as is reasonably practicable, surface water from the premises flowing on to, or 
over the footway of the highway. 

 
7. A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 

discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit 
is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water 
Industry Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures 
he will undertake to minimise groundwater  discharges into the public sewer. 
Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk  Management 
Team by telephoning 020 3577 9483 or by emailing 
trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should be completed online 
via www.thameswater.co.uk. Please refer to the Wholesale; Business customers; 
Groundwater discharges section. 

 
8. Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing 
CIL on 01 April 2020. This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are 
advised to contact the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your 
development is CIL liable, even if you are granted an exemption from the levy, 
please be advised that it is a requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 
(Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean 
you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be 
imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required for 
residential extensions if relief has been granted.  

 
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found 
on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the 
Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 
 

9. To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at 
building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us on 01438 879990. 

 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal 
at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/payment can be made online or by 

Page 10

mailto:trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk
mailto:CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk


9 

phoning the above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone 
Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 
 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd, Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6AE. 
 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings 
and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most instances 
these are usually: 
 
Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 
Concrete oversite 
Insulation 
Drains (when laid or tested) 
Floor and Roof construction 
Work relating to fire safety 
Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
Completion 
 
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to 
ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 

10. The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is 
deemed to have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain 
condition") that development may not begin unless: 

 
a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
b) the planning authority has approved the plan. 
 
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be 
Stevenage Borough Council.   
 
Based on the information available, this permission is considered to be one which 
will require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun 
because none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements are 
considered to apply. 
Where the local planning authority considers that the permission falls within 
paragraph 19 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the 
permission which has been granted has the effect of requiring or permitting the 
development to proceed in phases. The modifications in respect of the biodiversity 
gain condition which are set out in Part 2 of the Biodiversity Gain (Town and Country 
Planning) (Modifications and Amendments) (England) Regulations 2024 apply. 
 
Biodiversity gain plans are required to be submitted to, and approved by, the 
planning authority before development may be begun, and, if subject to phased 
development, before each phase of development may be begun (Phase Plans). 

Page 11



10 

 
If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the 
Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are 
additional requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans.  The 
Biodiversity Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps taken or 
to be taken to minimise any adverse effect of the development on the habitat, 
information on arrangements for compensation for any impact the development has 
on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat.  
 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the 
adverse effect of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is 
minimised and appropriate arrangements have been made for the purpose of 
compensating for any impact which do not include the use of biodiversity credits. 
 
More information can be found in the Planning Practice Guidance online at  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain.    
 
 
*Recorded Vote  
 
For –  Councillors Julie Ashley-Wren, Stephen Booth, Kamal Choudhury, Forhad 
Chowdhury, Peter Clark, Coleen De Freitas, Claire Parris,  
Carolina Veres and Nigel Williams. 
 
Against – 0 
 
Abstentions – 0 
 
Absent – Councillors Robert Boyle, Akin Elekolusi, Lynda Guy, Ellie Plater and Anne 
Wells  
 

4   25/00194/FP - INDOOR MARKET, MARKET SQUARE  
 

 The Committee received a presentation from the Head of Planning and Enforcement 
on an application for change of use of the existing indoor market to educational 
facilities for North Hertfordshire College (Use Class F1a), together with associated 
internal and external alterations. 
 
It was explained that the proposals included workshops for construction and 
engineering trades, with ventilation equipment and external louvres. The relocation 
of the indoor market to Boston House was noted. 
 
The Chair invited Jill Borcherds (Cycling UK) to address the Committee. Ms 
Borcherds raised concerns regarding the loss of secure public cycle parking within 
the market, insufficient cycle spaces for students, and poor cycle access routes due 
to prohibitions through the town centre. She argued that the proposals risked 
encouraging unsafe cycling behaviour. 
 
The Chair then invited Mr. Richard Grenfell, representing the applicant North 
Hertfordshire College, to address the Committee. Mr Grenfell emphasised the urgent 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain


11 

need to relocate the College’s construction and engineering curriculum to a viable 
site, highlighting benefits to local skills provision. He noted that cycle parking was 
incorporated internally and that the site was highly accessible by public transport. 
 
Members commented that proposed cycle provision remained inadequate. Officers 
confirmed that additional details could be secured by condition requiring further 
information on cycle storage prior to occupation. 
 
A Member also raised queries regarding existing disabled parking bays, and Officers 
confirmed these would remain unaffected as they fell outside the red line boundary. 
 
A motion was moved by Councillor Booth to add an additional condition requiring 
further details of secure cycle parking provision to be submitted and approved prior 
to occupation. The motion was seconded by Councillor Ashley-Wren. 
 
The Committee then voted on the Officer’s recommendation, subject to the inclusion 
of this additional condition the final wording of which to be agreed between the 
Assistant Director (Planning & Regulatory) and the Chair. 
 
A recorded vote* was taken on the application and it was RESOLVED that planning 
permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions and informatives: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

 8935_P001; 8935_P002; 8935_P003; 8935_P004; 8935_P005; 
 8935_P006; 8935_P101; 8935_P201; 8935_P301; 8935_P302; 
 8935_P401;  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

 
3. The use hereby permitted shall be carried on only by North Hertfordshire 

College. When the premises cease to be occupied by North Hertfordshire 
College, the use hereby permitted shall cease. 

 
4. At least 3 months prior to the first occupation of the approved development, a 

detailed Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highways Authority. 
The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the 
timetable and target contained therein and shall continue to be implemented 
as long as any part of the development is occupied subject to approved 
modifications agreed by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authority as part of the annual review. 

 
5. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no 

demolition or construction activities audible at the site boundary shall be 
carried out except between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday and 
08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays. For the avoidance of doubt, no such work shall 
be carried out on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 

Page 13



12 

6. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted details of secure 
cycle parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The secure cycle parking scheme shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
development. The secure cycle parking shall be maintained and remain in 
perpetuity during the lifetime of the development unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
INFORMATIVE  
 
 1 Public Information on Planning Applications 
Warning: all information provided on your planning application is now publicly 
available. Individuals and organisations offering their services may contact you. The 
Council does not endorse or approve any builders, surveyors, trades persons or 
other supplier, and advises householders to obtain quotes/references, and check the 
legitimacy of any contractor who contacts them before making payment. 
 
 2 Community Infrastructure Levy 
Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing 
CIL on 01 April 2020.  
  
This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the 
CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even 
if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a 
requirement under Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 (as amended) that CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, 
returned and acknowledged by Stevenage Borough Council before building works 
start. Failure to do so will mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments 
and a surcharge will be imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is 
not required for residential extensions if relief has been granted.  
  
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found 
on the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the 
Council's CIL Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 
 
 3 Building Regulations 
To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or 
phoning us on 01438 879990. 
  
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal 
at https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made online or by 
phoning the above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone 
Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 
  
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd, Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6AE. 
  
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings 

Page 14



13 

and fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their 
acknowledgement letter of the work stages we need to inspect but in most instances 
these are usually: 
  
         Excavation for foundations 
         Damp proof course 
         Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
         Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
         Completion 
  
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to 
ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 
 4 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 
Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a 
neighbouring building, may be controllable under the Act and may require approval 
from the adjoining owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil matters and it is 
neither Stevenage Borough Council's nor Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd's remit 
to control or enforce Party Wall act matters.  Please refer to the Government's 
explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. Act 1996, a copy of which is available online 
at  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-
explanatory-booklet   
 
 5 Biodiversity Net Gain 
Applications where Biodiversity Net Gain is not required as development is 
considered De Minimis  
  
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is 
deemed to have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain 
condition") that development may not begin unless: 
 a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, 
and 
 b) the planning authority has approved the plan. 
  
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be 
Stevenage Borough Council.   
  
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not apply. 
  
Based on the information available this permission is considered to be one which will 
not require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun 
because the following statutory exemption or transitional arrangement is considered 

Page 15



14 

to apply. 
  
 1. Development below the de minimis threshold, meaning development 
which: 
 a) does not impact an onsite priority habitat (a habitat specified in a list 
published under section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006); and 
 b) impacts less than 25 square metres of onsite habitat that has 
biodiversity value greater than zero and less than 5 metres in length of onsite linear 
habitat (as defined in the statutory metric). 
  
Where the local planning authority considers that the permission falls within 
paragraph 19 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the 
permission which has been granted has the effect of requiring or permitting the 
development to proceed in phases. The modifications in respect of the biodiversity 
gain condition which are set out in Part 2 of the Biodiversity Gain (Town and Country 
Planning) (Modifications and Amendments) (England) Regulations 2024 apply. 
  
Biodiversity gain plans are required to be submitted to, and approved by, the 
planning authority before development may be begun, and, if subject to phased 
development, before each phase of development may be begun. 
  
If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the 
Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are 
additional requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans.  The 
Biodiversity Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps taken or 
to be taken to minimise any adverse effect of the development on the habitat, 
information on arrangements for compensation for any impact the development has 
on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat.  
 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the 
adverse effect of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is 
minimised and appropriate arrangements have been made for the purpose of 
compensating for any impact which do not include the use of biodiversity credits. 
  
More information can be found in the Planning Practice Guidance online at  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain 
 
 6 Hertfordshire County Council: Travel Plans  
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) hold a licence with Modeshift STARS, a travel 
plan accreditation platform (DfT approved). Modeshift STARS offers a platform to 
build a travel plan and manage it, awarding developments for their efforts to 
encourage sustainable modes of travel. Prior to occupation, the travel plan 
coordinator should attend a meeting with an HCC officer for an introduction and set 
up to the platform. For mor information please contact 
travelplans@hertfordshire.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 

Page 16

mailto:travelplans@hertfordshire.gov.uk


15 

*Recorded Vote  
 
For –  Councillors Julie Ashley-Wren, Stephen Booth, Forhad Chowdhury, 
 Peter Clark, Coleen De Freitas, Claire Parris,  Carolina Veres and  Nigel 
Williams. 
 
Against –  Councillor Kamal Choudhury 
 
Abstentions – 0 
 
Absent –  Councillors Robert Boyle, Akin Elekolusi, Lynda Guy, Ellie Plater  
 and Anne Wells. 
 

5   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 

 The Committee noted the Information Report – Delegated Decisions. 
 

6   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS  
 

 The Committee noted the Information Report – Appeals/Called In Applications. 
 

7   URGENT PART I BUSINESS  
 

 There was no Urgent Part I Business. 
 

8   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 Not required. 
 

9   URGENT PART II BUSINESS  
 

 There was no Urgent Part II Business. 
 

 
 
 
 
CHAIR 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Part I – Release to Press 
 

 

 

 

 

The Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9 September 2025  

Author: Rebecca Elliott  

Lead Officer: Alex Robinson   

Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott   

Application Nos: 25/00413/FPM 

Location: Former Kodak Site, Bessemer Drive, Stevenage. 

Proposal: 

 
 

Erection of 1no. detached industrial building with flexible use classes Eg(iii) 
and B8 uses, and 2no. semi-detached industrial buildings with flexible use 
classes Eg(iii), B2 and B8 uses with ancillary offices (for a total area of 
11,093m2 GIA), and supporting car/cycle parking, landscaping and service 
yards. 

 

Drawing Nos. 24059-HAL-PL003-O; 418.063138.00001_AT_A01; 24059-HAL-PL001-A; 
BEA 25-007-01; 418.063138.00001_AT_A02-REV A; BEA 25-007-02; 
0527-ESS-00-ZZ-DR-E-2100 P1; BEA 25-007-04 P07; BEA 25-007-05 
P02; BEA 25-007-06 P02; 24-029-IANDL-D00 P2; HAL-PL002-A; 24059-
HAL-PL005-A; 24059-HAL-PL006-B; HAL-PL010-C; HAL-PL011-B; HAL-
PL012-C; HAL-PL013; HAL-PL020-C; HAL-PL021-B; HAL-PL022-D; HAL-
PL023-A; BEA 25-007-03 P02. 

Applicant: Mr Tom Hughes, Industrial Property Investment Trust 

Date Valid: 28 May 2025 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 

 
Plan for information purposes only 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



 

 

2 
 

1. SITE DESCRIPTION 

 
1.1 The proposal site makes up part of the former Kodak production factory in the Gunnels 

Wood Employment Area of Stevenage. The south-eastern part of the former factory has 
been redeveloped to provide a Mercedes-Benz dealership but the proposal site, which 
makes up the north-western part, remains devoid of any structures, having been used 
informally for overflow car parking and open storage, and more recently as temporary 
bus parking. The site is currently being used as a HGV training centre, storage and 
temporary car parking area.  

 
1.2 The site is bounded to the north by Bessemer Drive, the west by Caxton Way and the 

east by Gunnels Wood Road. Immediately to the south is the Stevenage Mercedes 
dealership, which the site will share car access off Gunnels Wood Road with. The site 
frontage on to Gunnels Wood Road faces onto the pedestrian/cycleway system that 
stretches along Gunnels Wood Road, with a subway access underneath Gunnels Wood 
Road heading east, centrally to the front of the site. There are vehicular accesses to the 
site off Bessemer Drive and Caxton Way. The perimeter is currently enclosed and 
screened by mature trees and planting.    

 
1.3 The site is subject to the following Stevenage Local Plan (2019) designations:  

• Allocated sites for employment development (South of Bessemer Drive, Gunnels 
Wood) 

• Gunnels Wood Employment Area   

• Gunnels Wood Edge-of-Centre Zone  

• Green Corridor (Structurally Important Routes, Gunnels Wood Road) 

• Non-Residential Parking Accessibility Zone (Zone 2)  

• Groundwater Source Protection Zone (Zones 1 and 2)  

• Flood Zone (Zone 1)  

• There are no trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders on, or within close 
proximity of the site.  

 

2. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 There have been various permissions granted in the past for advertisements, and 
previous uses at the site, but these are not particularly relevant to this planning 
application. 

 
2.2 Reserved Matters application reference 02/00122/RM for the erection of 3 detached 

units and 6 terraced units for B1, B2 and B8 use, with additional access from Bessemer 
Drive, pursuant to outline applications 2/0311/95 and 2/0314/98 was approved on 
20.04.2006. 

 
2.3 Planning permission reference 02/00335/FP for the variation of Condition 1 of planning 

permission reference 2/0279/97/FP for the erection of two 3 storey office buildings and 
storage building with associated car parking was approved on 23.05.2003. 

 
2.4 Planning permission reference 04/00539/FP for a motor dealership for the purpose of 

car sales, service, parts storage, associated offices, parking and landscaping was 
approved on 09.02.2005. 

 

3. THE CURRENT APPLICATION 

3.1 The proposed development seeks full planning permission for the erection of 1no. 
detached industrial building with flexible use classes Eg(iii) and B8 uses, and 2no. semi-
detached industrial buildings with flexible use classes Eg(iii), B2 and B8 uses (for a total 
area of 11,093m2 GIA).  

Page 20



 

 

3 
 

 
3.2 The 11,093 m2 GIA includes ancillary office spaces for each unit. The largest detached 

unit would be located to the southeast of the site, utilising the Gunnels Wood Road 
access point to serve car parking to the front. The service yard, located to the north of 
the building would be served from the Bessemer Drive access. The ancillary office space 
here would be located on the northeastern corner of the building, fronting Gunnels Wood 
Road, giving the development an enhanced active frontage.  

 
3.3 The smaller, semi-detached units would be sited to the rear and west of the site. The 

existing Caxton Road access would be closed off and the building stretching the length 
of the western boundary. Unit 2 to the north of the semi-detached building would have 
ancillary office space on the northeastern corner, and Unit 3 to the southeast corner.  

 
3.4 Unit 1 would have twin pitched roof apex’s with the gable measuring approximately 

15.9m at the ridge, with an eaves height of approximately 13.5m. The front elevation 
would measure approximately 74.5m in length, and the longest side of the building, 
facing the Mercedes dealership and Bessemer Drive would measure approximately 
97.5m. The building would be externally finished with horizontal profiled built-up steel 
cladding in various Tata steel Colorcoat grey colours of Orion, Zeus and Sirius on the 
walls and profiled built-up cladding Tata steel Colorcoat in Goosewing Grey colour on 
the roof.  

 
3.5 Units 2 and 3, which are semi-detached would have a similar appearance with twin 

pitched roof apex’s measuring approximately 12.9m at the ridge and with an eaves 
height of 10.8m. The building would sit perpendicular to Unit 1, stretching along the 
western boundary of the site, with the gable end being on the northern and southern 
sides. The building would be finished in the same external materials.    

 
3.6 The proposal will utilise the existing Gunnels Wood Road and Bessemer Drive vehicular 

accesses to provide two separate parking and servicing areas. The car parking area to 
the front of Unit 1 and facing Gunnels Wood Road would only serve car parking for Unit 
1. The remaining car parking for Units 2 and 3, and all servicing would be accessed via 
Bessemer Drive.  

 
3.7 This application comes before the Planning and Development Committee as the 

development is classified as a major.  
 

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

4.1 Following notification of the application via letter and the erection of a three site notices 
and notification of the application in the local press, the following comments have been 
received. 

 

• Provision of swift boxes should be secured by condition; 

• Clarification over how the access points might impact on the access and 
logistics associated with the neighbouring Mercedes dealership; 

• At all site entrances, priority crossing of the cycle tracks should be updated in 
accordance with LTN1/20 10.5 giving cyclists proceeding along the cycle track 
priority over vehicles entering and exiting the site.  
 

4.2  Please note that the above is a summary of the comments which have been received. A 
verbatim copy of the relevant comments can be found on the Council’s website.  

 
 
 
 

 

Page 21



 

 

4 
 

5. CONSULTATIONS 
 

5.1 Hertfordshire County Council Highways Authority 
 
5.1.1 Since its closure near the turn of the century the former KODAK site has been used for 

various parking areas etc. The site is now the subject to a proposal for three industrial 
units within two buildings, totalling 119,400ft2 (11,092m2) GIA, together with ancillary 
offices, car parking, service areas and soft landscaping. The application seeks to reopen 
the currently stopped up access to Aspect One (which almost immediately forms a 
junction with A1072 (Gunnels Wood Road), retain the Bessemer Drive access and gate 
off the Caxton Way access. 

  
 Sustainable Transport Access 
5.1.2 In line with the Policies of HCC's 4th Local Transport Plan (LTP4, May 2018), particularly 

Policies 1 (the Transport User Hierachy) and 5 (Development Management), it is 
essential given the declared climate emergency that the issue of sustainable access is 
considered first, and the appropriate infrastructure provided to unlock a site sustainably. 

 
 Walking and Cycling Access 
5.1.3 The site is reasonably well located in terms of the sustainable transport network with an 

existing segregated foot and cycle path located on the western side of Gunnels Wood 
Road, which further connects into the greater Stevenage network. Via the walking and 
cycling network, Stevenage rail station is approximately 1.2km (5 minutes) cycle from 
the site. The adopted Stevenage Borough Council (SBC) Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP 2019) identifies improvements along the Gunnels Wood 
Road path. 

 
5.1.4 The proposed access to Aspect One facilitates almost direct access for the proposed 

unit one of the development. The proposals put forward by SLR in the drawing 418-
063138-00001-PD02 Rev A will improve the safety of the access onto Gunnels Wood 
Road. The Bessemer Drive access (and Units 2 and 3) will ultimately be connected by 
the proposals to unlock the Land West of Stevenage residential site (20/00356/FPM). If 
the proposed development comes forward before the Land West of Stevenage 
residential site the applicant should commit to the delivery of the proposals shown in the 
Land West of Stevenage site from (and including) the applicant’s access to the Gunnels 
Wood Road segregated foot and cycle path to complete the unlocking of the proposal 
site. The proposal layout (24059-HAL-PL003 Rev K) must be updated to include these 
proposed junction and cycle improvements before it can be officially approved by HCC 
Highways. 

 
 Bus Access 
5.1.5 Given the location of the proposed development HCC Highways consider the existing 

bus services are of a reasonable standard to facilitate the proposed development. 
 
 Motorised Vehicle Access 
5.1.6 Motorised vehicle access to the site is via the aforementioned junctions on Aspect One 

and Bessemer Drive. Initially HCC Highways had concerns during pre application as to 
the reopening of the Aspect One access which almost immediately adjoins Gunnels 
Wood Road, however with the reduction in car parking and the improvements to the 
junction to improve visibility between pedestrian/ cyclists and vehicles we now find the 
proposal acceptable. The proposed layout should be updated to reflect the layout in the 
SLR Transport Assessment (24059-HAL-PL003 Rev K) before the layout can be fully 
accepted. 

 
 Highway Safety - Personal Injury Collision (PIC) Analysis 
5.1.7 Whilst the Personal Injury Collision (PIC) analysis no serious event that could suggest 

there is a serious problem with the highway network which could be exasperated by the 

Page 22



 

 

5 
 

proposed development, it did identify one slight PIC at the Aspect One/ Gunnels Wood 
Road junction at the cycle way crossover. It is envisaged however, that the proposed 
improvements associated with the application at the Aspect One/ Gunnels Wood Road 
junction may have prevented the event. 

 
5.1.8 The applicant also commissioned a Stage One Road Safety Audit (RSA1) of their access 

proposals which also identified the junction inter-visibility problems at the existing Aspect 
One/Gunnels Wood Road junction due to vegetation and the existing central refuge and 
notes, " The proposed alterations will remove the existing refuge island at the access in 
favour of a pedestrian / cyclist priority raised crossing". HCC Highways agrees with this 
analysis. 

 
 Travel Plan 
5.1.9 Whilst the submitted framework travel plan is acceptable for this stage in the planning 

process before its full acceptance in order to discharge the associated Travel Plan (TP) 
condition further work will be required:  

 
1- A Full Travel Plan (TP) is expected to be submitted to HCC 3-6 month prior to the first 
occupation and NOT within 6 months of the opening of the proposed development. 2- 
TP Coordinator contact details must be provided in the Full TP stage  
3- In the event that the developer sells the property and departs, a comprehensive 
management strategy must be submitted. This strategy should clearly outline who will 
be responsible for implementing and maintaining the TP  
4- HCC requests that a Multi Modal survey occurs annually for 5 years post full 
occupation  
5- The TP Document needs to be reviewed and updated annually  
6- A Steering Group must be in place to rectify any difficulties  
7- Based on the size of each unit they must submit separate TP 3 month prior to the 
occupation.  

 
It should also be noted that a Travel Plan Contribution of £1200 per annum for 5 years 
post full occupation will be secured via S106 legal agreement. 

 
  Parking 

5.1.10 It is noted that parking is to be provided at the site in accordance with the Stevenage 
Borough Council Parking Provision and Sustainable Transport SPD (2020) and car 
parking numbers have been reduced appropriately due to the sustainable location of the 
site. Therefore, HCC Highways consider the numbers proposed within the TA 
appropriate. 

 
 Contributions 
5.1.11 HCC Highways operate two levels of mitigation agreements (Strand 1 and Strand 2). 

Strand 1 mitigation works being works that are directly required to unlock the 
development and solely the responsibility of the development. Strand 2 mitigation works 
being works that address the wider cumulative impact of the development for which the 
development isn’t solely responsible for but does derive benefit from. 

 
5.1.12 In the first instance (Strand 1) HCC would envisage that the agreed site access junctions 

and any potential off-site improvements are delivered through a S278 agreement, and 
the bus and travel plan contributions are contained in a S106 agreement. 

 
5.1.13 In the second instance (Strand 2) HCC calculate an appropriate headline figure based 

on the findings of HCC’s adopted Developers Planning Obligation Toolkit (2021). Strand 
2 contributions should address the cumulative impacts of all development, large and 
small, facilitating delivery and enhancement of the necessary active and sustainable 
transport networks. These local sustainable networks must be provided in their entirety 
to provide the sustainable connections to the key trip generators, as such contributions 

Page 23



 

 

6 
 

will be pooled to fund these networks within the local area subject to any legislative 
restrictions), as supported by National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). This second 
strand contribution is intended to help implement broader transport measures in the 
catchments of new development from which contributions are secured. The need for 
second stand contributions will be balanced against the level of first strand contributions 
and any other relevant planning matters. 

 
5.1.14 A review of the TRICS database (considering sites within England and Wales surveyed 

in the last 10 years (excluding the covid lockdown period) suggested that a site of this 
nature could create approximately 214 jobs. The applicants TA also quotes 214 jobs. 
Therefore, in order to address the cumulative impact of development HCC would 
normally expect a Strand 2 contribution of £90,308. It is considered by HCC Highways 
that the access junction proposals as well as providing appropriate access to the site will 
benefit the wider population to a degree and a Strand 2 contribution of £67,731 (Jan 
2019 index) is appropriate. The Strand 2 the SBC LCWIP 3PP and/or Package 1 
(Stevenage) of the NC GTP - Gunnels Wood and Town Centre and complete the 
sustainable unlocking of the site. 

 
5.2 Hertfordshire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority 
 
5.2.1 This is a re-consultation of a full planning application for erection of industrial buildings 

and associated structures. Currently the site is brownfield using mainly as parking site. 
We maintain the objection to this planning application in the absence of an acceptable 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy or and supporting information 
relating to:  
• The development is at risk of surface water flooding.  
• The proposed SuDS are likely to increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.  
• The development is not in accordance with NPPF, PPG or Stevenage DISCRICT local 
policies including Policy FP2: Flood risk in Flood Zone.  
 
Reason: To prevent flooding in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraphs 181, 182 and 187 by ensuring the satisfactory management of local flood 
risk, surface water flow paths, storage and disposal of surface water from the site in a 
range of rainfall events and ensuring the SuDS proposed operates as designed for the 
lifetime of the development.  
 

5.2.2 We will consider reviewing this objection if the following issues are adequately 
addressed.  

 
1. According to the latest flood map for planning, the entire site is in risk of surface water 

flooding. According to EA directions we should not use the depth map. Hence LLFA 
will rely on the flood extent from the flood map for planning. If flood depths are needed 
additional hydraulic / hydrological modelling needs to be undertaken. We need to 
ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere as part of this development.  

 
2. We have noted that some alterations to the ground level have already been completed 

and the finished floor levels are 150mm above ground level. However, as mentioned 
in the above point, the site is affected by surface water flooding. Details of flood 
resistance and resilience measures for residual risk is needed considering finished 
floor levels for vulnerable parts of the site should be minimum 300mm above the flood 
level.  

 
3. As this is a Full Planning Application, we expect there to be a detailed drainage 

strategy supplied. LLFA needs the following drainage calculation for the site. A 
drainage strategy with supporting drainage calculations including the complete pipe 
network to test the network for flooding using FEH rainfall parameters (either FEH13 
or FEH22) is required. Other parameters to use are the CV value of 1, and the new 

Page 24



 

 

7 
 

allowances of climate change. The rainfall simulations are expected to include 100% 
AEP (1 year), 3.33%AEP (30 year), 3.33%AEP (30 year) with climate change 
allowance, 1% AEP (100 year) and 1% AEP (100 year) with climate change allowance 
events. The drainage calculations must include all the SuDS features such as 
permeable paving and attenuation tanks. The labels in drainage drawings should 
match the labels in the supporting calculations.  

 
4. The new National SuDS Standards detail the need to include multifunctional SuDS 

with water quality, biodiversity and amenity benefits. Above ground SuDS should be 
explored within the site boundary but also consider that there is water flowing on site 
from off site. This water would have an unknown water quality, runoff rate and volume. 
The drainage strategy must include how there is a benefit from the new drainage 
scheme from the existing flood risk.  

 
5. We acknowledge the details given in the Intrusive Geoenvironmental and 

Geotechnical Site Assessment report. However, LLFA would require the details of an 
infiltration testing (BRE 365 or similar) to confirm the infiltration is viable or not. 
Infiltration testing cannot be conditioned unless an alternative drainage (Plan B) 
strategy is provided. For the avoidance of doubt, if the infiltration test is to be 
conditioned, two full drainage strategies are required. A) With infiltration assumed to 
work with the worst-case infiltration rate (1X10-6 m/s), B) The alternative strategy 
connecting to a watercourse / surface water sewer. 

 
Officer response 

5.2.3 At the time of writing this report, the applicant was seeking to address the points raised 
by the LLFA. If updated comments are received prior to the meeting and/or the drainage 
strategy is agreed an update will be provided, otherwise it is anticipated Members will 
agree to delegate powers being granted to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Regulation to impose any conditions advised on any response provided after the 
committee meeting. However, it should be noted the LLFA does not object to the 
principle of the drainage strategy. 

 
5.2.4 A decision will not be issued until the Legal Agreement associated with the development 

has been signed, which will allow time for updated comments to be received. Therefore, 
comments will be fully considered prior to a decision being issued. However, if the LLFA 
continues to raise an objection to this application and their concerns cannot be 
overcome, then this application will be referred back to the Planning and Development 
Committee for its decision. 

 
5.3 Environmental Health 
  

Construction phase (noise, dust, smoke, etc.)  
5.3.1 The proposed development will entail a significant period of construction and there is a 

clear potential for an adverse impact on local amenity/health due to 
demolition/construction noise, dust, fumes, etc. However, I believe that these impacts 
can be adequately mitigated by appropriate physical and managerial controls and 
therefore I recommend the following condition:  

 
1(a) Prior to the commencement of the development to which this permission relates 
(including any demolition or site clearance), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan 
shall include details of:  

• hours of working (including deliveries and waste removal);  

• all plant necessary for construction and demolition;  

• noise and vibration mitigation measures with particular attention paid to piling, 
power floating, and vacuum excavation activities where these activities are to be 
undertaken;  

Page 25



 

 

8 
 

• dust and smoke mitigation measures;  

• site lighting and off-site mitigation measures;  
1(b) The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP 
at all times.  
REASON: In the interests of local amenity in accordance with Local Plan Policy FP7  

 
5.3.2 The above CMP should incorporate the mitigation measures set out in paragraph 7.1 of 

the Air Quality Assessment report prepared by Hoare Lea LLP (Project no. 34/22576, 
Rev. 01, dated 10/04/2025).  

 
Construction phase (contaminated land)  

5.3.3 I have reviewed the Intrusive Geoenvironmental and Geotechnical Site Assessment 
report authored by TRC Companies (Project No. 590554.0000.0000, Rev. 1, dated 
23/09/2024) and I believe that it meets the definition of a Preliminary Risk Assessment 
(PRA) as required by Planning Policy FP5. The report concludes that the site represents 
a relatively modest risk in the context of its proposed end users; however, a number of 
mitigation measures are proposed in paragraph 12.3.4 as well as more investigation 
works for part of the site. Accordingly, I recommend the following conditions:  

 
Prior to the commencement of the development to which this permission relates 
(excluding site clearance and demolition), the results of a phase 2 site investigation and 
full written details of any necessary remediation works or controls shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall then be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
REASON: In the interests of human health.  

 
In the event that any previously unidentified ground contamination is discovered on the 
site, no further construction work may be carried out in the affected area until full written 
details of any necessary remediation works or controls has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall then be 
carried out in accordance with the approved remediation strategy.  
REASON: In the interests of human health.  

 
Where any development to which this permission relates is required to be carried out in 
accordance with a remediation scheme approved by the local planning authority, a 
verification report (setting out the remedial measures actually undertaken on the site) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the 
beneficial occupation of the development.  
REASON: In the interests of human health.  

 
5.3.4 Contamination of controlled waters is usually a matter for the Environment Agency and 

so I would encourage the Local Planning Authority to consult that body, if it hasn’t done 
so already, seeking guidance on the likely impacts of the proposed development on that 
receptor.  

 
Operation of site (external lighting)  

5.3.5 The External Lighting Report by Engineering Services Consultancy Limited (reference 
0527/ESS/00/ZZ/RP/Z/0016, dated 27/2/2025) makes reference to an appropriate 
guidance document (The Institute of Lighting Professionals: Guidance Note 01/21 for 
the Reduction of Obtrusive Light 2021) and concludes that the development site falls 
within Environmental Zone E3. I believe this is reasonable given the circumstances.  

 
5.3.6 Whilst the nearby existing land uses are generally not particularly light-sensitive, I would 

nonetheless suggest the condition over page so that the controls set out in the above 
report are implemented in practice.  

 

Page 26



 

 

9 
 

1(a) The development hereby permitted shall not come into operational use until a 
verification report containing evidence of compliance with the maximum off-site artificial 
lighting levels and temporal controls as set out in External Lighting Report by 
Engineering Services Consultancy Limited (reference 0527/ESS/00/ZZ/RP/Z/0016, 
dated 27/2/2025) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  
1(b) The luminaires and associated lighting equipment authorised by 1(a) above shall 
thereafter be retained, operated, and maintained in accordance with the above report 
and manufacturers’ specifications.  
REASON: In the interests of the amenities of nearby existing land users in accordance 
with Local Plan Policy FP7  

 
Operation of site (local air quality)  

5.3.7 The Air Quality Assessment report prepared by Hoare Lea LLP (Project no. 34/22576, 
Rev. 01, dated 10/04/2025) concludes that the impact of site activity will have an 
insignificant overall influence on local air quality and will not result in an exceedance of 
any national air quality objective. Accordingly, I agree that no mitigation measures are 
required concerning this aspect of the proposed development.  

 
5.3.8 The report also includes recommendations regarding the construction phase of the 

development and so I suggest that they are incorporated within a wider Construction 
Management Plan (CMP) as discussed above.  

 
Operation of site (noise)  

5.3.9 The Noise Impact Assessment report, also prepared by Hoare Lea LLP, (Project no. 10-
16004, Rev. 01, dated 30/04/2025) concludes that noise from plant, vehicles, and break 
out from the proposed structures will not have a material impact on the amenity of nearby 
domestic occupiers. This conclusion is based on a considerable number of assumptions, 
unpublished noise source data (which is therefore not capable of independent 
verification), and a baseline background noise survey with results that appear to include 
typographical errors (e.g. Table 2, I believe, should read ‘Attended’ rather than 
‘Unattended’ and Table 3 appears to mix up day-time and night-time background levels).  

 
5.3.10 Notwithstanding, I do believe that this proposed development need not cause significant 

harm to the amenity currently enjoyed by existing domestic occupiers but basic 
safeguards are warranted, in my opinion. Accordingly, I recommend the following 
condition:  
1(a) The development hereby permitted shall not come into operational use until a 
verification report containing evidence that noise levels do not exceed those set out in 
Table 3, Table 4, Table 5, Table 6, and Table 7 of the Noise Impact Assessment report 
by Hoare Lea Acoustics LLP (10-16004, Rev. 01, dated 30/04/2025) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
1(b) All external plant shall thereafter be retained, operated, and maintained in 
accordance with manufacturers’ specifications.  
REASON: In the interests of the amenities of nearby existing residential occupiers in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy FP7  

 
5.3.11 The report makes no reference to nearby non-domestic land uses and their expectations 

regarding the local noise climate and so I would invite the LPA to consider what level of 
protection, if any, should be afforded to them as the applicant does not propose any.  

 
5.3.12 Finally, I would be grateful for the inclusion of the following Informative:  

The applicant is advised of the Council’s powers under Part III of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 to probit nuisances arising from noise, artificial light, and a range of 
other pollutants that may arise from commercial premises. 

 
 

Page 27



 

 

10 
 

5.4 Planning Policy 
 
5.4.1 No comments received at time of drafting report. 
 
5.5 Police Crime Prevention Officer 
 
5.5.1 I have been working with the project team on this and as such have no concerns. The 

Police will support this development. 
 
5.6 Thames Water 
 
 Waste Comments 
5.6.1 We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will be undertaken to 

minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Groundwater discharges 
typically result from construction site dewatering, deep excavations, basement 
infiltration, borehole installation, testing and site remediation. Any discharge made 
without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of 
the Water Industry Act 1991. Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to approve 
the planning application, Thames Water would like the following informative attached to 
the planning permission:  

 
A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 
discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is 
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries 
should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 3577 
9483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk . Application forms should be 
completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk. Please refer to the Wholesale; Business 
customers; Groundwater discharges section. 

 
5.6.2 The proposed development is located within 15 metres of our underground waste water 

assets and as such we would like the following informative attached to any approval 
granted.  

 
The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Waters underground 
assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate 
measures are not taken. Please read our guide ‘working near our assets’ to ensure your 
workings are in line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you’re considering 
working above or near our pipes or other structures. 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planningyour-
development/working-near-our-pipes Should you require further information please 
contact Thames Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 
009 3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to 5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, 
Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB 

 
5.6.3 Thames Water would advise that with regard to FOUL WATER sewerage network 

infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning 
application, based on the information provided.  

 
5.6.4 Thames Water would advise that with regard to SURFACE WATER network 

infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning 
application, based on the information provided. 

 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

11 
 

 Water Comments 
5.6.5 With regard to water supply, this comes within the area covered by the Affinity Water 

Company. For your information the address to write to is - Affinity Water Company The 
Hub, Tamblin Way, Hatfield, Herts, AL10 9EZ - Tel - 0845 782 3333. 

 
5.7 Affinity Water 
 
5.7.1 No comments received at time of drafting report. 
 
5.8 Stevenage Borough Council Waste Storage 
 
5.8.1 No comments received at time of drafting report. 
 
5.9 Hertfordshire County Council Minerals and Waste Authority 
  
 Waste 
5.9.1 The supporting documents to this application make no reference to the adopted Waste 

Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD (2012). Many of the policy 
requirements can be met through the imposition of planning conditions. 

 
 Site Waste Management Plan 
5.9.2 Waste Policy 12: Sustainable Design, Construction and Demolition requires all relevant 

construction projects to be supported by a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP). Page 
23 of the Sustainability Statement notes that a SWMP will be implemented to manage 
construction waste effectively. The county council welcomes this commitment. 

 
5.9.3 The Waste Planning Authority would expect to see a SWMP prepared to support this 

application. The SWMP must be prepared and agreed in consultation with the Waste 
Planning Authority prior to commencement of the project. The SWMP must be 
implemented throughout the duration of the project, from initial site preparation works to 
final completion of the construction phase. 

 
5.9.4 By preparing a SWMP prior to commencement, early decisions can be made relating to 

the management of waste arisings and building supplies made from recycled and 
secondary materials can be sourced, to help alleviate the demand for primary materials 
such as virgin sand and gravel. Early planning for waste arisings will help to establish 
what types of containers/skips are required for the project and when segregation would 
be best implemented for various waste streams. It will also help in determining the costs 
of removing waste from the site. 

 
5.9.5 As a SWMP has not been produced at the planning application stage, the Waste 

Planning Authority request the following pre-commencement condition be attached to 
any approved planning application:  

 
No development shall take place until a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) for the 
site has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority and approved in consultation 
with the Waste Planning Authority. The SWMP should aim to reduce the amount of waste 
produced on site and should contain information including estimated types and 
quantities of waste to arise from construction and waste management actions for each 
waste type. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
SWMP.  
Reason: To promote the sustainable management of waste arisings and contribution 
towards resource efficiency, in accordance with Policy 12 of the Hertfordshire Waste 
Core Strategy and Development Management Policies Development Plan Document 
(2012). 

 
 

Page 29



 

 

12 
 

 Safeguarded Waste Management Site 
5.9.6 The Borough Council should also be aware of the nearby Waste Management Site, 

Recycling Centre Stevenage (Caxton Way), which is located less than 250m away from 
the development proposal. The Waste Management Site is safeguarded under Policy 5 
of the adopted Waste Core Strategy and Development Management Policies document 
due to its important contribution to the strategic network of waste management provision 
in the county. 

 
5.9.7 Adopted Policy 5: Safeguarding of Sites, states that the Waste Planning Authority will 

oppose development proposals which are likely to prevent or prejudice the use of land 
identified or safeguarded for waste management purposes unless alternative or 
enhanced provision is made for a facility dealing with the equivalent waste capacity or 
where it can be demonstrated that the need for those facilities can no longer be justified. 

 
5.9.8 The relationship between any proposed development alongside a safeguarded waste 

facility needs to be considered carefully to ensure that the operation of the existing waste 
facility is not jeopardised by a conflict between differing land uses. The ‘Agent of Change’ 
principle (NPPF Dec 2024, paragraph 200) is clear that planning decisions on new 
developments should ensure integration with existing business such that they do not 
have unreasonable restrictions placed upon them. 

 
5.9.9 After reviewing the details submitted with the application, the Waste Planning Authority 

does not consider that the proposal will prevent or prejudice the waste management site 
and therefore has no safeguarding concerns. The borough council would need to satisfy 
itself that the design of the proposed industrial building has taken into account the need 
to mitigate any negative impacts (such as noise, dust and odour) arising from the 
proximity to the existing recycling centre facility. 

 
5.10 Stevenage Borough Council Tree Manager 
 
5.10.1 In principle, I do not have any objection to the proposed development from an 

Arboriculture viewpoint. My only concern with this proposal is the number of trees to be 
replanted. The tree survey proposes that 7 trees, 4 groups and 2 partial groups are 
removed and a total of 11 new trees being planted (replaced). 

 
5.10.2 Our Amenity Tree Management Policy dictates that any tree removed for the purpose of 

development should be replaced with 3 new trees. So far, the replacement proposal ratio 
for this application appears to be just under 1:1. If we were to consider, as a minimum, 
the 7 trees, 4 groups and 2 partial groups as being 13 trees altogether, we would be 
looking to see a total of 3x13=39 new standard trees replanted. 

 
5.10.3 It is possible that the 39 trees may not fit well within the proposed development, in which 

case, I would welcome the opportunity for the developer to fund the planting and 
establishment of the remaining (39-11=28 trees) on publicly maintained land, in the 
nearby area.  

 
5.11 Hertfordshire County Council Ecology 
 
 Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
5.11.1 Given that this application was received and validated after the 12th of February 2024, 

mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is expected as a planning requirement. A BNG 
assessment has been submitted to the LPA and is accompanied by a statutory 
biodiversity metric, in line with planning requirements.  

 
5.11.2 A Biodiversity Net Gain has been calculated, showing a net gain of +55.93% in 

hedgerow units and a net loss of -50.27% in habitat units. This falls short of the legal 

Page 30



 

 

13 
 

requirement for a 10% net gain in biodiversity. Off-site BNG has therefore been 
suggested within the BNG assessment. 

 
5.11.3 The application is automatically subject to the general Biodiversity Gain Plan (BGP) 

condition, which requires the delivery of a Biodiversity Gain Plan. It is recommended 
that the plan provided is in line with the DEFRA Biodiversity Gain Plan template. This 
condition should be kept separate to the list of conditions imposed in the written notice 
if the LPA are minded to grant permission. 

 
5.11.4 Whilst the BGP condition is a post determination matter, the present information shows 

a net gain below the legal minimum requirement and a lack of any existing identified off-
site location. In line with government guidance, it would generally be inappropriate for 
concerns about the ability to discharge the condition to be used as a reason to refuse 
an application. However, the applicant should be made aware the BGP condition is a 
pre-commencement condition and that if the applicant chooses not to address these 
matters prior to determination they will need to do so at the post determination stage. 

 
5.11.5 At the Biodiversity Gain Plan stage, an updated metric will need to be submitted showing 

how a net gain can be delivered using an off-site location, with the provision of the 
Biodiversity Gain Site Register reference number for that site. We advise in line with the 
principles of the use of the metric, that any off-site location should be sought in the 
first instance local to the impact. As a last resort, if an off-site location cannot be 
found, Biodiversity Credits would need to be purchased. In this latter case, the 
applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the LPA that all other options have 
been fully explored and that the BNG hierarchy has been followed. 

 
5.11.6 The LPA are required to secure any off-site net gain via legal agreement whether 

through an S106 agreement or conservation covenant. Any off-site land used for the 
purpose of achieving biodiversity units must be registered on the biodiversity gain sites 
register. 

 
5.11.7 The claims for BNG on-site would be considered significant net gain. In this instance, 

the LPA are advised to secure this significant net gain for the respective units via 
legal agreement, whether through an S106 agreement or conservation covenant. 
We advise that a Habitat Monitoring and Management Plan (HMMP) should be 
secured as part of the legal agreement. This shall demonstrate how the habitat 
enhancement and creation on-site, and subsequent target habitat conditions will be 
created, enhanced, and monitored over 30 years following the completion of the capital 
works required to create them. It is recommended that the HMMP should be in line with 
the HMMP template produced by DEFRA. Considerations should also be given within 
any legal agreement to secure resources to allow adequate monitoring over the 30-year 
period. 

 
Protected Species 

5.11.8 The Ecological Appraisal listed above assessed the site for potential in supporting 
protected species. We advise that the proposals are unlikely to have any significant 
ecological impacts, therefore the application can be determined accordingly. However, 
in the unlikely event that protected species are found, we advise a precautionary 
approach to the works is taken and recommend an informative is added to any 
permission granted: 

 
Species Enhancement Plan 

5.11.9 We support the Ecological Enhancement Strategy detailed within the Bird Box Location 
plan listed above and advise that the recommendations for bat boxes within Sections 
4.23 and 4.24 of the Ecological Appraisal should be included within this and together 
detailed within a Species Enhancement Plan secured by condition.  

 

Page 31



 

 

14 
 

5.12 Stevenage Borough Council Business Relationship Manager 
 

5.12.1 I am fully supportive of the application, as it meets several key economic growth aims 
for Stevenage. Firstly, the development will go towards safeguarding existing 
employment land that is designated in the Local Plan. The site has remained 
undeveloped for several years, with space utilised for secondary uses including storage 
provision for businesses, rather than meeting the wider growth ambitions of local 
businesses. As construction activity finally takes place on site, this will support increased 
business confidence in the area and act as an enabler to attract further investment into 
the area to support local supply chains and create further conditions to support 
Stevenage’s existing enterprising and innovative economy.  
 

5.12.2 The development will directly support the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 key 
economic objective to help “to help build a strong, responsive, and competitive economy, 
by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at 
the right time to support growth, innovation, and improved productivity,” by bringing 
forward additional employment accommodation to help create positive conditions in 
which businesses can invest, expand, and adapt.  
 

5.12.3 It will go towards unlocking existing infrastructure to introduce and deliver much need 
quality industrial accommodation to support the growth aspirations of businesses both 
in Stevenage and Hertfordshire. The availability of industrial land for businesses with 
ambitious growth targets is an ongoing issue for many businesses in Stevenage and 
Hertfordshire and the availability of space will be very much welcomed locally and by 
those who are looking to invest in Stevenage to meet their growth targets.  
 

5.12.4 The development is situated in Gunnels Wood, a key employment gateway in Stevenage 
and will provide employment space for the town’s key employment sectors supporting 
both the increase in productivity and economic outputs. The development supports the 
interconnectedness of Stevenage and will assist it to make the most of its connectivity 
to London, Cambridge and Oxford and play to its sector strengths to leverage further 
investment into the area.  
 

5.12.5 The development will support much needed employment accommodation to support 
Stevenage’s and Hertfordshire’s global brands and sectors of significance, including its 
burgeoning life sciences and advanced manufacturing sectors. The site can potentially 
support their growth ambitions and bring additional employment opportunities into the 
town. It will also help towards meeting the areas wider growth ambitions to support 
additional jobs for its growing population and complete the major regeneration activities 
which are transforming the town.  
 

5.12.6 The development will also support Stevenage’s ambitions of becoming a better place to 
live, work and play, adding support superb accommodation to the existing portfolio of 
quality space to attracting further investment. Therefore, continuing to promote 
Stevenage as a business destination and raising its profile both nationally and globally. 
The development will also support business growth and retention of local businesses, 
by strengthening local supply chain opportunities for potential services and products to 
be targeted at future investors to the site.  
 

5.12.7 With additional homes being built across Stevenage, the development supports a 
sustainable location in supporting local people with local employment opportunities and 
reducing the overall levels of net commuting. Therefore, enabling the town to meet its 
climate Change Strategy aims and ambitions and reducing its overall carbon footprint. 
The development also helps to support the growth of Stevenage’s workforce by enabling 
the growth of the area’s current skills base, providing security of future jobs and 
importantly act as a conduit to create additional job opportunities for people, decreasing 
levels of economic inactivity and raising local aspirations.  

Page 32



 

 

15 
 

 
5.12.8 The development will create a range of job opportunities, firstly through the construction 

stage and then followed by the additional industrial accommodation itself. Those working 
at the site will also access local services and offerings through the town’s retail, leisure 
and hospitality provision and therefore benefitting the wider local economy. 

 
5.13  Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue (Hydrants) 

 
5.13.1 No comments received at the time of drafting this report.  

 

6 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 

6.1 National Planning Policy Framework 
 

6.1.1 The latest revision of the NPPF was published in December 2024. The policies it 
contains are material considerations which will be taken into account in dealing with 
applications. Due weight will be given to development plan policies according to their 
degree of consistency with the NPPF. 

 
6.1.2 The NPPF provides that proposals which accord with an up-to-date development plan 

should be approved without delay (para.11) and that where a planning application 
conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, permission should not usually be granted 
(para.12). This indicates the weight which should be given to an up-to-date development 
plan, reflecting the requirements of section 38(6) of the 2004 Act. 

 
6.2 Planning Practice Guidance 

 
6.2.1 The Planning Practice Guidance (“PPG”) is an online resource containing guidance 

supplementing the NPPF. The PPG is a material consideration which should be taken 
into account in determining planning applications. 

 
6.3 National Design Guide 

 
6.3.1 The National Design Guide 2019 is Government guidance on the characteristics of 

well-designed places and demonstrates what good design means in practice. It has the 
same status as the PPG and should similarly be taken into account when determining 
planning applications. 
 

6.4 The Development Plan 
 

6.4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
planning applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage, the development plan 
comprises the following documents: 

 

• Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 

• Waste Core Strategy & Development Management Policies DPD 2011-2026 

• Waste Site Allocations DPD 2011-2026 

• Minerals Local Plan Review 2002-2016 
 

6.4.2 The Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 was adopted in 2019. The council 
concluded a full review of the plan in 2024, as required by regulation 10A of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 
 

6.4.3 In response to the review, the council has completed a partial update of the local plan 
and this is now with the Secretary of State for assessment. Weight will be given to 
emerging policies according to: 

Page 33



 

 

16 
 

 
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to the policies; and 
c) the degree of consistency between the policies and the most recent revision of the 

NPPF. 
 

6.4.4 In determining applications, regard will be had to other material considerations, including 
(but not limited to): 

 

• The Planning Practice Guidance; 

• The National Design Guide; 

• Written ministerial statements and directions; 

• Guidance published by Hertfordshire County Council; 

• Stevenage Borough Council supplementary planning documents. 
 

6.4.5 Where there are emerging policies which are relevant to the application, these will be 
highlighted in the main body of this report.  The policies set out below are most relevant 
in the determination of this application: 

 
Policy SP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy SP2: Sustainable development in Stevenage 
Policy SP3: A strong, competitive economy 
Policy SP5: Infrastructure 
Policy SP6: Sustainable transport 
Policy SP8: Good design 
Policy SP11: Climate change, flooding and pollution 
Policy EC1/2: Allocated sites for employment development 
Policy EC2a: Gunnels Wood Employment Area 
Policy EC2b: Gunnels Wood Edge-of-Centre Zone 
Policy EC5: Active frontages and gateways 
Policy IT4: Transport assessment and travel plans 
Policy IT5: Parking and access 
Policy IT6: Sustainable transport 
Policy IT7: New and improved links for pedestrians and cyclists 
Policy GD1: High quality design 
Policy FP1: Climate change 
Policy FP2: Flood risk in Flood Zone 1 
Policy FP5: Contaminated land 
Policy FP7: Pollution 
Policy NH3/22: Green Corridors 
Policy NH5: Trees and Woodland 

 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
6.5.1 The following supplementary planning documents are relevant to determining the 

application: 
 
Parking Provision SPD (2025) 
Stevenage Design Guide SPD (2025) 
Developer Contributions SPD (2025) 

 
6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 

 
6.6.1 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 

Schedule in 2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects 
based on the type, location and floorspace of a development. This proposal would be 
CIL liable at £0/m².  

Page 34



 

 

17 
 

 

7 APPRAISAL 
 

7.1.1 The main issues for consideration in the determination of this application are its 
acceptability in land use policy terms, design and appearance, flood risk and drainage, 
climate change mitigation, amenity, noise, highway impact, access and parking, trees, 
biodiversity and landscaping and planning obligations to mitigate the impact of the 
development. 

 
7.1.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that all 

planning applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
7.2 Land Use Considerations  
 
7.2.1 The site is allocated within the Local Plan (2019) as part of the Gunnels Wood Road 

employment area. Policy EC1 allocates sites within the Borough for employment 
development where typically uses B1(b) research and development (now E(g)(ii)), B1(c) 
light industry (now E(g)(iii)), B2 general industry and B8 storage and distribution are 
acceptable. The proposal site, referred to as “South of Bessemer Drive, Gunnels Wood” 
is allocated under reference EC1/2 for B1(a) and B1(b) development, with a target floor 
space provision of 12,000m2. 
 

7.2.2 Policy EC2a defines the spatial extent of the Gunnels Wood Employment Area. The 
proposal site falls wholly within this area. The north-eastern part of the proposal site lies 
within the Gunnels Wood Edge-of-Centre Zone. Policy EC2b states that within this area, 
planning permission will be granted for offices and research and development, where 
schemes interact positively with the “Stevenage Central” area and make efficient use of 
sites in terms of floor space and job provision. Planning permission will only be granted 
as an exception to these criteria where the proposed development is ancillary to B1(a) 
or B1(b) uses or essential to the continued operation of an established B class use.  
 

7.2.3 Taking all of the above into account, the only acceptable uses on the site in land use 
policy terms based on the currently adopted Local Plan are offices (formerly B1(a), now 
E(g)(i)) and research and development (formerly B1(b), now E(g)(ii)). The proposal, 
which would provide general industry (B2), storage and distribution (B8) and light 
industry (E(g)(iii)) uses, is directly contrary to these policies. 
 

7.2.4 The council has recently carried out a partial review and update of the Local Plan. This 
has gone through the necessary public consultation under Regulations 18 and 19 and 
was submitted to the Secretary of State on Friday 15 August 2025 for full assessment.  
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF 2024 states that local planning authorities may give weight 
to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: 

a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its preparation, 
the greater the weight that may be given); 

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); 
and  

c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this 
Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given). 
 

7.2.5 As part of the Local Plan review and update the site is proposed to have its designation 
amended to allow for E(g)(ii), E(g)(iii) and B8 with a target floorspace provision of 12,000 
sqm. Following consultation on the review and update of the plan, there were no 
objections received from statutory consultees to the policy designation change for this 
site.  

Page 35



 

 

18 
 

 
7.2.6 Further, the proposed loss of office space on the site reflects the rationalisation of office 

space across Stevenage, as recognised within the Employment Technical Paper (2024) 
(Appendix 2) which supports the Local Plan review (Source: 
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/local-plan-partial-review-
files-august-2025/ed3-employment-technical-paper-2024.pdf). The same document 
also recognises the greater need for the proposed uses and a deficit of 9.81ha of 
employment land supply across Stevenage. As such, bringing into full use largely vacant 
sites such as the application site is critical to ensuring full economic use of employment 
land available across Stevenage. 

 
7.2.7 Based on the above it is officer’s opinion that the proposals can be supported with 

significant weight being applied to the Local Plan update in line with the NPPF. 
Furthermore, the proposals would see the development of an existing undeveloped site 
with much needed and high-quality flexible use warehousing and industrial uses in an 
acceptable employment location in the Borough.  

 
7.2.8 The Written Ministerial Statement from the 30 July 2024 is capable of being considered 

as a material planning consideration (see Cala Homes (South) Ltd, R (on the application 
of) v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government & Anor [2011] EWCA 
Civ 639 (27 May 2011) (bailii.org)). The statement recognises that logistics and freight 
are part of the nation’s critical infrastructure and more will be done to support this sector 
as part of the engine of the economy. As such, this also highlights there is a need 
nationally for such developments as to what has been proposed for this application site.  
 

7.2.9 Turning now Policy EC5 of the plan, this seeks active frontages and gateways on certain 
roads within the Gunnels Wood Employment Area, including Gunnels Wood Road and 
Bessemer Drive. The policy states that planning permission for the (re-)development of 
sites with a frontage along one or more of these roads will be granted where: 
 
a. Proposals face directly onto the identified road(s) and provide active frontages and 

natural surveillance; 
b. Buildings are not set back significantly from the identified road(s); 
c. Car parking and service areas are located away from the street frontage of the 

identified road(s); and 
d. On corner plots, where these roads intersect, schemes incorporate landmark 

architecture and gateway features wherever this would be compatible with the 
proposed use(s). 

 
7.2.10 The proposals would see Unit 1 as the largest building of the two facing on to Gunnels 

Wood Road with active ancillary office space and natural surveillance across the 
frontage. Surveillance on to Bessemer Drive would be provided, and the glazed office 
spaces of units 1 and 2 would partially face on to this secondary road.  
 

7.2.11 There would be reasonable set back of Unit 1 from Bessemer Drive, simply because of 
the siting of the service yard and turning spaces for HGVs. The layout has largely been 
influenced by an existing right of way for the Mercedes dealership leading from the 
Bessemer Drive entrance running straight southwest to an existing deliveries gate on 
the northwest boundary of the Mercedes site. Therefore, whilst the set-back and 
servicing yard location does not fully accord with criteria b and c above, on balance the 
scheme would see the site come forward for re-development with high quality 
warehousing and industry which is much needed.  

 
7.2.12 Taking the above assessment into consideration, it is considered that on balance, the 

proposed development for uses E(g)(iii) Industrial Processes, B2 General Industry and 
B8 Storage or Distribution are considered to be acceptable in principle subject to 
satisfying other material planning considerations. 

Page 36

https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/local-plan-partial-review-files-august-2025/ed3-employment-technical-paper-2024.pdf
https://www.stevenage.gov.uk/documents/planning-policy/local-plan-partial-review-files-august-2025/ed3-employment-technical-paper-2024.pdf


 

 

19 
 

7.3 Character and Appearance 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 
7.3.1 Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places of the NPPF (2024) stipulates that the 

creation of high quality, sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design expectations, and 
how these will be tested, is essential for achieving this. So too is effective engagement 
between applicants, communities, local planning authorities and other interests 
throughout the process. Where development is not well designed, permission should be 
refused. 

 
7.3.2 The National Design Guide 2019, which was published by the Government, is a material 

consideration in the determination of planning applications. It states that buildings are 
an important component of places and proposals for built development are a focus of 
the development management system. However, good design involves careful attention 
to other important components of places. These include: 

 

• the context for places and buildings; 

• hard and soft landscape; 

• technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

• social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 
7.3.3 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 

materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at 
all levels, including: 

 

• the layout; 

• the form and scale of buildings; 

• their appearance; 

• landscape; 

• materials; and 

• their detailing. 
 
 Development Plan 
 
7.3.4 Whilst the policies contained in the Local Plan have limited weight, Policy SP8 generally 

reflects the requirements of the NPPF in that it requires new development to achieve the 
highest standards of design and sustainability. In addition, Policy GD1 generally requires 
all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of built 
development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape 
design and relevant aspects of sustainable design. 

 
7.3.5 In the emerging local plan partial review and update, criterion (e) of Policy GD1 is 

updated to refer to “unacceptable” adverse impacts. The intention behind the change is 
to make clear that in some circumstances, an adverse impact might still fall within 
acceptable bounds and that this is a matter of judgement for the decision maker. Policy 
GD2 is a new policy emerging from the local plan partial review and update. It states that 
proposals which demonstrate they have been designed to achieve a rating of excellent 
or higher against a relevant BREEAM standard and/or to achieve the BRE Home Quality 
Mark will be strongly supported. Having regard to paragraph 49 of the NPPF, this 
emerging version of the policy is afforded moderate weight in the assessment of the 
application. 

 

Page 37



 

 

20 
 

7.3.6 This part of the application has been assessed against the key policy criteria on good 
design, as well as how the scheme meets the four key objectives in the National Design 
Guide on what is considered as a well-designed place. 

 
Layout 

 
7.3.7 The site layout has been designed to maximise site efficiency, accommodate existing 

constraints, and create good natural surveillance and positive frontage to Gunnels Wood 
Road. As existing the site is largely laid to concrete hardstand with various self-seeded 
trees in the northeastern corner, where there are also substantial levels changes from 
the surrounding highway/footway. A mature existing tree belt encloses the northern 
boundary, with some of the western boundary also enclosed. The existing vegetation 
along the Gunnels Wood Road boundary will be managed and enhanced to retain this 
green frontage. 
 

7.3.8 The proposed development would see the frontage of the site behind this green area 
opens to a car parking and the office area of the building. Unit 1 would sit further forward 
than the existing front elevation of the neighbouring Mercedes dealership. This is largely 
due to the existing right of way through the site that is to be retained. The BTC building 
on the corner of Bessemer Drive and Gunnels Wood Road to the north of the site also 
sits forward of the proposed development, highlighting the stagger of buildings along this 
stretch of road.  
 

7.3.9 The service yard for Unit 1 would be positioned within the northern part of the site, 
adjacent Bessemer Drive. Existing trees along the boundary are retained outside the 
visibility splays, with additional native shrub mix planting proposed. This will reduce the 
visual impact along the highway. It is noted that given the existing situation on site with 
no permanent buildings present, any introduction of buildings, especially industrial ones 
will have a visual impact on the wider area. The service yard of Unit 1 would be enclosed 
with 2.4m high security fencing. 
 

7.3.10 Unit’s 2 and 3 sit at the rear of the site, adjacent the Caxton Road boundary. The ancillary 
office areas would be on the respective front corner of each unit, providing good 
surveillance. Areas of trees and greenery are to be retained along the boundaries with 
these units. The buildings are set close to the boundary to allow for parking and servicing 
within the site and accessed off the main Bessemer Drive vehicular access.  
 

7.3.11 In conclusion, the layout is considered be acceptable having identified key landscape 
features and has worked t retain these, whilst working around site constraints, access 
points and seeking to reduce visual impact of the buildings due to their size.  

 
Scale, Massing and Form 

 
7.3.12 The existing make-up of this area of the Gunnels Wood Road employment area is 

predominantly brick built offices and buildings to the north of Bessemer Drive, albeit 
there is the Europe Snacks site to the northwest which is a three-storey tall steel clad 
factory building. Along Gunnels Wood Road itself there is a mixture of glass fronted car 
dealership, flagship office/industrial buildings for companies such as Airbus (located to 
the east of the site) and three storey brick offices. Caxton Road to the west and rear of 
the site, is a mix of small industrial buildings/warehouses, with some elements of brick 
offices, with some large glazed sectional facades. These buildings range from two to 
three storeys.  

 
7.3.13 The introduction of any building on the site would have a visual impact given the existing 

lack of permanent buildings. Considering then the scale typically required for 
warehousing and industrial buildings, the proposals will significantly affect the 

Page 38



 

 

21 
 

appearance of the area, however the existing character would not be detrimentally 
affected given the employment nature of the area and existing mix of buildings.   
 

7.3.14 The height of unit 1 at a maximum ridge of approximately 15.9m and a height of three 
storeys within the office area, the building will have a significant visual impact on the 
street scene simply because of its scale and massing. However, the roof orientation and 
slope do seek to reduce this and draw the eye away when viewing the site from the south 
or north as vehicles drive along Gunnels Wood Road.   
 

7.3.15 As an allocated site for 12,000 sqm, the principle of larger industrial type buildings has 
already been given, and thus the impact, whilst significant to a certain point given the 
scale and massing, is not of sufficient harm to warrant a refusal. The building design and 
type takes design features from nearby buildings, including Centric located adjacent to 
Airbus and fronts onto Gunnels Wood Road which comprises of three large mixed-use 
building, and thus the overall height is not significantly above nearby buildings. 
Consequently, the proposals are considered acceptable. 

 
Appearance and Materiality 

 
7.3.16 The proposed building is partially concealed from the main highway and pedestrian 

routes by existing mature landscaping and trees, however, given its height views above 
the tree line will be visible. However, careful attention has been given to its identity within 
the surrounding environment, while appreciating that the building serves a specific 
purpose. The office areas of each unit would feature large expanses of glazing that 
marks the buildings’ entrances, creating visual interest, especially on the most prominent 
side of unit 1 visible from Gunnels Wood Road. Activating all sides poses a unique 
challenge, especially with industrial structures where opportunities for diversity in form 
and materiality are limited.  

 
7.3.17 In warehouse buildings, elements like windows, which typically break up material 

transitions, are often minimal. To overcome this, the facade would be activated using 
varied materials, colours, and textures. Profiled metal panels of varying grey colours 
would serve both functional and aesthetic purposes. Predominantly horizontally laid 
cladding would be broken up by a metal feature channel to add some texture across the 
facade. Projecting eaves would extend outward, reflecting the surrounding buildings’ 
characteristics and enhancing the design’s contextual connection. 
 

7.3.18 The proposed development has been supported by a BREEAM Pre-assessment to lead 
to an application for BREEAM ‘Excellent’. This accords with the emerging Policy GD2, 
subject to the Local Plan review, to encourage BREEAM Excellent developments in the 
Borough.  

 
Conclusion 

 
7.3.19 Overall, it is considered the proposed development would have a high-quality finish and 

has been designed to assimilate itself with the wider area with the careful use of 
materials and finishes to give the building architectural interest and to reduce the 
perception of bulk. The scale of the building is considered acceptable for this 
employment area, despite its obvious visual impact on the vacant site. The layout of the 
proposed development has been well considered and considers the need for satisfactory 
access and site constraints. The proposed development is therefore, considered 
acceptable in accordance with the policies on design in the adopted Local Plan (2019), 
the Design Guide SPD (2025), the NPPF (2024) and PPG. 

 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 

22 
 

7.4 Impact on the Environment and Neighbouring Occupiers 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 
7.4.1 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2024) sets out that planning decision should ensure create 

places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future residents. Paragraph 124 
of the National Design Guide states that “Good design promotes quality of life for the 
occupants and users of buildings. This includes function – buildings should be easy to 
use. It also includes comfort, safety, security, amenity, privacy, accessibility and 
adaptability”. Paragraph 126 of the National Design Guide also emphasises that “well-
designed homes and communal areas within buildings provide a good standard and 
quality of internal space. This includes room sizes, floor-to-ceiling heights, internal and 
external storage, sunlight, daylight and ventilation. The quality of internal space needs 
careful consideration in higher density developments, particularly for family 
accommodation, where access, privacy, daylight and external amenity space are also 
important”. 

 
 Development Plan 
 
7.4.2 Whilst the policies contained in the Local Plan have limited weight, Policies SP8 and 

GD1 of the Local Plan (2019) which generally reflect the good design principles outlined 
in the NPPF and National Design Guide, require that development does not adversely 
impact the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. In the emerging Local Plan review and 
partial update, criterion (e) of policy GD1 is updated to refer to “unacceptable” adverse 
impacts. The intention behind the change is to make clear that in some circumstances, 
an adverse  impact might still fall within acceptable bounds and that this is a matter of 
judgement for the decision maker. This emerging policy carries significant weight under 
paragraph 49 of the NPPF. 

 
7.4.3 Policy FP5 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to consider contamination 

and be supported by an appropriate preliminary risk assessment (PRA), demonstrating 
that any necessary remediation and subsequent development poses no risk to the 
population, environment or groundwater bodies. 

 
7.4.4 Policy FP7 requires all development proposals to minimise, and where possible, reduce 

air, water, light, and noise pollution. Planning permission will be granted when it can be 
demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on general 
amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area.  

 
  Contamination 
 
7.4.5 The Intrusive Geo-environmental and Geotechnical Site Assessment by TRC 

Companies submitted with the application advises the generic risk assessments 
undertaken indicate the site represents a relatively moderate risk in the context of its 
proposed end users. Further investigation works for part of the site are advised and the 
Assessment proposes several mitigation measures. The Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer has advised three conditions relating to results of the phase 2 site investigation 
and full details or any required remediation works; unidentified contaminated land 
discovered be covered by full investigation and remediation; and submission of 
verification reports should any remediation be required. 

 
  Noise Pollution 
 
7.4.6 The application is accompanied by a Noise Impact Assessment by Hoare Lea LLP. 

Noise survey work was undertaken to determine baseline noise levels in the vicinity of 
the site. Assessment of activity noise levels in accordance with BS 4142 indicates that 
noise from the proposed development would achieve a condition of ‘low impact’ at the 

Page 40



 

 

23 
 

nearest existing residential properties at all times and would be unlikely to give rise to 
noise disturbance. According to British Standard (BS) 4142: 2014+A1: 2019 ‘Methods 
for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound’ (BS 4142), “low” impact 
development would indicate that no adverse effects would be present, day and night.  

 
7.4.7 Notwithstanding this, noise sources at the site may cause some level of nuisance to 

neighbouring non-residential buildings/businesses. However, the Noise Impact 
Assessment does not cover this as the British Standards are typically to safeguard 
residential uses. The proposed use of the site would have the potential to result in offsite 
effects comprising HGVs arriving, manoeuvring and departing, loading / unloading of 
HGVs and fixed mechanical services (such as heating or ventilation) operated on site. 
With regards to fixed mechanical services, a condition has been agreed to limit the rating 
level of noise emitted by any or all fixed plant. With this planning condition in place, there 
would be no observed adverse effects from noise from this source. 

 
7.4.8 Furthermore, it is noted that the site use and location is in an existing industrial and 

employment area, where numerous existing similar uses can be seen. Therefore, it is 
likely to be difficult to discern exact sources of noise disturbance beyond each use and 
site. It is noted that the location of unit 1 will shield the Mercedes dealership from much 
of the operational noise on site. To the north the offices of the BTC are set off the 
boundary with Bessemer Road, as is unit 1 on site. The existing tree belt being retained 
will also serve to provide a level of noise screening.   
 

7.4.9 The proposed mitigation measures proposed in the Noise Impact Assessment have 
been agreed with the Council’s Environmental Health Officer and can be secured by 
condition. It is considered the agreed mitigation measures would negate the requirement 
for the submission of a Noise Management Plan detailing site specific measures to 
control noise from outside areas. This will not be subject to condition, as it is not 
considered necessary. Subject to conditions, it is considered the proposal would accord 
with Local Plan Policy FP7 in terms of noise. 

 
  Light Pollution 
 
7.4.10 The application is supported by an External Lighting Report by Engineering Services 

Consultancy Ltd. The report details the lighting scheme, which covers all areas 
surrounding the building including external areas to the access road, walkways, car 
parking and service yard. The scheme is based on the use of LED luminaires fixed to 
the building façades and on lighting columns, as detailed on drawing 0527-ESS-00-ZZ-
DR-E-2100 P1. The proposed lighting is proposed as LED low energy lighting sources 
which gives better control of the lighting distribution on site and controls any upward light 
spill. The lighting solution has been designed in accordance with the technical lighting 
guides published by CIBSE (Charted Institution of Building Service Engineers) and the 
Guidance Notes for the reduction of obtrusive light published by ILP (Institution of 
Lighting Professionals).  

 
7.4.11 The lighting will be controlled by a timeclock and photocell control. This will enable the 

lighting to be controlled during the operating hours of the premises. Further, this will 
adjust in line with the seasons, preventing unnecessary operation during daylight and 
the summer months. Subject to a condition limiting maximum illumination levels to those 
stated in the report, it is considered the proposal would accord with Local Plan Policy 
FP7 in terms of external light. 

 
  Air Quality 
 
7.4.12 Looking at air quality and air pollution specifically, the Air Quality Annual Status Report 

(ASR) 2019 by Stevenage Borough Council identifies that the development site is not 

Page 41



 

 

24 
 

located within or in close proximity to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). This 
generally indicates that the air quality in the area is within national guidelines.  

 
7.4.13 The application has been supported by an Air Quality Assessment report prepared by 

Hoare Lea LLP. This concludes that the impact of site activity will have an insignificant 
overall influence on local air quality. The report has been reviewed by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer and they agree with the findings and that no mitigation 
measures are required concerning air quality. 

 
  Privacy, Overbearing Impact and Daylight 
 
7.4.14 The site is not in close proximity of any residential properties, with existing neighbouring 

industrial or office buildings located between them. As such, there would be no adverse 
impact on the amenities of existing residential properties in the wider area.          

 
  Demolition and Construction Impacts 
 
7.4.15 The disruptive effect of demolition and construction work is a material consideration. 

Some disruption is inevitable, insofar as vehicle movements and noisy work would be 
necessary to complete the development. However, the impacts can be mitigated, for 
example by employing dust suppression techniques, limiting the hours when deliveries 
can be made, and limiting the hours when work can be carried out.  

 
7.4.16 To this end, it is recommended that a construction management plan be secured by 

condition. Subject to this condition, it is considered that the impacts of demolition and 
construction could be mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 
  Conclusions on Environment and Neighbouring Occupiers 
 
7.4.17 Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the proposed development would not 

result in any fundamentally unacceptable impacts on the environment and has been 
designed in such a way as to ensure acceptable living conditions for neighbouring 
occupiers. In these respects, the proposal is considered to accord with Policies FP5, 
FP7 and GD1 of the Local Plan. 

 
7.5 Parking 

 
National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 

 
7.5.1 Chapter 9 ‘Promoting Sustainable Transport’ of the NPPF (2024) sets out a requirement 

to consider transport issues, which includes parking, at the earliest stages of a 
development proposal. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF (2024) states “Development should 
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, 
following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 
scenarios”.  

 
7.5.2 Taking this into consideration, paragraph 117 of the NPPF (2024) stipulates that 

applications for development should: 
a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and 

with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to 
high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus 
or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public 
transport use;  

b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all 
modes of transport;  

Page 42



 

 

25 
 

c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for 
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street 
clutter, and respond to local character and design standards;  

d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency 
vehicles; and  

e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient locations. 

 
 Development Plan 
 

7.5.3 Policy IT5 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to comply with the parking 
standards set out in the Council’s Parking SPD (2025) and has not been updated by the 
Local Plan (LP) Review. Policy SP6 Sustainable Transport has been reordered to reflect 
the priority of sustainable transport consistent with NPPF under the LP Review and the 
amended policy carries significant weight. This policy requires, amongst other things, for 
developments to demonstrate they are in a sustainable location and will promote active 
travel by non-car modes of transport by providing appropriate cycle parking and prioritise 
public transport.  

 
7.5.4 With regard to parking, the Council’s parking standards include reductions in provision 

based on Accessibility Zones. The site is located in Non-Residential Accessibility Zone 
1 which will allow for an adjusted parking provision of 0-25%. 

 
7.5.5 Looking firstly at car parking provision, the SPD seeks 1 space per 40 sqm for Business 

Parks which have mixed use B2, B8 plus appropriate class E uses (where individual land 
use components are unknown and/or use is flexible). As such the below table outlines 
the maximum provision required for each unit, which is also the amount proposed on 
site.  
 

 
 

7.5.6 The development proposes a policy compliant level of disabled parking and electric 
vehicle charging points (EVCP). There are also bus stops adjacent to the site providing 
access to bus services that serve a large area of Stevenage, which also connect with 
the bus station and train station. Furthermore, the existing pedestrian and cycle 
connections to nearby residential areas and the town centre means that a high number 
of potential employees at the site could live within an accessible walking or cycling 
distance with facilities provided to promote and encourage travel by these modes. The 
implementation of the Travel Plan for the site would also encourage non-car travel 
meaning that parking demand could be lower than the standards permit. 

 
7.5.7 In terms of HGV parking the SPD (2025) advises that the need for lorry parking spaces 

for non-residential development will be assessed on a case-by-case basis. However, it 
does state that for B2 general industry and B8 storage and distribution uses, lorry parking 
should usually be provided at a rate of between 1 space per 200 sqm and 1 space per 
1,000 sqm. The below table, taken from the submitted Transport Assessment shows the 
proposed HGV parking provision. 
 

Page 43



 

 

26 
 

 
 

7.5.8 The above figures accord with the SPD requirements and would cover the proposed 
flexible uses of the units. Whilst the parking requirements of developments in the 
Borough fall to the Borough Council, the local highway authority have advised that the 
parking levels appear acceptable and would be unlikely to lead to off-site parking.  

 
7.5.9 In terms of cycle parking, cycle standards require 1 space per 500 sqm for long term 

stay and 1 space per 1,000 sqm for short term stay. This provision is for B2 general 
industry, B8 storage and distribution and E(g) business. The below table shows the 
proposed cycle parking provision, which is in excess of the minimum requirements, plus 
based on an anticipation of 214 jobs at the site, the minimum level of provision aligns 
with a 10% target for cycle users.  
 

 
 

7.5.10 Details of the proposed cycle storage has not been provided at this time and it is 
therefore considered reasonable to impose a condition requiring details of secure 
covered cycle storage to be agreed prior to installation and use of the development. 
Additionally, each building has provision of showers for employees choosing to cycle to 
work to be able to shower on arrival.  
 

7.5.11 Having regard to the above, the proposed parking arrangements are considered to be 
acceptable. In this respect, the proposal accords with Policy IT5 of the Local Plan. 

 
7.6 Highway Safety 

 
7.6.1 Policy IT4 of the Local Plan has been amended under the LP Review by substituting the 

word “adverse” with “unacceptable” to align with the NPPF and to the travel plan 
threshold to align with HCC Highways policy. The amended policy carries significant 
weight. It states that planning permission will be granted where development will not 
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety. The application is accompanied by a 
Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan. 

 
Access 

 
7.6.2 It is proposed to retain the existing site accesses off Gunnels Wood Road and Bessemer 

Drive, with all HGV access off the Bessemer Drive access point. The Gunnels Wood 
Drive access would serve car parking for unit 1 only. The existing access point on Caxton 
Road would be closed but retained and gated for emergency access.  

 

Page 44



 

 

27 
 

7.6.3 The primary site access off Bessemer Drive is as an existing junction built with sufficient 
parameters to allow for HGV swept paths and adequate visibility in both directions. The 
junction / access is overgrown within the site boundaries and where necessary the 
vegetation will be cleared and road markings refreshed. The access junction also 
accommodates pedestrian activity with dropped kerbs, tactile paving and a pedestrian 
refuge island with illuminated bollards.  

 
7.6.4 The secondary access off Gunnels Wood Road would be via the existing Aspect One 

access. This will utilise this existing access point, shared with Mercedes, providing car 
parking for the staff of unit 1. The junction is a left-in / left-out arrangement onto the 
northbound carriageway of Gunnels Wood Road. There is an existing pedestrian refuge 
island between the exit and egress points. 

 
7.6.5 Improvements to the junction are proposed to enhance pedestrian and cyclist visibility. 

The existing island would be removed and the junction width reduced as a result. This 
would help prioritise pedestrians and cyclists using the adjacent cycleway along Gunnels 
Wood Road. The improvements would see a new footpath from the cycleway to the site 
installed. The Transport Assessment clearly shows that access to Aspect One would not 
be impinged and existing users entering the junction to access the Mercedes dealership 
and business to the south of this can still do so safely.  

 
7.6.6 Appropriate swept path analysis has been submitted to support the access 

arrangements and on-site manoeuvrability. The local highway authority has confirmed 
that with the proposed access junction improvements proposed off Gunnels Wood Road, 
as well as the reduced parking the proposals are acceptable.    

 
7.6.7 A Stage One Road Safety Audit (RSA) was undertaken for the access proposals which 

identified the junction inter-visibility problems at the Gunnels Wood Road access junction 
as existing because of vegetation and the existing central refuge. The Audit notes “the 
proposed alterations will remove the existing refuge island at the access in favour of 
pedestrian / cyclist priority raised crossing”. The local highway authority confirms it 
agrees with his analysis. 

 
 Trip Generation 

7.6.8 The trip generation is shown in Table K of the Transport Assessment and identifies the 
worst-case scenario for total vehicle trips. These would be 133 trips during AM Peak 
(8:00 – 9:00) and 139 trips during PM Peak (17:00 – 18:00). Hertfordshire County 
Council as local highway authority has not raised any objections in respect of the 
predicted trip generation numbers for the development. The site is currently used for 
various storage purposes utilising the access points off Bessemer Drive and Caxton 
Way.  

 
S106 Contributions 

7.6.9 HCC highways operate two levels of mitigation agreements, with Strand 1 mitigation 
works being works that are directly required to unlock the development and solely the 
responsibility of the development. Strand 2 mitigation works are works that address the 
wider cumulative impact of the development for which the development isn’t solely 
responsible for but does derive benefit from.  

 
7.6.10 In respect of Strand 1 requirements for this development, the applicant will enter into a 

S278 agreement with the highway authority for the agreed site access and any potential 
off-site improvement, and also the bus and travel plan contributions to be contained in a 
S206 agreement.  

 
7.6.11 The local highway authority is seeking Strand 2 contributions for the development to the 

sum of £67,731 (Jan 2019 Index). The Strand 2 contribution would be for the SBC Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) 3PP and/or Package 1 (Stevenage) of 

Page 45



 

 

28 
 

the North Central Hertfordshire Growth and Transport Plan (GTP) – Gunnels Wood and 
Town Centre, to complete the sustainable unlocking of the site. Based on the information 
contained in the LCWIP and GTP which seek to facilitate access by sustainable modes 
within the Gunnels Wood area, the specific need identified is considered sufficient in this 
case to agree the Strand 2 contributions sought. The applicant has also confirmed their 
acceptance of the contribution requirement.  
 

7.6.12 In addition to the above, whilst the comments regarding cycle connections needing to 
meet LTN1/20, any works which are to be undertaken on the highway, including any new 
cycle connections and improvement works would be covered under a Section 278 
agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority. Moreover, the 
strand 2 financial contribution would be utilised by the Highways Authority to deliver 
wider local cycle and walking improvements on the nearby network. This will also 
address any concerns raised from the local cycle group with respect to this development.  
 
Land West of Stevenage 
 

7.6.13 As advised by the Highways Authority (paragraph 5.1.4), the Bessemer Drive access 
(and Units 2 and 3) will ultimately be connected by the proposals to unlock the Land 
West of Stevenage residential site (20/00356/FPM). In that regard, the Highways 
Authority has recommended that if the proposed development comes forward before the 
Land West of Stevenage residential site, the applicant should commit to the delivery of 
the proposals shown in the Land West of Stevenage site from (and including) the 
applicant’s access to the Gunnels Wood Road segregated foot and cycle path to 
complete the unlocking of the proposal site. The proposal layout (24059-HAL-PL003 
Rev K) must be updated to include these proposed junction and cycle improvements 
before it can be officially approved by HCC Highways. 

 
7.6.14 Following a review of this request by the Highways Authority, it would fail to meet 

Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations. First of all, it is not deemed necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning terms. This is because the development would 
look to connect into the existing pedestrian and cycle network along with the delivery of 
improvement works at the junction with Bessemer Drive. In addition, is not deemed to 
be reasonable in scale and kind as the proposal is for a mixed unit employment based 
development which would generate significant impacts on the highway network. 
Especially as the site is accessible to alternative forms of transportation combined with 
the fact the development would require a detailed travel plan to demonstrate a modal 
shift towards active travel etc.  
 

7.6.15 In addition to the above, it also not deemed reason given the fact there are legal 
obligations as detailed in the s.106 agreement attached to planning permission 
20/00356/FPM on the developers for Land West of Stevenage to deliver the highway 
improvement works in paragraph 7.6.13. As such, the Highways Authority cannot legally 
require two developments to deliver the same pieces of infrastructure as it would be 
classed as double counting.   
 

7.6.16 Further to the above, persons employed within the application are unlikely to travel west 
along Bessemer Driver towards Land West of Stevenage because it has not yet been 
delivered. This is because they are most likely going to travel east towards the existing 
cycle track / pedestrian network on Gunnels Wood Road. Consequently, this would also 
fail the key tests under the CIL Regulations as again, it is not deemed necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning terms. As such, it is recommended that if 
permission is granted, that the applicant would not be duty bound to deliver the 
improvement works which form part of the Land West of Stevenage development.      
 
 

 

Page 46



 

 

29 
 

7.7  Ecology 
 

7.7.1 The application is supported by an ecological appraisal. No statutory or non-statutory 
nature conservation designations are present within the site, all designations in the wider 
area are physically separated from the site and therefore are unlikely to be adversely 
affected by the proposals. The extended Phase 1 habitat survey established that the site 
does not show signs of Badgers, Bats and Great Crested Newts. The existing hedgerows 
identified along the boundaries, which are being retained were identified as being of 
principal importance. These habitats are suitable to support protected and notable fauna 
including birds and hedgehogs. The proposed lighting strategy has also been designed 
under guidance from the project ecologist. 

 
7.7.2 The provision of a suite of bat boxes across the site is recommended to deliver an uplift 

in bat roosting opportunity. The boxes should be places 3-4 m apart of the trunks of 
mature trees. Each tree identified should have three boxes installed on the north, south-
east and south-west sides, all at the same height. Integrated boxes on the buildings 
would not be appropriate in this case. Furthermore, following comments received in 
support of the proposal, a suite of 10 swift boxes is also proposed. The boxes would be 
appropriately installed on the exterior of the building, under the eaves.   
 

7.7.3 Hertfordshire County Council Ecology Team have reviewed the application and relevant 
assessments and supporting information and raise no objections. They have advised 
that the proposals are unlikely to have any significant ecological impacts, therefore the 
application can be determined accordingly. However, in the unlikely event that protected 
species are found, they advise a precautionary approach to the works is take and they 
have suggested an informative to this effect.  

 
7.7.4 Furthermore, in terms of species enhancement, HCC confirm they support the Ecological 

Enhancement Plan Strategy submitted and the recommendations for bird and bat boxes. 
They advise that a Species Enhancement Plan be secured by condition to ensure the 
provision of these features.  

 
7.7.5 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would have 

an acceptable impact on ecology. In this respect, the proposal accords with Policy SP12 
of the Local Plan.  

 
7.8      Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
  The Environment Act 
7.8.1 The Environment Act received royal ascent in 2021. Within the legislation is the 

requirement for proposals to bring about a positive net gain in biodiversity. The 
regulations make a 10% net gain a statutory requirement (with a standard condition). 
The requirement and the ways in which this gain is measured apply to planning 
applications for major development submitted after the regulations came into force on 
12 February 2024. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework and the Development Plan 

7.8.2 The NPPF and accompanying PPG require the Council to achieve measurable net gains 
in biodiversity at development sites across the Borough unless they are exempt. Policy 
SP12 of the Local Plan requires the protection of assets of ecological and biodiversity 
value. This policy has not been amended by the Local Plan Review and carries 
significant weight.   
 

7.8.3 The application is supported by a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment which has 
considered the landscape proposals using the latest statutory metric. Based upon the 
metric, the proposals would result in a net loss in habitat units of 48.18% and a 56.44% 
net gain in hedgerows. Therefore, the proposed development would not deliver a 10% 

Page 47



 

 

30 
 

net gain within the site itself. To achieve a net gain in habitat units, a total of 1.97 off-site 
biodiversity habitat units are required to be provided, including the required increase for 
habitat trading.  
 

7.8.4 Subsequently, the application is automatically subject to the general Biodiversity Gain 
Plan (BGP) condition, which requires the delivery of a Biodiversity Gain Plan. The 
Hertfordshire County Council Ecology Officer recommends that the plan provided is in 
line with the DEFRA Biodiversity Gain Plan template.  
 

7.8.5 Whilst the BGP condition is a post determination matter, the present information shows 
a net gain below the legal minimum requirement and a lack of any existing identified off-
site location. In line with government guidance, it would generally be inappropriate for 
concerns about the ability to discharge the condition to be used as a reason to refuse 
an application. However, the applicant has been made aware the BGP condition is a 
pre-commencement condition and that if the applicant chooses not to address these 
matters prior to determination they will need to do so at the post determination stage. 
 

7.8.6 The Ecology Officer advises that in line with the principles of the use of the metric, that 
any off-site location should be sought in the first instance local to the impact. As a last 
resort, if an off-site location cannot be found, Biodiversity Credits would need to be 
purchased. In this latter case, the applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the 
LPA that all other options have been fully explored and that the BNG hierarchy has been 
followed. The exact location of any off-site provision cannot be controlled through the 
application or by the LPA.  
 

7.8.7 Consequently, the proposed BNG provisions on and off-site to ensure a 10% net gain is 
considered acceptable and can be appropriately secured by conditions and a S106 legal 
agreement.  

  
7.9 Trees and Landscaping 

 
7.9.1 Policy NH5 of the Local Plan (2019) states that development proposals will be expected 

to protect and retain individual trees within the development site and should include new 
planting where appropriate. In the Local Plan review and partial update, policy NH5 is 
replaced by two new policies: Policy NH5a, which relates to trees and woodland; and 
Policy NH5b, which relates to tree-lined streets. Policy NH5a continues to provide a 
general presumption against the loss of healthy trees but also introduces a new tree 
replacement standard and offsetting mechanism where replacement planting cannot be 
provided on site. This emerging policy currently has limited weight. Policy NH5b requires 
new streets to be tree-lined, mirroring paragraph 136 and footnote 53 of the NPPF. This 
emerging policy carries significant weight, however, is not relevant to this application 
proposal.  

 
7.9.2 Full landscaping details have been submitted as part of this application. Currently, the 

majority of the existing landscaping features are located around the boundary of the site. 
The proposal would retain these key hedgerow/tree belt features; however, areas of self-
seeded landscaping are proposed to be removed to allow for full use of the site internally. 
 

7.9.3 A total of 15 new trees are proposed to be planted throughout the site, primarily located 
around the perimeter but also as feature landscaping at each entrance point. These new 
trees would be supplemented by several other landscaping features, including native 
mixed hedgerow, ornamental hedgerow, grass seeding, wildflower grass and 
ornamental shrubs. This replacement planting would offset the removal of 7 trees, 4 
groups of trees and 2 partial groups of trees (primarily category U and C). 
 

7.9.4 The Council’s Tree Officer has highlighted that the number of replacement trees is lower 
than the Council’s general 3:1 replacement ratio. However, this figure does not make up 

Page 48



 

 

31 
 

part of the Development Plan and so is difficult to secure through planning. The Local 
Plan review proposes the introduction of Policy NH5a; Trees and Woodland, which 
states –  

  
All development proposals which involve works to, or within the vicinity of, existing 
trees or woodland must be accompanied by an arboricultural impact assessment (AIA) 
at the application stage.  
 
Development proposals resulting in harm to the health or longevity of existing 
individual trees which are worthy of retention (Defined as category C or above 
according to BS 5837:2012 or equivalent) will be refused unless:  
 
a. The harm is demonstrated to be unavoidable;  
b. Replacement trees would be planted in accordance with Table 6 below; and  
c. Any replacement trees would be of an appropriate size and species and planted in 
an appropriate location.  

 
7.9.5 The emerging Policy continues to state that post-permission, conditions will be used to 

secure any replacement planting and safeguard any retained trees. The below table is 
proposed as part of the merging condition wording –  
 

 
 

7.9.6 The Council’s Tree Manager has confirmed identified locations where replacement tree 
planting off site could be sited and the cost associated with this. The applicants have 
been open to discussing this. However, as replacement tree planting forms the majority 
of the BNG calculation, and due to the wording of the BNG legislation on how off-site 
gain is to be provided it would not be possible to secure the replacement tree planting 
on Council owned land. 
 

7.9.7 The applicant must provide the 10% net gain of BNG, and the provision of replacement 
trees on Council land would mean they are not fulfilling the BNG requirements, and thus 
the proposal would not be acceptable. Consequently, in this case, the replacement tree 
planting will take place off-site as part of the BNG provision. It is not reasonable to seek 
replacement planting on Council land, and for the developers to also provide a 10% net 
gain which includes the level of replacement planting. 
 

7.9.8 It is considered the overall landscaping and tree strategy is high quality and would create 
an attractive landscaped setting for the proposed buildings, with clear biodiversity and 
visual amenity benefits in accordance with policies SP12 and NH5 of the Local Plan 
(2019).   
 

7.10  Flood Risk and Drainage 
 

7.10.1 A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy accompanies the application. The 
report reviews the drainage and flood risk issues associated with the proposed 
development and sets out how surface water run-off would be accommodated. The 
report states that the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 and that flood risk 

Page 49



 

 

32 
 

from fluvial and surface water flooding is low, albeit there are isolated areas on site at 
risk of flooding for the 1 in 100 year events as identified by Hertfordshire County Council 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority. The development of the site for an employment use 
is therefore appropriate as set out by the ‘flood risk vulnerability classification’ contained 
within the Planning Practice Guidance. The Drainage Strategy sets out details in respect 
of surface water and foul water drainage. 

 
7.10.2 Drainage strategies should adhere to the Sustainable Drainage Strategy (SuDS) 

hierarchy provided in the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 2 (2019).  The 
hierarchy identifies that living roofs and walls are the most-sustainable SuDS features, 
followed by ponds and basins, infiltration devices and permeable surfaces. Tanked and 
piped systems are identified as the least sustainable, providing no pollution reduction 
nor biodiversity benefit.  

 
7.10.3 In the emerging local plan review and partial update, flood risk and drainage policies are 

significantly revised. Existing policy FP1 is replaced by a new sustainable drainage 
policy, which places an emphasis on the use of the most sustainable SuDS features and 
methods of surface water discharge. Meanwhile, existing policies FP2 and FP3 are 
combined into a new, more comprehensive flood risk policy, which largely reflects 
national flood risk policies but also seeks to protect watercourses and flood defences. 
Having regard to paragraph 49 of the NPPF, these emerging policies carry significant 
weight in the assessment of the application. 

 
7.10.4 The drainage strategy advises that the site lies within a groundwater source protection 

zone 1, associated with the underlying Chalk Aquifer at the site. As such the possibility 
of using soakaways on the site is not possible. Furthermore, in line with the SuDS 
hierarchy the nearest watercourse is over 1km from the site and is not therefore a viable 
option for drainage. The existing foul water drains into the public sewer network. In terms 
of surface water, as noted above, the strategy has considered the most appropriate 
drainage options, including ground conditions, ensuring efficient use of brownfield land 
and the SUDS hierarchy. The proposed strategy includes the use of porous paving to 
car park areas and underground restricted attenuation. 

 
7.10.5 Whilst above ground solutions (swales, rain gardens, etc) have been considered, the 

site is also a brownfield site with no existing SUDS features. The NPPF (paragraph 124) 
and Local Plan both recognise the need to prioritise the use of brownfield land. NPPF 
paragraph 125 (c) is clear that substantial weight must be given to the reuse of brownfield 
land to meet identified needs, proposals should therefore be approved unless substantial 
harm would be caused. This is key, as whilst it is recognised that the Lead Local Flood 
Authority would prefer to see above ground SUDS features, this must be weighed 
against the substantial weight afforded to brownfield developments to meet identified 
needs (i.e. need for industrial and logistics land in Stevenage). The proposed drainage 
strategy does not result in increased flood risk on-site or off-site and instead would have 
a 75% reduction to the existing 100 year rate. 

 
7.10.6 At the request of HCC as Lead Local Flood Authority, additional information has been 

submitted to address the issues they have raised and updated comments are awaited. 
At the time of writing this report no comments have been received. If comments are 
received prior to the meeting and/or the drainage strategy is agreed an update will be 
provided, otherwise it is anticipated Members will agree to delegate powers being 
granted to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation to impose any conditions 
advised on any response provided after the committee meeting. However, it should be 
noted the LLFA does not object to the principle of the drainage strategy. 

 
7.10.7 A decision will not be issued until the S106 Legal Agreement associated with the 

development has been signed, which will allow time for comments to be received. 
Therefore, comments will be fully considered prior to a decision being issued. However, 

Page 50



 

 

33 
 

if the Lead Local Flood Authority continues to raise an objection to this application and 
their concerns cannot be overcome, then this application will be referred back to the 
Planning and Development Committee for its decision. 

 
7.11  Sustainable Construction and Climate Change 
 
7.11.1 Policy FP1 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) stipulates that planning permission will be 

granted for development that can incorporate measures to address adaptation to climate 
change. New developments will be encouraged to include measures such as: 

• Ways to ensure development is resilient to likely variations in temperature 

• Reducing water consumption to no more than 110 litres per person per day, 
including external water use 

• Improving energy performance of buildings 

• Reducing energy consumption through efficiency measures 

• Using or producing renewable or low carbon energy from a local source; and 

• Contributing towards reducing flood risk through the use of SuDS or other 
appropriate measures. 

 
7.11.2 Under the Local Plan review, Policy FP1 has been revised to cover sustainable drainage 

and Policy SP1: climate change is the new relevant policy in this regard. The 
fundamental objective of Policy SP1 remains the same as previous policy FP1, however, 
it sets out in more detail the objectives to adapting to climate change. This policy 
requires, amongst other things the off-setting of emissions targets if not met on site, 
water usage targets, rainwater harvesting, grey water recycling, use of sustainable 
materials and practices on site, ultra-low and zero carbon combined heat and power 
systems and urban greening (green roofs and walls).   

 
7.11.3 This policy is further supported by a suite of new climate change polices, CC1 through 

CC7 which cover a broad range of topics. However, it should be noted that Policies CC1 
and CC2 require only major planning applications to provide an energy statement. 
Emerging policy GD2 ‘Design certification’ strongly supports development proposals 
which demonstrate that they have been designed to achieve a rating of excellent or 
higher against the relevant BREEAM standard. 

 
7.11.4 The Council’s Design Guide SPD (2025) sets outs additional requirements with respect 

to climate change. The guide states that all developments are required to make efforts 
to minimise energy usage and to incorporate methods of using renewable energy, 
including:-   

• reducing energy demand 

• using passive environmental systems, e.g. natural ventilation 

• daylighting and passive solar gains 

• using high levels of insulation and air tightness in the fabric of the building 

• specifying energy efficient services, controls and appliances 

• implementing water recycling and the provision of water butts 

• using renewable energy 

• using low/zero carbon technologies to provide as much of the energy load as is 
technically and economically feasible, minimising use of fossil fuels; and  

• using efficient fossil fuel technologies, such as Combined Heat and Power and 
condensing boilers.  

  
7.11.5 A Sustainability Strategy has been submitted with the application which outlines the key 

measures to be incorporated within the design in regard to sustainability, carbon 
emissions, renewable energy and environmental impacts of the development. The report 
confirms that the proposed development could achieve carbon and energy reductions 
through the inclusion of energy efficient measures and Low and Zero Carbon 
technologies including air source heat pumps and solar panels. The development would 

Page 51



 

 

34 
 

achieve an EPC A rating, as such, it is in accordance with Policy SP2 by taking a positive 
approach to energy use and with Policy FP1 by incorporating measures to address 
adaption to climate change. 

 
7.11.6 An Energy Statement has also been submitted which sets out the existing utilities on the 

site. The statement concludes that there should be sufficient capacity within the gas and 
water networks to support the proposed development. The applicant has committed to 
a minimum of BREEAM ‘Excellent’, which complies with emerging Local Plan policy GD2 
‘Design certification’. 

 
7.11.7 Given the above, and subject to conditions securing the measures identified to address 

adaptation to climate change, the development would exceed the requirements of the 
existing policy FP1, with the emerging policies carrying moderate weight. 

 
7.12 Planning Obligations 
 
7.12.1 The following planning obligations would be attached to any planning permission: 
 

• Requirement to enter into a S278 Agreement of the Highways Act 1980 (covering 
access works) 

• Strand 2 Highways works equivalent to £67,731 

• £6,000 Travel Plan evaluation and support fee (to cover 5 years) 

• Local Employment and Apprenticeships 

• Monitoring fee 

• Habitat Monitoring and Management Plan (HMMP) for on-site BNG 
 
7.12.2 The above obligations have been agreed with the applicant and Hertfordshire County 

Council as Highway Authority (where relevant) and would be secured via a Section 106 
Agreement, subject to planning permission. 

 
7.13 Other Matters  
 
  Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
7.13.1 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 

Schedule on 1 April 2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure 
projects based on the type, location and floor space of a development, in line with the 
rates shown in the table below. 

  

Development Type CIL Rate (£ per square metre) 

 Zone 1: Stevenage 
Central, Stevenage West 

Urban Extension and 
North of Stevenage 

Extension 

Zone 2: Everywhere else 

Residential  

Market housing £40/m2 £100/m2 

Sheltered housing £100/m2 

Extra care housing £40/m2 

Retail development £60/m2 

All other development £0/m2 

 
7.13.2 CIL is a non-negotiable charge. The exact charge will be determined by the Council’s 

CIL officer after an application has been granted in accordance with the CIL Charging 
Schedule and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
Opportunities for relief or exemption from the CIL charge exist and will be taken into 
account in the calculation of the final CIL charge. 

Page 52



 

 

35 
 

 
7.13.3 CIL replaces the need for S106 agreements to specify financial and/or land contributions 

for non-site-specific infrastructure projects. This allows infrastructure to be planned on a 
borough-wide scale rather than on a site-by-site basis as mitigation against the impacts 
of individual proposals. A CIL Form 1: Additional Information has been submitted along 
with the application. The development would be CIL liable at £0/m². 

 
              Human Rights and Equalities 
 
7.13.4 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a 
violation of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
7.13.5 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully 

aware of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the 
decision that they are taking. Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation 
of any potential impact of that decision on the Council's obligations under the Public 
Sector Equalities Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully 
consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
7.13.6 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) 
foster good relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 
7.13.7 The proposal would provide disabled spaces in the most accessible carpark location, 

level access to all parts of the site and disabled toilets / internal lift to ensure the site is 
accessible to all. The proposed development would not have any material impact on 
persons with any of the protected characteristics listed under the Equalities Act. 

 

8 CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 This application seeks planning permission for the construction of 1no. detached building 
for Use Classes E(g)(iii) and B8 (flexible) use and 2no. semi-detached buildings for Use 
Classes E(g)(iii), B2 and B8 (flexible) use, including access, servicing, parking, hard and 
soft landscaping, and associated works. The site is located within the designated 
employment area of Gunnels Wood, which is identified to deliver industrial and logistic 
uses. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable in principle. 

 
8.2 The proposal would contribute to modernising the employment floorspace in Stevenage, 

helping to address the identified shortfall in floorspace being delivered over the Local 
Plan period by redeveloping the site for the proposed uses. The buildings have been 
designed to create a high-quality frontage, particularly at the southwestern corner to 
provide a positive design feature and creating an active frontage along Gunnels Wood 
Road. Additional landscaping would be incorporated throughout the site and the 
proposals would meet BREEAM Excellent and EPC A standard. Further, the proposal 
has been carefully designed so as to not cause undue harm to nearby residents and 
would not prejudice highway safety.  

 
8.3 Having regard to the above, the proposal is considered to accord with the development 

plan when read as a whole. In the absence of any other material considerations which 
indicate that permission should be refused, it is recommended that planning permission 
be granted.  

Page 53



 

 

36 
 

 

9  RECOMMENDATION 
 

9.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the applicant having first entered into 
a S106 Agreement to secure/provide contributions towards: 
 

• S278 Agreement (covering access works) 

• Strand 2 Highway works (£67,731) 

• £6000 Travel Plan evaluation and support fee 

• Local Employment and Apprenticeships 

• Monitoring fee 

• Habitat Monitoring and Management Plan (HMMP) for on-site BNG 
 

9.2  The detail of which would be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and 
Regulation in liaison with the Council’s appointed solicitor, along with the 
recommendations of the Lead Local Flood Authority, as well as the imposition of suitable 
safeguarding conditions.  

 
9.3 Authority would be given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation in 

consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to the suggested 
draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being issued, where such 
amendments or additions would be legally sound and most effectively deliver the 
development that the Planning Committee has resolved to approve. These suggested 
conditions are as follows: 

 

  Conditions 

1.           The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:  

 24059-HAL-PL003-O; 418.063138.00001_AT_A01; 24059-HAL-PL001-A; BEA 25-007-
01; 418.063138.00001_AT_A02-REV A; BEA 25-007-02; 0527-ESS-00-ZZ-DR-E-2100 
P1; BEA 25-007-04 P07; BEA 25-007-05 P02; BEA 25-007-06 P02; 24-029-IANDL-D00 
P2; HAL-PL002-A; 24059-HAL-PL005-A; 24059-HAL-PL006-B; HAL-PL010-C; HAL-
PL011-B; HAL-PL012-C; HAL-PL013; HAL-PL020-C; HAL-PL021-B; HAL-PL022-D; 
HAL-PL023-A; BEA 25-007-03 P02. 

 
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  

REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
3.            No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, including elements 
of the CLOCS standards as set out in the Highway Authority’s Construction Management 
template. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Plan: The Construction Management Plan shall include 
details of: 

• Construction vehicle numbers, type and routing. 

• Access arrangements to the site. 

• Traffic management requirements. 

• Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 
loading / unloading and turning areas). 

Page 54



 

 

37 
 

• Siting and details of wheel washing facilities. 

• Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway. 

• Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and 
to avoid school pick up/drop off times. 

• Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 
activities. 

• Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary 
access to the public highway. 

• Where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted 
showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding which must be 
kept within the site boundary, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle 
movements. 

• Phasing plan. 

• Hours of working (including deliveries and waste removal). 

• All plant necessary for construction and demolition. 

• Noise and vibration mitigation measures with particular attention paid to piling, 
power floating, and vacuum excavation activities where these activities are to be 
undertaken. 

• Dust and smoke mitigation measures. 

• Site lighting and off-site mitigation measures.  
 

REASON:- In the interests of local amenity and in order to protect highway safety and 
the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy FP7 and Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
4. Prior to the first occupation / use of the development hereby permitted the vehicular 

access shall be completed and thereafter retained as shown on drawing number (418-
063138-00001-PD02 Rev A) in accordance with details/specifications to be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the highway 
authority. Prior to use appropriate arrangements shall be made for surface water to be 
intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the 
highway carriageway.  

   
REASON: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous 
material or surface water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 

5. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, arrangement shall be made 
for surface water from the proposed development to be intercepted and disposed of 
separately so that it does not discharge onto the highway carriageway.  

 
REASON: To avoid the carriage of extraneous material or surface water from or onto 
the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 
2018). 

 
6. Prior to the first occupation / use of the development hereby permitted a visibility splays 

measuring 31metres shall be provided to each side of the access where it meets the 
Cycle Track on Bessemer Drive and such splays shall thereafter be retained at all times 
free from any obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent 
highway carriageway.  

 
REASON: To ensure that the level of visibility for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles is 
satisfactory in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Part 3, Chapter 8, page 
153 of Hertfordshire’s Place & Movement Planning and Design Guide. 

 

Page 55



 

 

38 
 

7. Prior to first occupation / use details of the secure and covered cycle parking storage 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The cycle 
parking shall thereafter be constructed and laid out in accordance with the agreed details 
and completed prior to occupation of the development hereby approved and shall 
thereafter be retained, maintained, and kept available for the occupants of the 
development at all times. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking that meets the needs of 
occupiers of the proposed development and in the interests of encouraging the use of 
sustainable modes of transport in accordance with Policies 1, 5 and 8 of Hertfordshire’s 
Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
8. Prior to the first occupation / use of the development hereby permitted the car parking 

layout including servicing bays shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
detailed technical plans and thereafter retained and maintained at all times at the 
position shown. 

 
REASON:- To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous 
material or surface water from or onto the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
9. Prior to the commencement of the development to which this permission relates 

(excluding site clearance and demolition), the results of a phase 2 site investigation and 
full written details of any necessary remediation works or controls shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall then be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASON: To ensure that the site does not pose any risk to human health and to ensure 
that the development does not contribute to unacceptable concentrations of pollution 
posing a risk to public water supply from previously unidentified contamination sources 
at the development site and to prevent deterioration of groundwater and/or surface water 
by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan have been met 
and that remediation of the site is completed. 

 
10. In the event that any previously unidentified ground contamination is discovered on the 

site, no further construction work may be carried out in the affected area until full written 
details of any necessary remediation works or controls has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall then be 
carried out in accordance with the approved remediation strategy. 

              
REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any risk to human health and to ensure 
that the development does not contribute to unacceptable concentrations of pollution 
posing a risk to public water supply from previously unidentified contamination sources 
at the development site and to prevent deterioration of groundwater and/or surface water 
by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan have been met 
and that remediation of the site is completed. 

 
11. Where any development to which this permission relates is required to be carried out in 

accordance with a remediation scheme approved by the local planning authority, a 
verification report (setting out the remedial measures actually undertaken on the site) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the 
beneficial occupation of the development. 

  
REASON:- To ensure that the site does not pose any risk to human health and to ensure 
that the development does not contribute to unacceptable concentrations of pollution 
posing a risk to public water supply from previously unidentified contamination sources 
at the development site and to prevent deterioration of groundwater and/or surface water 

Page 56



 

 

39 
 

by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan have been met 
and that remediation of the site is completed. 

 
12. The development hereby permitted shall not come into operational use until a verification 

report containing evidence of compliance with the maximum off-site artificial lighting 
levels and temporal controls as set out in External Lighting Report by Engineering 
Services Consultancy Limited (reference 0527/ESS/00/ZZ/RP/Z/0016, dated 27/2/2025) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
luminaires and associated lighting equipment authorised shall thereafter be retained, 
operated, and maintained in accordance with the above report and manufacturers’ 
specifications.  

 
REASON: In the interests of the amenities of nearby existing land users in accordance 
with Local Plan Policy FP7. 

 
13. The development hereby permitted shall not come into operational use until a verification 

report containing evidence that noise levels do not exceed those set out in Table 3, Table 
4, Table 5, Table 6, and Table 7 of the Noise Impact Assessment report by Hoare Lea 
Acoustics LLP (10-16004, Rev. 01, dated 30/04/2025) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. All external plant shall thereafter be 
retained, operated, and maintained in accordance with manufacturers’ specifications.  

 
REASON: In the interests of the amenities of nearby existing residential occupiers in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy FP7 

  
14.         The development to which this permission relates shall be carried out in accordance with 

the external materials specified on drawing numbers HAL-PL012-C and HAL-PL022-D 
submitted as approved or any alternative to be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

  
15.         All soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details as 

shown in drawing number BEA 25-007-04 P07 to a reasonable standard in accordance 
with the relevant British Standards or other recognised Codes of Good Practice. 

  
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

  
16.          All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 

carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the completion of the 
development. 

  
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

 
17. Any trees or plants comprised within the scheme of landscaping, which within a period 

of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others 
of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 
  
18.        No tree shown retained on the approved landscaping scheme, shall be cut down, 

uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be topped or lopped within five years 
of the completion of development without the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

             

Page 57



 

 

40 
 

REASON:- To ensure the protection of those trees which should be retained in the 
interests of visual amenity.  

  
19.       The measures to address adaptation to climate change as set out within the Energy and 

Sustainability Strategy and BREEAM Pre-Assessment by Engineering Services 
Consultancy Ltd shall be implemented and permanently maintained in accordance with 
the approved details. 

  
REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change through provision 
of energy and water efficiency measures. 

  
20.       Prior to the first occupation / use of the approved development a Species Enhancement 

Plan/Report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The Plan/Report from an appropriately qualified ecologist shall confirm that all the 
proposed species enhancement features as identified and approved in the Ecological 
Appraisal and Ecological Enhancement Strategy produced by FPCR Environment and 
Design (specifications and locations), have been installed, together with photographic 
evidence, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The species enhancement features once completed shall be permanently maintained in 
accordance with the approved details.    

 
 REASON:- To enhance the ecological value of the site.  
 
21. At least 3 months prior to the first occupation / use of the approved development a 

detailed Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highways Authority. The approved 
Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable and target contained 
in therein and shall continue to be implemented as long as any part of the development 
is occupied subject to approved modifications agreed by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority as part of the annual review.  

 
REASON: To ensure that sustainable travel options associated with the development 
are promoted and maximised to be in accordance with Policies 3, 5, 7, 8, 9 and 10 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
 Pro-active Statement 
 
 Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 

through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during 
the determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. The Council has 
therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

 
 INFORMATIVES 
 
1. Extent of Highway: Information on obtaining the extent of public highway around the 

site can be obtained from the HCC website: 
www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-to-your-
road/extent-of-highways.aspx  

 
2. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 

with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land 
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the 
public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further  information is available via 
the website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-

Page 58

http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-to-your-road/extent-of-highways.aspx
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/changes-to-your-road/extent-of-highways.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx


 

 

41 
 

pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx  

 
3. Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for 

any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or 
partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before construction works commence. Further information is available via 
the County Council website at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-
roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx 

 
4. Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways 

Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish 
on a made up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of 
any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical 
means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during 
construction of the development and use thereafter are in a condition such as not to 
emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 
available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
5. Avoidance of surface water discharge onto the highway: The applicant is advised that 

the Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the Highways Act 1980, to take 
appropriate steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to the occupier of premises 
adjoining a highway) to prevent water from the roof or other part of the premises falling 
upon persons using the highway, or to prevent so far as is reasonably practicable, 
surface water from the premises flowing on to, or over the footway of the highway. 

 
6. Works within the highway (section 278): The applicant is advised that in order to 

comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter 
into an agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under 
Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the 
access and associated road improvements. The construction of such works must be 
undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, and by a 
contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. Before works commence 
the applicant will need to apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements. Further information is available via the County Council website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-i nformation/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
7. Construction Management Plan (CMP): The purpose of the CMP is to help developers 

minimise construction impacts and relates to all construction activity both on and off site 
that impacts on the wider environment. It is intended to be a live document whereby 
different stages will be completed and submitted for application as the development 
progresses. A completed and signed CMP must address the way in which any impacts 
associated with the proposed works, and any cumulative impacts of other nearby 
construction sites will be mitigated and managed. The level of detail required in a CMP 
will depend on the scale and nature of development. The CMP would need to include 
elements of the Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLOCS) standards as 
set out in our Construction Management template, a copy of which is available on the 
County Council’s website at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-
and-pavements/business-and-developer-i nformation/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx  

 

Page 59

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


 

 

42 
 

8. Abnormal loads and importation of construction equipment (i.e. large loads with: a width 
greater than 2.9m; rigid length of more than 18.65m or weight of 44,000kg - commonly 
applicable to cranes, piling machines etc.): The applicant is directed to ensure that 
operators conform to the provisions of The Road Vehicles (Authorisation of Special 
Types) (General) Order 2003 in ensuring that the Highway Authority is provided with 
notice of such movements, and that appropriate indemnity is offered to the Highway 
Authority. Further information is available via the Government website 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/abnormal-load-movements-application-and-
notification-forms or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
9. Travel Plan (TP): A TP, in accordance with the provisions as laid out in Hertfordshire 

County Council’s Travel Plan Guidance, would be required to be in place from the first 
occupation/use until 5 years post occupation/use. A £1,200 per annum (overall sum of 
£6000 and index-linked RPI March 2014) Evaluation and Support Fee would need to be 
secured via a Section 106 agreement towards supporting the implementation, 
processing and monitoring of the full travel plan including any engagement that may be 
needed. Further information is available via the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-
management.aspx OR by emailing travelplans@hertfordshire.gov.uk 

 
10. A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be required for 

discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is 
deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 
Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer. Permit enquiries 
should be directed to Thames Water’s Risk Management Team by telephoning 020 3577 
9483 or by emailing trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk.  Application forms should be 
completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk. Please refer to the Wholesale; Business 
customers; Groundwater discharges section. 

 
11. Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 
2020. This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact 
the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even 
if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement 
under Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) that CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and 
acknowledged by Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do 
so will mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be 
imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required for residential 
extensions if relief has been granted.  

 
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on 
the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL 
Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 

 
12. The proposed development is located within 15 metres of Thames Waters underground 

assets and as such, the development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate 
measures are not taken. Please read our guide ‘working near our assets’ to ensure your 
workings are in line with the necessary processes you need to follow if you’re considering 
working above or near our pipes or other structures. 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-
development/working-near-our-pipes. Should you require further information please 
contact Thames Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk Phone: 0800 
009 3921 (Monday to Friday, 8am to 5pm) Write to: Thames Water Developer Services, 
Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, Berkshire RG1 8DB 

Page 60

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/abnormal-load-movements-application-and-notification-forms
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/abnormal-load-movements-application-and-notification-forms
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-management.aspx
mailto:trade.effluent@thameswater.co.uk
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/
mailto:CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes
mailto:developer.services@thameswater.co.uk


 

 

43 
 

 
13. The applicant is advised of the Council’s powers under Part III of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 to probit nuisances arising from noise, artificial light, and a range of 
other pollutants that may arise from commercial premises. 

 
14. To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 

Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning 
us on 01438 879990. 

 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 
https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/payment can be made online or by 
phoning the above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone 
Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building 
Control Ltd, Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6AE. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and 
fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter 
of the work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

 
Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 
Concrete oversite 
Insulation 
Drains (when laid or tested) 
Floor and Roof construction 
Work relating to fire safety 
Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
Completion 

 
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to 
ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 

 
15. The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 
development may not begin unless: 

 
a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
b) the planning authority has approved the plan. 

 
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity 
Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be Stevenage Borough 
Council.   

 
Based on the information available, this permission is considered to be one which will 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because 
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements are considered to apply. 

 
Where the local planning authority considers that the permission falls within paragraph 
19 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the permission which 
has been granted has the effect of requiring or permitting the development to proceed 
in phases. The modifications in respect of the biodiversity gain condition which are set 
out in Part 2 of the Biodiversity Gain (Town and Country Planning) (Modifications and 
Amendments) (England) Regulations 2024 apply. 

 

Page 61



 

 

44 
 

Biodiversity gain plans are required to be submitted to, and approved by, the planning 
authority before development may be begun, and, if subject to phased development, 
before each phase of development may be begun (Phase Plans). 

 
If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are additional 
requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans.  The Biodiversity 
Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps taken or to be taken to 
minimise any adverse effect of the development on the habitat, information on 
arrangements for compensation for any impact the development has on the biodiversity 
of the irreplaceable habitat.  

 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the 
adverse effect of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is 
minimised and appropriate arrangements have been made for the purpose of 
compensating for any impact which do not include the use of biodiversity credits. 

 
More information can be found in the Planning Practice Guidance online at  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain.    

 
16. If European Protected Species (EPS), including bats and great crested newts, or 

evidence of them, are discovered during the course of works, work must stop 
immediately, and advice sought on how to proceed lawfully from an appropriately 
qualified and experienced Ecologist or Natural England to avoid an offence being 
committed.  

 
To avoid the killing or injuring of wildlife during development, best practice should keep 
any areas of grass as short as possible and any longer, ruderal vegetation should be 
cleared by hand. To avoid creating refugia that may be utilised by wildlife, materials 
should be carefully stored on-site on raised pallets and away from the boundary habitats. 
Any trenches on site should be covered at night or have ramps to ensure that any 
animals that enter can safely escape, and this is particularly important if excavations fill 
with water. Any open pipework with an outside diameter greater than 120mm must be 
covered at the end of each working day to prevent animals entering / becoming trapped. 

 
In order to protect breeding birds, their nests, eggs and young, demolition or vegetation 
clearance should only be carried out during the period October to February inclusive. If 
this is not possible then a pre-development (i.e. no greater than 48 hours before 
clearance begins) search of the area should be made by a suitably experienced 
ecologist. If active nests are found, then works must be delayed until the birds have left 
the nest or professional ecological advice taken on how best to proceed. 

 

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 

number relating to this item. 
 
2.  The Stevenage Local Plan 2011-2031. 
 
3. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

SPD (2025); Developer Contributions SPD (2025); Design Guide SPD (2025). 
 
4. Hertfordshire County Council Local Transport Plan LTP4 2018-2031 
 
5. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 

and the National Planning Practice Guidance. 
 

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain


 

 

45 
 

6. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Part I – Release to Press 
 

 

 

 

 

The Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9 September 2025  

Author: Rebecca Elliott  

Lead Officer: Alex Robinson   

Contact Officer: Rebecca Elliott   

Application Nos: 25/00424/FP 

Location: Stevenage Swimming Centre 

St. Georges Way 

Stevenage. 

Proposal: 

 
 

Demolition of existing Swimming Centre and erection of new sports and 
leisure centre with associated parking, landscaping and access. 

 

Drawing Nos. SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0163 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0164 Rev 
P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0140 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0142 
Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0141 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-
0143 Rev P01; FB-SK-4036-250519-AS-001; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-
0110 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0111 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-
D-A-0112 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0113 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-
01-ZZ-D-A-0119 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0114 Rev P01; SSLH-
FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0150 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0151 Rev P01; 
SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0152 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0153 Rev 
P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0170 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0183 
Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0171 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-
0172 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0173 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-
A-0174 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0180 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-
ZZ-D-A-0181 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0182 Rev P01; SSLH-
WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0400 Rev P01; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0501 Rev P02; 
SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0502 Rev P02; SSLH-SWH-ZZ-XX-D-C-0910 
Rev P02; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0160 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-
0161 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0162 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-
D-A-0100 Rev 02; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0101 REV 02; SSLH-FBA-01-
ZZ-D-A-0102 REV 02; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0103 REV 02; SSLH-
WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0101-S3 REV 13; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0102-S3 
REV 09; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0103-S3 REV 09; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-
D-L-0300-S3 REV 05; 

Applicant: Stevenage Borough Council 

Date Valid: 3 June 2025 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4



 

 

2 
 

 
Plan for information purposes only 

 

1. SITE DESCRIPTION 

 
1.1 The proposal site is the existing Stevenage Swimming Centre and surrounding land. The 

site is located on the eastern side of St Georges Way and is bounded to the north by 
Fairlands Way. To the east is the Town Centre Gardens and residential flatted blocks 
which overlook the gardens. The Bowes Lyon Centre is sited to the south of the site, 
including an existing footway connecting St Georges Way to the Town Gardens. Beyond 
St Georges Way is the Town Centre, with the approved life sciences quarter to be 
immediately to the west on the site of the existing The Forum shopping area.  

 
1.2 The site is accessed by vehicles coming off St Georges Way to the south of the building, 

entering one of the two car parks serving the centre before heading north around the 
eastern side of the building to the second car park to the north. The site is exited to the 
north on to Fairlands Way. The existing building has a larger block located centrally, with 
single storey elements wrapping around the front and northern side of the building.   

  

2. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

2.1 There have been various permissions granted in the past for advertisements, but these 
are not particularly relevant to this planning application. 

 
2.2 Full planning application reference 99/00492/FP for the refurbishment, recladding, 

refacing and entrance extension was approved on 28.02.2000. 
 

Page 66



 

 

3 
 

2.3 Planning permission reference 06/00181/FP for access road alteration, refurbishment of 
north car park and construction of new south car park including coach drop off point and 
canopy assembly point was approved on 25.06.2006. 

 
2.4 Planning permission reference 09/00397/FP for retention of combined heat and power 

unit adjacent to the north elevation of the building was approved on 13.01.2010. 
 

3. THE CURRENT APPLICATION 

3.1 The proposed development seeks full planning permission for the erection of a new 
Leisure Centre to include a 25m 10 lane swimming pool, teaching pool, splash pad, soft 
play, sports hall, gym and studio spaces. The building would also provide a café, as well 
as dry and wet mixed changing facilities.   

 
3.2 The building would see the relocation of existing swimming facilities from the 

neighbouring Swimming Centre which is to be demolished. Furthermore, facilities 
currently located at the Stevenage Arts and Leisure Centre off Lytton Way would also 
be relocated to the new Leisure Centre.   

 
3.3 The proposed new building would be sited on land to the south of the existing swimming 

centre. The building would be approximately 19.8m in height at its highest point and 
would have a lower section located closest to the Town Centre Gardens with a proposed 
height of approximately 14.5m. The overall form of the proposed building is rectangular 
with clean lines and a flat roof. The modern design includes a colonnade entrance along 
the northern elevation marking the link between the site and the town centre to the west. 
The double height colonnade would have piers holding up the second and third floors 
above. The main entrance is located to the east of the covered walkway and provides 
open views through to the Town Centre Gardens because of the use of glazing.  

 
3.4 The building would be three storeys at the eastern end, closest to the gardens. This 

would facilitate the teaching pool, splash pad, soft play and café at ground floor level. 
The café area is proposed to be double height to create a focal point on entrance and to 
provide a modern and airy space for members of the public to enjoy. Views would be 
east across the adjacent gardens.  

 
3.5 The larger part of the centre would be four storeys and provides the floor space for the 

25m 10 lane swimming pool and sports hall above. Both elements would be double 
height, with the sports hall sitting over the swimming pool space. Wet changing facilities 
would sit between the teaching and swimming pools to the south of the building. The 
third floor is comprised of the gym, with studio spaces and spectator seating on the first 
floor. Areas of dry changing would be on both these floors.  

 
3.6 The building materiality would have a render over brickwork plinth up to the second floor, 

with aluminium curtainwall vertical cladding above. Much of the ground and first floors 
would have large expanses of glazing to provide views through the building. However, 
the elevations surrounding the sports hall and back of house areas would be fully 
enclosed and finished in the respective cladding.  

 
3.7 Vehicular access would be off a two-way access point from Fairlands Way to the north 

east of the site. The access would lead to a 53 space car park, with disabled spaces, 
and cycle parking. The space would be landscaped around the edges, including SuDS 
features such as swales.      

 
3.8 This application comes before the Planning and Development Committee as the 

development is a major strategic development submitted by Stevenage Borough Council 
as the applicant and landowner.  

Page 67



 

 

4 
 

 

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

4.1 Following notification of the application via letter to the Bowes Lyon Centre, the posting 
of four site notices and a press advert, the following comments have been received. 

 

• The swimming pool should be a minimum of 2m in depth to enable the existing 
artistic swimming club to continue training; 

• The reduction in depth of the swimming pool to 1.8m would see the closure of 
the artistic swimming club as there are no nearby facilities with an adequate 
depth pool; 

• The reduction in car parking space numbers will prevent use of the centre by 
families, and leave the car park congested as people try to find or wait for 
spaces; 

• The new facility would not have a dedicated indoor space for bowls, as currently 
available at the leisure centre.   

 
4.2 These comments are not verbatim. Full comments can be viewed online.  

 

5. CONSULTATIONS 
 

5.1 Hertfordshire County Council Highways Authority 
 
 Introduction 
5.1.1 This is a full planning application for redeveloping the existing Stevenage Swimming 

Centre (SSC) located in the corner of St. George Way and Fairlands Way. The new 
Leisure Centre will include swimming, studios, gym space and flexible sports facilities. 
The project involves the consolidation of the existing buildings onto one site and the 
existing Leisure Centre, and the current Swimming Centre would close following 
completion of the new Sports and Leisure Centre (SLC). It also proposes to change the 
existing site access arrangements such as, the existing access point (exit only) off 
Fairlands Way will be used for both in & out and the existing access (entrance only) off 
St. George Way will be closed permanently. 

 
 Site Description 
5.1.2 The site is located to the northeast of Stevenage Town Centre and is bounded to the 

west by St. Georges Way and to the north by a segregated pedestrian and cycle route 
which runs parallel to the A1155 Fairlands Way and continues under the Fairlands Way 
/ St Georges Way roundabout via a grade-separated network. Fairlands Way is a 40mph 
dual carriageway and St Georges Way, a 30mph dual carriageway. Current vehicular 
access to the site is via a left in (from St Georges Way) / left out access (to Fairlands 
Way) with two further minor access from St Georges Way to the north and south of the 
Bowes Lyon Centre. 

 
 Policy Review 
5.1.3 The key documents used to assess the application are. • National Planning Policy 

Framework dated (Dec 2024) • Hertfordshire Local Transport Plan LTP4 2018 • HCC's 
Place & Movement Planning Design Guidance adopted in March 2024 • HCC’s VXO 
Guidance 2021Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 • SBC parking Provision and 
Sustainable Transport SPD, Adopted 2025 • Stevenage Transport Strategy 2019 • 
Stevenage Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP). 

 
 Vehicular Access 
5.1.4 It is proposed that the existing vehicular access arrangements be modified. The 

submitted drawing (Ref: SSLH-SWH-01-XX-D-C-5510, Rev: P06) shows that the current 
entrance-only access from St. George Way will be permanently closed. On the other 
hand, the existing exit-only access from Fairlands Way will be converted to 

Page 68



 

 

5 
 

accommodate both entry and exit movements. This revised access arrangement is 
considered to be acceptable in principle. However, several issues were identified in the 
submitted Stage 1 and 2 Road Safety Audit (RSA) reports. The applicant has accepted 
the RSA’s recommendations and agreed to address them during implementation. The 
applicant is advised to contact the Development Management Implementation (DMI) 
team to obtain full technical approval prior to implementing these changes and will be 
secured through conditions 1 and 2. 

 
 Swept Path Analysis 
5.1.5 A set of swept path analysis drawings (Ref: SLH-SWH-ZZ-XX-D-C-0910, Rev: P03) has 

been submitted to demonstrate that large vehicles can safely enter and exit the site in a 
forward gear. The tracking diagrams have been reviewed and are considered acceptable 
from a highway perspective. 

 
 Visibility 
5.1.6 The proposed access arrangement drawing (Ref: SSLH-SWH-01-XX-D-C-5510, Rev: 

P06) illustrates a visibility splay of 2.4 metres by 65 metres in both directions at the site 
access onto Fairlands Way. In the interest of highway safety, it is recommended that 
Condition 3 be imposed to secure the provision and ongoing maintenance of this visibility 
splay for the lifetime of the development. 

 
 Trip Generation 
5.1.7 A Transport Assessment Addendum has been submitted, which includes the Trip 

Generation Forecasting Approach, Existing and Future Trip Generation, and Trip 
Generation Forecasting Sensitivity Tests – Vehicular Trips. Table 1B (Existing & 
Proposed Development – Summary Traffic Generation Sensitivity Test B, without 
discount in growth factor) indicates that the proposed development is expected to 
generate an additional 141 vehicular trips during the Saturday peak period. The Highway 
Authority considers that this level of additional traffic, when accounting for the omission 
of Bowls Club trips, the implementation of a Travel Plan, and the presence of linked trips, 
would not result in a significant impact on the local highway network. 

 
 Parking (Car & Cycle) & Footways / Cycleways 
5.1.8 The submitted Transport Assessment (Section: Future Uses, page 15) outlines the 

proposed parking provision as follows: 

 • Cycle Parking: 60 short-stay spaces (30 Sheffield stands) and 8 long-stay spaces with 
lockers. 

 • Car Parking: A total of 53 spaces, comprising 48 standard bays and 5 accessible bays.  
 
It is noted that this represents a reduction of 38 spaces from the existing car park. 
However, in the context of the local light car development policy, the Highway Authority 
considers the proposed on-site parking provision to be acceptable.  

 
5.1.9 As referenced in proposed Condition 4, all car and cycle parking bays/storage areas 

must be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced, and drained in accordance with the 
approved plans, and retained for their designated use prior to first occupation of the 
development. Furthermore, improvements to the existing footways—agreed with 
Stevenage Borough Council and identified as Key 10 on the Landscape Masterplan (Ref: 
SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0101 Rev-P13)—must be completed prior to first use of the 
development. These works will deliver a shared pedestrian and cycle path connecting to 
the proposed toucan crossing on St. George’s Way. 

 
 Travel Plan 
5.1.10 A Travel Plan (Ref: Morgan Sindall, May 2025) has been submitted in support of the 

development, with the aim of promoting sustainable travel modes such as walking and 
cycling and reducing reliance on private car use. The plan has been reviewed by 
Hertfordshire County Council’s Sustainable Travel Team, who have advised that the 

Page 69



 

 

6 
 

following additional information is required to meet the standards set out in the County 
Council’s Travel Plan Guidance: 

 • Confirmation of the appointed Travel Plan Coordinator (TPC). 

 • A statement indicating that a secondary contact will be provided to HCC once the TPC 
is appointed. 

 • An estimate of the time commitment allocated to the TPC role. 

 • A formal statement of senior management commitment to the implementation of Travel 
Plan measures. 

 • Clarification on whether the TPC will be based on-site or off-site, and whether the 
Travel Plan will be handed over to a management company. 

 • Additional measures to promote sustainable travel, such as the provision of 
personalised travel advice to employees. 

 • Revision of the monitoring and review schedule to annual intervals for five years post-
occupation, rather than the biannual frequency currently proposed.  

 
5.1.11 In light of the above, a revised Travel Plan must be submitted to address these shortfalls 

and ensure compliance with Hertfordshire County Council’s Travel Plan Guidance. The 
Travel Plan must remain in place for a minimum of five years following first occupation 
of the development. Furthermore, a Travel Plan Evaluation and Support Fee of £1,200 
per annum, index-linked to the Retail Price Index (RPI) from March 2014, should be 
secured through a Section 106 Agreement in accordance with the County Council’s 
guidance. 

 
 Conclusion 
5.1.12 In summary, the Highway Authority considers that the proposed development is unlikely 

to generate a significant volume of vehicular trips that would result in severe impacts on 
the local highway network. As such, it is not considered contrary to local or national 
transport policies, including LTP4 and paragraph 116 of the NPPF (2024). Accordingly, 
the Highway Authority raises no objection to the proposed development, subject to the 
conditions and additional information outlined above. 

 
5.2 Hertfordshire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority 
 
5.2.1 At the time of writing this report, the Council as Local Planning Authority is yet to received 

comments from the LLFA. Therefore, if comments are received prior to the meeting 
and/or the drainage strategy is agreed an update will be provided, otherwise it is 
anticipated Members will agree to delegate powers being granted to the Assistant 
Director of Planning and Regulation to impose any conditions advised on any response 
provided after the committee meeting.  

 
5.2.2 A decision will not be issued until the Legal Agreement associated with the development 

has been signed, which will allow time for relevant comments to be received. Therefore, 
comments will be fully considered prior to a decision being issued. However, if the LLFA 
raise an objection to this application and their concerns cannot be overcome, then this 
application will be referred back to the Planning and Development Committee for its 
decision. 

 
5.3 Environmental Health 
   
5.3.1 I have reviewed the documentation submitted in support of the above application and 

make the following observations (in the interest of clarity I have presented them as 
regards the two distinct phases of the development – demolition/construction and its 
operation thereafter). 

 
 Construction phase (noise, dust, smoke, etc.) 
5.3.2 The proposed development site is located in relative close proximity to a considerable 

number of dwellings many of which overlook it. The demolition and construction works 

Page 70



 

 

7 
 

associated with the redevelopment are likely to last some time and given the location of 
nearby housing are likely to impact on existing residential amenity if not undertaken with 
considerable care.  I would recommend a condition as a means of controlling pollution 
during demolition and construction works. 

 
 Construction phase (contaminated land) 
5.3.3 The Report on a Ground Investigation document prepared by Lucion Ground 

Engineering Limited (reference 111882, dated November 2024) satisfies, in my opinion, 
the requirement for a Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA) as set out in Local Plan Policy 
FP5. The report does not propose any remediation measures and therefore the only 
condition that is warranted relates to unexpected contamination encountered during the 
course of demolition/construction works. 

 
 Operation of site (external lighting) 
5.3.4 I note, in section 3.15 of the Design & Access Statement (FaulknerBrowns, May 2025), 

the comment that external lighting will be designed to meet a number of guidance 
documents including the ILP Guidance Note 01 - The reduction of Obtrusive Light. I 
welcome this approach. The ultimate detailed lighting scheme should reflect the Note’s 
guidance regarding the environmental zone classification of the site and how it will meet 
the challenges of managing light spill and reflected light given the presence of dwellings 
overlooking the development. I would recommend a condition so that lighting of the new 
centre does not adversely impact on the amenity of local residents. 

 
 Operation of site (local air quality) 
5.3.5 I understand that the existing combined heat & power plant will not be replaced as part 

of the proposed redevelopment of the site and therefore emissions to atmosphere 
associated with local combustion should not take place. Accordingly, there is no need 
for a specific assessment or condition as regards this aspect of local air quality 
management. 

 
 Operation of site (noise) 
5.3.6 Leisure centres typically employ significant plant in connection with their operations and 

much of this is located externally – this can give rise to noise problems if it is poorly 
located and/or there is insufficient mitigation. Local Plan FP7 requires applications to be 
submitted with sufficient information in order to assess their likely impact as regards 
matters such as noise, etc. The Noise Impact Assessment report authored by Anderson 
Acoustics Limited (reference 6816, dated 3/9/2024) proposes a maximum sound 
pressure level approach to the control of plant noise as the details of external equipment 
has yet to be finalised. In the absence of an assessment or mitigation measures as 
regards non-plant noise I suggest that these issues are dealt with via a combined 
condition. 

  
5.4 Active Travel England 
 
5.4.1 Following a high-level review of the above planning consultation, Active Travel England 

has determined that standing advice should be issued and would encourage the local 
planning authority to consider this as part of its assessment of the application. Our 
standing advice can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-
travel-england-sustainable-development-advice-notes  

 
5.5 Police Crime Prevention Officer 
 
5.5.1 Thank you for inviting me to comment on the proposal to demolish the existing Swimming 

Centre and develop a combined Swim and Fitness Centre. I have studied the documents 
submitted on the Councils planning web site and have the following comments to make. 
I have substantive concerns that issues around crime, disorder, and the fear of crime do 

Page 71

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-england-sustainable-development-advice-notes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/active-travel-england-sustainable-development-advice-notes


 

 

8 
 

not appear to have been considered within this scheme. This is contrary to National 
Planning Policy s 96(b) & s135(f).  

 
5.5.2 Having checked on www.police.uk for both the swimming pool and the existing leisure 

centre over the period of the first of May 2024 to the thirty-first of April 2025 there were 
seventy-six crimes recorded. Of these twenty involves assault (including sexual assault), 
twelve involved antisocial behaviour, there were twelve cycle thefts, two burglaries, two 
drug related crimes, and two reports of criminal damage/arson. This issue can be easily 
mitigated by engagement with Hertfordshire Constabulary’s Crime Prevention Design 
Service (CPDS) and the local Crime Prevention Design Advisor (CPDA) with a view to 
seeking to achieve accreditation to the Police preferred minimum security standard that 
is Secured by Design (SBD).  

 
5.5.3 I also have substantive concerns regarding the proposed mixed changing rooms. There 

have already been reports of voyeurism in the existing mixed changing facilities and this 
could increase if mixed facilities are provided. In addition, I am unsure how this complies 
with both Approved Document T of Building Regulations and the recent High Court ruling 
regarding Biological Sex. This could be mitigated by re-designing the facilities. By doing 
so would also demonstrate that the issue of violence towards women and girls has been 
considered.  

 
5.5.4 Given the concerns raised the Police are not in a position to support this application, 

although we do see the need for this facility. Should the project team engage with the 
CPDS & CPDA with a view to achieving SBD accreditation then we would be able to 
support it. 

 
5.6 Stevenage Borough Council Parks and Amenities 
 
5.6.1 We seek confirmation regarding the areas, if any, that are expected to be maintained by 

Stevenage Direct Services (SDS), as well as those areas that will be managed and 
maintained by the Leisure Operator or through other mechanisms. 

 
 Planting Selection 
5.6.2 The selection of native and ornamental plants is disproportionately skewed toward 

perennial/herbaceous species, raising concerns regarding maintenance and the long-
term aesthetic appeal of the planting. Presently, perennials constitute 65% of the 
selection, while shrubs account for 35%. It is imperative that the developer enhances 
the selection to prioritise low-maintenance shrubs as the predominant choice, targeting 
approximately 85% for shrubs in comparison to suitable low-maintenance perennial or 
herbaceous planting. 

 
5.6.3 Eupatorium cannabinum is not recommended for this location. Alchemilla mollis (Lady's 

mantle) can spread rapidly, leading to difficulties in the establishment of other species 
and posing challenges in maintenance. Therefore, this species must be replaced with a 
more suitable alternative, such as Sweet Box (Sarcococca confuse).  

 
5.6.4 Bulbs are not included in the preliminary planting plan. Consideration should be given to 

suitable naturalising bulb planting (not larger Narcissus spp.) to provide a burst of colour 
while avoiding additional maintenance challenges. 

 
 Trees 
5.6.5 Tillia cordata is not a suitable tree choice for the location due to the issues caused by 

aphid secretions, leading to cleansing challenges of surrounding surfaces and furniture. 
This must be substituted for a suitable alternative.  

 
5.6.6 The four newly proposed trees for the southeastern corner of the site are unlikely to 

establish at this location owing to the shade cast by the existing, large trees to the south. 

Page 72



 

 

9 
 

 
5.6.7 The number of proposed new trees for this site should be decreased to provide sufficient 

space for their growth. Any additional trees that need to be planted can be allocated off-
site, such as in nearby parks or open spaces, subject to agreement. 

 
 Material and Furniture Selection 
5.6.8 All hard surface areas must be suitable and accessible for mechanical sweeping. The 

landscaping details and plans propose the use of Grasscrete; however, none of the plans 
clearly specify the locations of these areas. Kindly confirm the exact locations of these 
areas so we can assess their suitability. 

 
5.6.9 We have concerns about the proposals for permeable block paving at the parking bays. 

While we recognise the importance of permeability, recent experience shows these 
areas are highly susceptible to weed growth and can appear untidy. We would welcome 
the opportunity to consider an alternative permeable sealed surface for these areas, 
such as permeable asphalt. 

 
5.6.10 We have concerns regarding the proposals for wooden picnic benches. Based on our 

experience, we recommend using more durable materials, such as all-metal options, for 
enhanced durability and ease of graffiti cleaning, among other benefits. Proposals 
should also seek to incorporate accessible and adapted picnic benches for wheelchair 
users. 

 
5.6.11 SDS shall not be liable for the upkeep and maintenance of the picnic tables and 

cafe/dining areas. We require details of proposed skate-stop features on the concrete 
benches to prevent use and damage by skateboarders, scooters, bikes, etc. Additionally, 
the concrete shall be treated with an anti-graffiti coating to enable easier removal. 

 
 Design and Access 
5.6.12 The proposed development encroaches minimally into the Town Centre Gardens, 

designated as a principal park/open space in the local plan. However, upon thorough 
review, we do not perceive that the proposals will adversely affect the park; rather, they 
present an opportunity for enhancement and improved accessibility to a café facility for 
park’s customers. The plans below highlighted in yellow indicate this encroachment. 

 
5.6.13 Given the new access points, there is a need to improve the path infrastructure in the 

park that leads to the proposed facility. The existing crushed gravel trail is worn and 
insufficient for the anticipated increase in foot traffic, and its current surface will create 
challenges for users with mobility issues. Furthermore, there may be a necessity to 
construct new paths along desire lines to minimise damage. 

 
5.6.14 We kindly request detailed information regarding the proposed protection measures 

(e.g., bollards) at strategic locations, such as the coach drop-off point, to prevent 
unauthorised vehicles from traversing the hard and soft landscaped areas. However, 
access must still be available to carry out relevant maintenance, deliveries, and other 
essential tasks. 

 
5.6.15 We express concerns regarding the planting around the parking areas, which, based on 

extensive experience, leads to maintenance difficulties. We endorse the implementation 
of appropriate tree planting and acknowledge the requirements for SuDS; however, we 
request that shrub and border planting not be implemented in the car park, as it will pose 
maintenance challenges, be susceptible to damage from trampling, and cause 
difficulties and safety issues if door-swing offsets and sightlines are not adequately 
considered. 

 
5.6.16 Certain proposed meadow areas may obstruct access for machinery needed to collect 

the arisings, particularly the area surrounding the proposed dry swale to the west of the 

Page 73



 

 

10 
 

site. Consequently, the developer must ensure that any meadow is suitably designed 
and planted or seeded exclusively for cutting, without necessitating the collection of the 
arisings. 

 
5.6.17 Furthermore, we advocate for the removal of the two beds (circled in yellow below) that 

are located to the west of the site and partially within the swales/fenced area. Due to 
their size, layout and location, they will cause difficulties for maintenance and shall be 
removed. 

 
5.6.18 The axonometric plans included in the DAS (Design and Access Statement) do not 

accurately represent the submitted landscaping plans. For instance, the proposals 
indicate the presence of new paths and planting in the Town Centre Gardens, yet this 
information is absent from the submitted landscaping drawings. We require confirmation 
regarding the landscaping proposals for the Town Centre Gardens. 

 
 Swales 
5.6.19 Please consult the Engineers regarding the design and maintenance of the proposed 

dry swales and their associated infrastructure, including the rain gardens, as they 
possess the necessary expertise in this matter. The proposals involve a timber knee rail 
surrounding each swale, which restricts access for the maintenance of the proposed 
grass, meadow, and shrubs within these areas, preventing the use of mechanical 
means. Consequently, it will only be feasible for SDS to conduct occasional hand cutting 
of the meadow and shrubs, specifically strimming once or twice per year, along with 
pruning once per year.  

 
5.6.20 Stevenage Direct Services shall not be responsible for undertaking any additional 

maintenance requirements concerning the SuDS. The landscaping drawing sheets refer 
to the ‘engineer’s designs’ for the swales. Could we please have sight of these?  
From experience, there is often a high-water table within the park, so this may require 
consideration for infiltration. 

 
5.6.21 Drawing D10, contained within ‘Landscape Details 1’, displays a cross-section of a rain 

garden directly adjacent to the cycle stands. However, this is not represented in the 
landscaping sheet drawings. Could the area next to the cycle parking be clarified as to 
whether this is a rain garden? Any planted beds that are directly adjacent to a hard 
surface must be designed to prevent soil and mulch from being washed onto the 
surrounding surfaces. 

 
5.6.22 The drawing for Landscape Sections 1 distinctly illustrates a timber kneel rail fence 

alongside the path and the proposed Rootlok wall. However, this information is absent 
from the Landscape Sheet drawings. Clarification is needed, as fencing must be installed 
due to the drop being immediately adjacent to the path. We advocate installing a metal 
knee rail instead of wood in this area for enhanced durability. 

 
5.6.23 SDS shall not bear responsibility for the maintenance of the proposed Rootlok wall. It 

shall be the obligation of the developer to ensure proper establishment in accordance 
with the manufacturer's guidelines (i.e., watering, weeding, managing burrowing 
animals, structural monitoring, etc.). SDS may occasionally be able to cut back the 
vegetation; however, due to the location, access will be restricted and must be 
conducted manually. 

 
5.6.24 The proposals do not incorporate any litter bins, which, considering the design and use, 

will be necessary. Litter bins shall match those currently in the Town Centre Gardens, 
and we require details on their proposed locations. The outdoor gym equipment currently 
situated in the park, which is scheduled for relocation, is aged and considerably worn. 
Consequently, it may not be feasible to relocate this equipment without incurring 
damage. Therefore, it may necessitate renewal. 

Page 74



 

 

11 
 

 
5.6.25 Although not clearly shown on the plans, the developer is responsible for ensuring that 

access to and from the new facility to the park is unobstructed and accessible to 
individuals of all abilities. Attention is drawn to the existing restrictions on cycling in the 
Town Centre Gardens. Although we support active travel, the developer needs to be 
aware of these limitations. 

 
5.6.26 Given the site’s close proximity to water, as well as the intention to introduce a café 

facility and eating areas, careful consideration must be given to designing the area to 
prevent rat and rodent activity. Attention is to be directed toward ensuring that planting 
does not encourage rodents to come close to the public, and that food and shelter areas 
are minimised. Although this is not my primary area of expertise, consideration could 
also be given to the inclusion of baiting stations or opportunities for rodent control. 

 
5.6.27 We recommend that consideration also be given to the inclusion of appropriate 

waymarking and directional signs leading to the new facility from the park. Discussions 
and approvals shall be conducted with SDS prior to the procurement and installation 
processes. The Green Space Volunteers, who regularly care for the planting within the 
Town Centre Gardens, would be interested in opportunities for a rodent-proof, secure 
composting enclosure facility to support their activities. 

 
5.6.28 While our Ecology Officer will offer additional advice and comments regarding this 

component (see section 5.12), we recognise the intention to meet the Biodiversity Net 
Gain requirements on the site. However, clarification is needed on the proposals for 
registering, implementing, managing, and monitoring these requirements. Any changes 
to the layout are likely to require a reassessment using the metric. Furthermore, once 
implemented, we must ensure that biodiversity enhancement targets are achieved, and 
it should be noted that limited or no changes to the scheme shall be permitted for at least 
30 years. 

 
5.7 Stevenage Borough Council Highways Department  
 
5.7.1 No comments received at time of drafting report. 
 
5.8 Hertfordshire County Council Growth and Infrastructure 
 
5.8.1 No comments received at time of drafting report. 
 
5.9 Stevenage Borough Council Tree Manager 
 
5.9.1 I have no objection to this application. 
 

Three points, however, still to consider and I mentioned them in a recent meeting with 
the developers: 

 
1. I see Lime trees have been suggested as part of the new planting design. I would 

advise against this species on this site due to the sap implications near cars, café, 
etc. 

2. The 4 new trees proposed for the south Eastern corner of the site are unlikely to 
thrive at this location due to the shade cast by the existing, large trees to the south. 

3. In my view, the number of proposed (new) trees for this site should be reduced 
considerably to allow enough space for them to mature. The remaining trees still 
needed to be plated can be located off site, within one of the nearby parks and open 
spaces. 

 
 
 

Page 75



 

 

12 
 

5.10.1 Cycling UK 
 
5.10.1 This objection is submitted by Cycling UK Stevenage, focusing exclusively on cycling 

infrastructure and access provisions within this application. Given the importance of this 
development to our whole community, we have looked at this application in great detail. 
However, these comments were written and should be read in context of what they mean 
in reality for users of this leisure for decades to come. For a Leisure Centre development 
the LTN 1/20 Summary Principle “Cycle infrastructure should be accessible to everyone 
from 8 to 80 and beyond” is imperative. 

 
5.10.2 In brief, we observed that: 

• The Transport Assessment and Design and Access Statement contain significant 
gaps: missing cycle traffic forecasting, incomplete cycle parking specifications, 
and inadequate cycling-specific analyses on several points. These documents 
must be completed before approval. 

• Multiple elements violate established policies—including Active Travel England 
guidance, LTN 1/20, and local planning requirements—requiring mandatory 
changes before approval. 

• We welcome several positive elements of this planning application. 
 

5.10.3 We welcome and approve of the amount of cycle parking, the ratio between car and 
cycle parking. Under important conditions we also welcome improvements to town 
centre accessibility, the attention to pedestrian infrastructure, the provision of secure 
cycle parking for staff. Active Travel England (ATE) has commented on this application, 
which underscores the significance of the development. Their response refers to their 
standing advice note. Much information is missing from the planning application, a 
significant part of which is stressed to be essential in the ATE advice note. 

 
5.10.4 Planning Application Assessment Toolkit missing: 1.12 of the ATE standing advice 

note encourages the completion of their Planning Application Assessment Toolkit for this 
planning application. This has not been done, risking the quality of included walking and 
cycling provision. 

 
5.10.5 Cycle traffic forecasting missing: ATE standing advice note 2.2 requires transport 

assessments to forecast volume and distribution of walking, wheeling, and cycling trips. 
It should also consider national targets when doing so. Forecasting was done for car 
traffic, but not for active travel. Before this is done, it cannot be assessed whether the 
proposed infrastructure is appropriate. 

 
5.10.6 Isochrone maps missing: 2.5 of the ATE standing advice note states “Trip lengths to 

key amenities should be derived from isochrone maps using an appropriate point within 
the application site, rather than straight-line distances from site boundaries or main 
access points.” However, straight line distances are used instead 

 
5.10.7 Cycling erroneously merged with walking: The application inappropriately merges 

cycling with walking in most instances. Cycles should be treated as vehicles, not 
pedestrians. Additionally, ATE advises in 2.4 of the standing advice note that “a 
qualitative analysis of local pedestrian, cycling and public transport infrastructure should 
be presented to inform any necessary improvements that would be compliant with 
current design standards.” 

 
5.10.8 The following examples demonstrate that cycle access is discussed only superficially 

compared to other modes of transport:  
1. The application fails to acknowledge that the leisure centre sits between two cycling-
prohibited zones (Town Centre and Town Centre Gardens). This is a major oversight 
and significantly severely compromises the accessibility of the site.  

Page 76



 

 

13 
 

2.The Transport Assessment Final Report states “The Town Centre and the surrounding 
area has an established network of footways and cycleways which provide access 
across the town centre, including to Stevenage Bus and Rail stations.” While correct for 
walking, cycling is banned in most of the town centre which makes this statement 
incorrect.  
3.Where access for pedestrians, using public transport, and for motor-vehicles is 
discussed, only cycle parking is mentioned without discussing access.  
4.Where active travel routes are discussed, ‘pedestrian and cycle routes’ connections 
are stated to have direct connectivity, but the report does not mention that for cycling 
this is only the case for 1 of the 4 routes listed.  
5.While the new toucan crossing is mentioned to also be for cycling, the report merges 
cycling and walking in such a way that it is unclear whose connectivity between the town 
centre and Town Gardens is improved. A map with a provided overview of “key access 
requirements for Pedestrians and Cyclists” is not usable without distinguishing between 
walking and cycling.  

 
5.10.9 Information about cycle parking cover missing: The cycle parking is mentioned to 

be covered but the specifics are not discussed. The cover is also not visible on the 3D 
renders. Without specifics it is not possible to evaluate whether the cover is appropriate 
(accessible design, sufficiently lit, sufficiently high), whether it interferes with the trees 
that are planned between the cycle parking, and whether it protects the cycles from the 
trees. 

 
5.10.10 Details on cycle lockers missing: Details on the specifics of the stands and the cycle 

lockers are missing and must be provided. HCC policy states that “The final design for 
cycle parking should form an integral part of any full or reserved matters planning 
application. Full details of the location, type of rack, spacing, numbers, security, method 
of installation and access to cycle parking should be submitted for approval.” This 
includes a confirmation of Secured by Design level 2 certification and a 10-year 
warranty. 

 
5.10.11 Cycle access from the south not discussed: Cycling access to and from the south 

(or the lack thereof) is not discussed, despite being a known issue and being featured 
in the LCWIP (see 8.4 for more on this). It is a known problem and St George’s Way 
features prominently in the LCWIP in the context of missing links and the potential to 
improve this as a part of the wider town centre regeneration. In sufficiently thorough 
planning application of a development of this size, this issue would be recognised and 
discussed. 

 
5.10.12 Non-compliance with relevant policies Point 1-7 focussed on where the information 

provided by the applicant is insufficient or missing. The following points lay out elements 
of the application that are not conform relevant policies and should be addressed before 
full planning approval is granted. 

 
5.10.13 Plans to improve cycle access from south needed: Direct cycling accessibility from 

the South of Stevenage and from Bedwell and the east is not discussed or improved. 
Consideration should be given to improvements. The current arrangement can be 
argued to be sub-optimal based on the local plan, LTN 1/20, Manual for Streets 2. 
Changes to accessibility to the leisure centre from the east can address missing links 
and improve accessibility to sports for an area with high levels of deprivation (Bedwell) 

 
5.10.14 ATE also points out that in 2.3 that ”measures to improve the accessibility of the location 

(such as provision/enhancement of nearby footpath and cycle path linkages) where 
these are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms” should be 
considered when formulating Transport Assessments. The toucan crossing does not 
improve accessibility to the leisure centre that start outside of the town centre as the 
town centre is not a cycling through route. Where the application identifies 4 pedestrian 

Page 77



 

 

14 
 

routes, only 1 route is of use to cycling. While this route is qualitative improvement over 
the current cycle access, quantitatively there is still only 1 route for cycling. 

 
5.10.15 There is no direct pedestrian link from Bedwell to the leisure centre. The local plan 

prioritizes the addressing of missing links11 and notes that Stevenage has areas of 
serious deprivation, particularly Bedwell. 

 
5.10.16 The cycle ban in the town gardens is against current best practice and planning should 

consider changes to this, now or in the near future. ATE states in 2.11 “the development 
should provide / safeguard pedestrian and cycling connections to neighbouring sites 
including future phases of development”. LTN 1/20 (section 1.4.1) states “Design should 
begin with the principle that all potential cyclists and their machines should be catered 
for in all cycle infrastructure design.”  

 
5.10.17 LTN 1/20 (section 7.4.3) states “There should always be a preference for allowing 

cyclists to access VRAs unless there is good evidence that this would cause significant 
safety problems. However, the possible impacts on pedestrians, and disabled people 
particularly, must be considered carefully. Visually impaired people, in particular, may 
not feel comfortable sharing a pedestrianised area with cyclists” and in 7.4.5 that 
“Pedestrian and cyclist flows, street widths, the availability and safety of alternative cycle 
routes and the demand for cycling through the area should be considered when deciding 
whether including cyclists in the restrictions is justified. Where they are judged necessary 
on safety grounds, restrictions on cycling may only be appropriate at certain times of 
day. For example, permitting cycling before 10am and after 4pm may enable commuter 
cycling, while avoiding the busiest periods of pedestrian activity. Cycling should not be 
restricted during any times when motor vehicles are permitted.” 

 
5.10.18 Manual for Streets 2 states in 2.3.11 “Where there are proposals to introduce vehicle 

restricted or pedestrianised areas, the starting position should be that cyclists are 
allowed to continue to use the streets concerned. If there are concerns about conflict 
between cyclists and pedestrians, the preferred approach is to allow cycling from the 
outset on the basis of an experimental traffic regulation order and only restrict access 
when and if the need has been demonstrated.” And continues in 2.3.12 with “Advice on 
this issue is set out in TAL 9/93 'Cycling in Pedestrian Areas'. This emphasises that, on 
the basis of research, there are no real factors to justify excluding cyclists from 
pedestrianised areas and that cycling can be widely permitted without detriment to 
pedestrians. This was confirmed by TRL report 583 'Cycling in Vehicle Restricted Areas' 
(2003)11 which established that cyclists alter their behaviour according to the density of 
pedestrian traffic by modifying their speed or dismounting.” 

 
5.10.19 Work on a new LCWIP is expected to start imminently. It will likely identify the cycle ban 

in the Town Gardens as a barrier to cycling whose removal is recommended. 
 
5.10.20 The new leisure centre will not have direct access to it from the south. Traffic free routes 

will require a considerable detour, while a low traffic route is complicated and indirect. 
Consideration should be given to how acceptable access from the south should be 
implemented. 

 
5.10.21 ATE states in 2.7 that off-site infrastructure to amenities and the cycle network should 

be coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive. This reinforces the LCWIP, which 
identifies in in 3.7.3 that St. George’s way is a missing link. The leisure centre, as a 
major destination, must address this problem in its plans. 

 
5.10.22 A new lay-by is to be created along St George’s Way. Sport England expressed 

concerns regarding the deliveries of pool chemicals needing to take place across the 
public realm. 13 The applicant must address any potential conflict that this might cause 

Page 78



 

 

15 
 

in the implementation of plans laid out in the LCWIP to add a cycleway to St George’s 
Way. 

 
5.10.23 Shared use path against govt policy: The cycle access to the site from Fairlands Way 

should not be shared use but should physically separate walking and cycling. In 2.8 ATE 
points out that “The development should not be reliant on shared use routes in full or 
intermittently, which conflicts with the government’s clear position in paragraph 1.6.1 (2) 
of LTN1/20 that cycles must be treated as vehicles and not as pedestrians.” And in 2.12 
ATE states “Alongside this, shared use routes for pedestrians and cyclists should only 
be proposed where these meet the limited situations listed in paragraph 6.5.6 of 
LTN1/20. Where shared use routes are acceptable, their widths should be at least 3m 
(<300 cyclists per hour) or 4.5m elsewhere, as per Table 6-3 of LTN1/20.” The 
exceptions that LTN1/20 mentions are not applicable or not shown to be applicable by 
the applicant. The specifications of the path are also not provided.  

 
5.10.24 Buffer between cars and cycles missing: The path to be used by people cycling is 

not fit for purpose because it will lead to the path running directly alongside St George’s 
Way. This is unsafe and uncomfortable for the groups expected to use the leisure centre, 
particularly if this path is to be shared use. 

 
5.10.25 ATE states in 2.7 that off-site infrastructure to amenities and the cycle network should 

be coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive. The volume of traffic on St 
George’s way makes it that there should be a buffer space between the cycle path and 
the motor traffic, which is preferred in LTN 1/20. The leisure centre is designed to be 
suitable for all visitors. The importance of this destination for vulnerable groups such as 
children and young people, and people with mobility issues who might be using adapted 
cycles means that safe access should be prioritised. Cycle infrastructure must be 
accessible to all and must be safe and perceived to be safe. 

 
5.10.26 Access to cycle parking is indirect: The route of the access path for cycling to the 

cycle parking must be made more direct. The proposed route is less direct than the route 
for cars. People cycling will need to curve around the car park and circumvent obstacles, 
to reach the cycle parking. It should be changed so that cycling is “at least as direct – 
and preferably more direct – than those available for private motor vehicles” to be 
compliant with LTN 1/20 and ATE advice note 2.11. The shortest route for people cycling 
is to enter the car park and cycle straight to the cycle parking. According to LTN 1/20 
indirect routes causes people cycling to choose alternative routes, even if these are less 
safe 

 
5.11 Sport England 
 
5.11.1 The planning application involves the redevelopment of the Stevenage Swimming 

Centre site in Stevenage town centre to provide a new leisure centre that would replace 
the existing swimming centre and the indoor sports facilities provided in the Stevenage 
Arts & Leisure Centre. The new leisure centre would be built on the site of the existing 
swimming centre’s car park and a new car park would be sited on the swimming centre’s 
building following its demolition. The existing swimming centre would remain operational 
until the new leisure centre is completed and operational.  

 
5.11.2 The new leisure centre will include the following facilities: 

 • 10 lane 25 x 21 metre main swimming pool 
 • 17 x 10 metre teaching pool 
 • Sauna and steam room 
 • 6 court sports hall 
 • Gym 
 • 3 x activity studios 
 • Spin studio 

Page 79



 

 

16 
 

 • Ancillary facilities including wet changing village, dry changing facilities, café, pool 
spectator seating and soft play centre. 

 
5.11.3 The existing Stevenage Swimming Centre includes a 33 x 12m 6 lane main pool, a 25m 

6 lane swimming pool and a 12 x 7 metre teaching pool. The facility was built in 1962 
and last had a major refurbishment in 2001. Due to its age it was not designed to meet 
current design guidance and is reaching the end of its lifespan. In particular, there is a 
need to renew the services and the building is not energy efficient. It is the only swimming 
facility in the Stevenage area that is publicly accessible (without the need for 
membership) and therefore plays a strategic role in meeting the community’s swimming 
needs.  

 
5.11.4 The new swimming pools would offer a significant net increase (from 480 sq.m to 695 

sq.m in total) in water space capacity Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model spatial 
planning tool indicates that due to the capacity and age of the existing Swimming Centre 
pools, only 57% of demand from Stevenage Borough residents for swimming pool water 
space is met by the existing facilities within the Borough. If the new leisure centre is built 
this figure is estimated to increase to 80% by 2031. In addition, the quality of the 
swimming pools and supporting changing facilities would be significantly improved as 
they would be modern and designed broadly in accordance with Sport England’s design 
guidance. 

 
5.11.5 However, as set out below in Swim England’s feedback, the depth of the proposed main 

pool would be 0.2 metres less than the minimum required for artistic swimming training. 
The club that currently uses the existing pool for artistic swimming training would 
therefore not be able to use the new facility and would be displaced. 

 
5.11.6 The existing Stevenage Arts & Leisure Centre includes an 8 court sports hall, 6 squash 

courts, a gym, an activity studio and supporting facilities. The facility was built in 1975 
and has similar issues with the services and energy efficiency as the swimming centre 
and is reaching the end of its lifespan. The new sports hall would be designed to meet 
current Sport England design guidance and would be intended for sports including 
badminton, netball, basketball, volleyball, trampolining, gymnastics and football/futsal. 
As well as a large new gym there would be two additional activity studios and a new 
dedicated spin studio would be provided in response to community demand. 

 
5.11.7 There would be a reduction in capacity in the sports hall from 8 courts in the existing 

leisure centre to 6 courts in the new facility. This is understood to be due to insufficient 
space to provide an 8 court hall on the application site. This would reduce sports hall 
capacity in Stevenage by two courts and would mean that current users of the sports 
hall that use all 8 courts at the same time would have less courts. Sport England’s 
Facilities Planning Model indicates that despite the net reduction in courts, 97% of 
demand for sports halls from Stevenage residents would still be satisfied by the supply 
of sports halls both within and outside of Stevenage after the development was 
implemented which would be the same as the existing level of satisfied demand being 
met. 

 
5.11.8 Other mitigating factors are that:  

• At present, a large proportion of weekend use of the Arts & Leisure Centre sports 
hall for much of the year is for events/functions which results in sports use being 
severely restricted. In the new facility, the sports hall would be dedicated to sports 
use at weekends. While the number of courts available at the same time would 
reduce, the overall capacity on a weekly basis to meet local sport related demand 
would be increased as there would be a significant net increase in capacity of 
the hall in terms of the hours available over a week. 

• While the reduction in the number of courts may have some impact on current 
users who book all 8 courts, Everyone Active has advised that Stevenage 

Page 80



 

 

17 
 

Pickleball Club who book the sports hall for two hours per week would be the 
only regular user of the sports hall affected. A futsal club and a karate club use 
all 8 courts for competitions but this is only for up to six times per year. Everyone 
Active has advised that they will offer the affected clubs longer blocks of time, 
more weekend slots and use of the activity studios to help mitigate the impacts. 

 
5.11.9 While the new leisure centre would not replicate all of the facilities of the existing 

Stevenage Swimming Centre and Stevenage Arts & Leisure Centre in terms of capacity 
or design and would clearly have impacts on some sports like artistic swimming and 
squash, these impacts need to be considered in the context of the significant investment 
proposed into the new leisure centre with modern facilities that would address the 
qualitative deficiencies of the facilities that they would replace as well as providing a 
financially sustainable leisure centre to operate over a long term period. The existing 
facilities are reaching the end of their lifespan and without significant investment into 
modernisation would be unlikely to be financially sustainable for a local authority to 
continue to operate over a long term period. Furthermore, as set out above as well as 
the improvements in design and quality, some of the facilities which are the most in 
demand by the community such as the swimming pools and activity studios would 
substantially increase in capacity. 

 
5.11.10 The design of the supporting facilities in the new leisure centre should also not be 

underestimated in relation to the impact that this will have on participation in sport and 
physical activity, especially from under-represented groups. The wet changing village, 
dry changing facilities, toilets, etc have all been to designed to maximise inclusion. Sport 
England’s general experience is that when new leisure centres such as that proposed 
open they attract and retain significantly greater numbers of users than the older facilities 
that they replaced, much of which is due to the enhanced quality of the sports and 
ancillary facilities as well as the facility mix being more responsive to current demands. 

 
5.11.11 A further benefit of the project is that it consolidates Stevenage’s two principal indoor 

sports facilities into a single facility which offers benefits for users (as they have greater 
choice of facilities to use e.g. family members can participate in different activities at the 
same time within the same building) as well as operational efficiencies due to the 
duplication in ancillary facilities, energy costs, staffing etc associated with operating two 
separate facilities. The central location of the facility within Stevenage combined with the 
proposed access improvements to the town centre will also help support access to the 
facility by users especially under-represented groups in sport/physical activity that are 
less likely to have access to their own vehicle. The improved pedestrian access offered 
by the proposal to the Town Gardens and the café facilities offered by the leisure centre 
would also be expected to support greater use of the Town Gardens for physical activity. 

 
 Sports National Governing Body Feedback 

Swim England 
5.11.12 The loss of deep water provision in the proposed main swimming pool is identified as an 

issue because a minimum of 2.0 metres depth is required in the deep end to meet Swim 
England’s design guidance https://swimming.org/library/documents/5843/download for 
training for artistic swimming (synchronised swimming) and 3.0m is required for 
competition. Swim England support the local artistic swimming club’s (Aqualina Artistic 
Swimming Club) requirement for this depth as this would allow the club to stay in 
Stevenage and continue to serve the local community. There is no suitable alternative 
provision available nearby and there is potential that the club would have to close 
therefore. The Inspire: Luton Sports Village has an area of the 50m pool which is up to 
5m deep but access to the pool is very restricted and the costs are high. The Council is 
recommended to discuss the matter further with the club and Swim England’s Eastern 
Region team in advance of the application being determined. 

 
 

Page 81

https://swimming.org/library/documents/5843/download


 

 

18 
 

 Badminton England 
5.11.13 While there was initial concern about the reduction of the sports hall from 8 courts to 6 

courts, this is not expected to significantly impact badminton usage. The badminton 
clubs currently based at the facility are relatively small, and the 6- court provision in the 
new leisure centre should be sufficient to meet their needs. The proposed sports hall 
colours are appropriate and align with Sport England design guidance. Badminton 
England are satisfied with the design approach. 

 
 England Netball 
5.11.14 The sports hall will accommodate a full sized netball court with run-off areas that align 

to England Netball’s technical guidance. 
 
 Football Foundation (representing the FA and Hertfordshire FA) 
5.11.15 Having reviewed the submitted floor plan, it is currently unclear which set of line 

markings are for futsal (due to the number of sports markings and the lack of colour 
coding). A plan showing the dimensions and run-offs for each sport would be helpful to 
allow informed comment to be made on their alignment with published guidance. The 
penalty spots are also not identified on the plan. It is recommended that these matters 
are addressed when the detailed specifications for the sports hall are prepared. 
Reference should be made to the FA Futsal Facilities Guide https://www.thefa.com/-
/media/files/pdf/get-into-football/small-sided-football/fa-futsal-facilities-guidance-
resource.ashx to inform the detailed specifications. 

 
 Design and Layout Considerations 
5.11.16 Sport England was engaged for pre-application advice by the applicant and feedback 

regarding facility design and layout considerations was provided. This feedback was 
considered by the applicant and several amendments have been made in response 
which have bene incorporated into the submitted plans which is welcomed by Sport 
England. The design and layout is considered to broadly accord with Sport England’s 
design guidance but as asset out above it is requested that the feedback from the sports 
governing bodies is considered before the application is determined. Sport England’s 
pre-application advice did not account for the comments of the governing bodies. 

 
5.11.17 In view of the above assessment, I am of the view that the proposal would provide sports 

facilities of strategic importance that would offer potential to make a significant 
contribution towards meeting community sport and physical activity needs in the 
Stevenage area for the reasons set out above. The proposals are considered to meet 
the above ‘PROVIDE’ objective therefore Sport England would wish to confirm its 
support for the principle of the proposed development as a non-statutory consultee.  

 
5.11.18 It is requested that the Council gives consideration to the issues and concerns raised by 

the sports governing bodies relating to design and layout matters prior to the 
determination of the planning application. While the detailed design of the leisure centre 
is intended to accord with Sport England’s design guidance, it is requested that that an 
informative is added to the decision notice if planning permission is forthcoming to help 
ensure that the detailed design specifications (such as flooring, lighting, finishes) accord 
with the relevant guidance in practice. 

 
5.12 Stevenage Borough Council Ecology Officer 
 
5.12.1 There is a concern that within the 30-year BNG Gain Plan there is a good possibility of 

changes either to the proposed building or by adding extra sports facilities out with the 
proposed building. This would then affect the Gain Plan and infringe the pre-
commencement condition. Although the previous building has stood for 60 years, there 
is a possibility that changes will be made to the site within the next 30 years. Advice on 
changing the Gain Plan post-commencement from CIEEM is below: 

 

Page 82

https://www.thefa.com/-/media/files/pdf/get-into-football/small-sided-football/fa-futsal-facilities-guidance-resource.ashx
https://www.thefa.com/-/media/files/pdf/get-into-football/small-sided-football/fa-futsal-facilities-guidance-resource.ashx
https://www.thefa.com/-/media/files/pdf/get-into-football/small-sided-football/fa-futsal-facilities-guidance-resource.ashx


 

 

19 
 

5.12.2 Biodiversity Net Gain FAQs | CIEEM states: 
In principle, if the development has not commenced, it would be possible to amend this 
through re-applying to discharge the condition requiring the approval of a Biodiversity 
Gain Plan, effectively substituting a previously approved gain plan for another (assuming 
this is approved by the LPA). 
 

5.12.3 Alternatively, should an application be granted to vary a permission under Section 73 of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, this may trigger the requirement for an 
updated Biodiversity Gain Plan to be submitted – as set out within Paragraph 016 of the 
Planning Practice Guidance, if any conditions attached to the new planning permission 
granted under section 73 do affect the post-development biodiversity value, then a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for the new permission must be submitted and approved prior to 
the commencement of the permission. 

 
5.12.4 It should be noted that a section 73 permission cannot be used to vary or remove the 

biodiversity gain condition. In cases where a development has commenced, there is 
currently no mechanism in place within the statutory framework that would allow for 
these changes to be made, as BNG requirements are implemented through a pre-
commencement condition. There is an expectation that these details are finalised prior 
to the commencement of development. Due consideration should be given to the 
possibility and legality of changing anything to this site that would affect the BNG Gain 
Plan within the next 30 years. 

 
5.12.5 There is a concern that an area of the site that is within the red line boundary was not 

considered in the ecological/botanical survey, which in turn informs the metric, (see Fig 
1 below). This area was to the east of the site next to the present southern car park and 
exit road and is marked in green on Fig 1.  

 
5.12.6 All the grassland in the submitted metric is classed as modified grassland. The grassland 

immediately to the east of the car park and exit road and before the fence line has been 
examined by me, on 20.6.25 and it is agreed that this is probably modified grassland. 
Although it is difficult to assess as it is only 1cm high vegetation. 

 
5.12.7 The area to the east of the fence line to the border of the path (coloured green), which 

according to the site plan is still within the red line boundary, has been examined at the 
same time. The area is approx. 0.033ha. The plants found in this area on 20.6.25 are in 
table 1 below. This may not be a comprehensive list. These species along with the other 
UKHab criteria such as >20% cover of broadleaved herbs present, >1 species of grass 
not sown for agricultural production and cover of Rye-grasses, and White Clover is 
<30%, indicates it is other neutral grassland. It is either poor or more likely moderate 
condition. I haven’t carried out a quadrat survey of this area and therefore I cannot state 
categorically that this is what is there according to UKHab and the Statutory BNG 
condition assessment. 
 
Table 1 Plant species found in the area between fence and path in the east of the site 
on 20.6.25 

Scientific Name Common Name 

Bryonia sp Bryony sp. 

Galium album Hedge Bedstraw 

Centaura nigra Lesser Knapweed 

Arrhenatherum elatius  False Oat-grass 

Holcus lanatus Yorkshire Fog 

Lotus corniculatus Common bird’s-foot-trefoil 

Dactylis glomerata  Cocksfoot 

Cirsium arvense Creeping Thistle 

Anthriscus sylvestris Cow Parsley 

Knautia arvensis Field Scabious 

Page 83

https://cieem.net/i-am/biodiversity-enhancement-approaches/biodiversity-net-gain-faqs/#:~:text=In%20cases%20where%20a%20development,for%20another%20development%20are%20exempt.


 

 

20 
 

 

 
     Fig. 1 site plan 

 
5.12.8 This area should be confirmed to be within the red line boundary and if so, surveyed by 

the ecologist and the area entered into the metric to provide an accurate BNG metric 
calculation. There are no comments in the comments section of the metric and no post-
development BNG habitat map supplied except for the site plan. 

 
5.12.9 The comments section should state the date of the botanical survey and the criteria 

which the relevant habitats passed or failed to achieve the condition for that habitat. This 
should be done on baseline, created and enhanced areas. On the baseline map there 
was no information on which area on the map was represented by which line in the 
metric and no post-development BNG habitat map. This gives the person reviewing the 
application metric complete transparency and an accurate overview. 

 
5.12.10 A BNG map should be submitted for both baseline and post development showing which 

line of the metric is represented by which area of the maps.  
 

5.12.11 The above concerns should preferably be addressed prior to approval along with delivery 
of a draft management plan. An agreed Statutory Metric, Biodiversity Gain Plan and a 
Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan for the site will be supplied before 
commencement of the development. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Convolvulus arvensis Field Bindweed 

Papaver somniferum Poppy 

Ranunculus acris Meadow Buttercup 

Rumex acetosa  Common Sorrel 

Achillia millefolium  Yarrow 

Crepis capillaris Smooth Hawksbeard 

Phleum pratense Timothy 

Rubus fruticosus  Bramble 

Plantago lanceolata Ribwort Plantain 

Page 84



 

 

21 
 

6 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES 
 

6.1 National Planning Policy Framework 
 

6.1.1 The latest revision of the NPPF was published in December 2024. The policies it 
contains are material considerations which will be taken into account in dealing with 
applications. Due weight will be given to development plan policies according to their 
degree of consistency with the NPPF. 

 
6.1.2 The NPPF provides that proposals which accord with an up-to-date development plan 

should be approved without delay (para.11) and that where a planning application 
conflicts with an up-to-date development plan, permission should not usually be granted 
(para.12). This indicates the weight which should be given to an up-to-date development 
plan, reflecting the requirements of section 38(6) of the 2004 Act. 

 
6.2 Planning Practice Guidance 

 
6.2.1 The Planning Practice Guidance (“PPG”) is an online resource containing guidance 

supplementing the NPPF. The PPG is a material consideration which should be taken 
into account in determining planning applications. 

 
6.3 National Design Guide 

 
6.3.1 The National Design Guide 2019 is Government guidance on the characteristics of 

well-designed places and demonstrates what good design means in practice. It has the 
same status as the PPG and should similarly be taken into account when determining 
planning applications. 
 

6.4 The Development Plan 
 

6.4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
planning applications be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage, the development plan 
comprises the following documents: 

 

• Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 

• Waste Core Strategy & Development Management Policies DPD 2011-2026 

• Waste Site Allocations DPD 2011-2026 

• Minerals Local Plan Review 2002-2016 
 

6.4.2 The Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 was adopted in 2019. The council 
concluded a full review of the plan in 2024, as required by regulation 10A of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). 
 

6.4.3 In response to the review, the council has completed a partial update of the local plan 
and this is now with the Secretary of State for assessment. Weight will be given to 
emerging policies according to: 

 
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan; 
b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to the policies; and 
c) the degree of consistency between the policies and the most recent revision of the 

NPPF. 
 

6.4.4 In determining applications, regard will be had to other material considerations, including 
(but not limited to): 

 

• The Planning Practice Guidance; 

Page 85



 

 

22 
 

• The National Design Guide; 

• Written ministerial statements and directions; 

• Guidance published by Hertfordshire County Council; 

• Stevenage Borough Council supplementary planning documents. 
 

6.4.5 Where there are emerging policies which are relevant to the application, these will be 
highlighted in the main body of this report.  The policies set out below are most relevant 
in the determination of this application: 

 
Policy SP1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development: 
Policy SP2: Sustainable development in Stevenage: 
Policy SP5: Infrastructure: 
Policy SP6: Sustainable transport: 
Policy SP8: Good design: 
Policy SP9: Healthy communities: 
Policy SP11: Climate change, flooding, and pollution: 
Policy SP12: Green infrastructure and the natural environment: 
Policy SP13: The historic environment: 
Policy TC7: Marshgate Major Opportunity Area: 
Policy IT3: Infrastructure: 
Policy IT4: Transport assessments and travel plans: 
Policy IT5: Parking and access: 
Policy IT6: Sustainable transport: 
Policy IT7: New and improved links for pedestrians and cyclists: 
Policy IT8: Public parking provision: 
Policy HC6: Existing leisure and cultural facilities: 
Policy HC7: New and refurbished leisure and cultural facilities: 
Policy GD1: High quality design: 
Policy FP1: Climate change: 
Policy FP3: Flood risk in Flood Zones 2 and 3: 
Policy FP7: Pollution: 
Policy FP8: Pollution sensitive uses: 
Policy NH3: Green corridors: 
Policy NH5: Trees and woodland: 
Policy NH7: Open space standards: 
Policy NH09: Areas of archaeological significance. 

 
6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
6.5.1 The following supplementary planning documents are relevant to determining the 

application: 
 
Parking Provision SPD (2025) 
Stevenage Design Guide SPD (2025) 
Developer Contributions SPD (2025) 

 
6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 

 
6.6.1 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 

Schedule in 2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects 
based on the type, location and floorspace of a development. This proposal would be 
CIL liable at £0/m².  

 

7 APPRAISAL 
 

7.1.1 The main considerations in assessing the proposals are the acceptability in land use 
policy terms, siting and scale, design and visual impact, loss of green space, impact on 

Page 86



 

 

23 
 

the local highway and parking, impact on flooding/drainage, impact on trees and 
landscaping, impact on biodiversity, impact on climate change, impact on heritage 
assets and other matters. 

 
7.1.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that all 

planning applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
7.2 Land Use Considerations  
 
7.2.1 The redevelopment of the existing leisure facilities in Stevenage, including the swimming 

centre and Gordon Craig Theatre is designated in Local Plan Policies SP9: Healthy 
Communities and TC7: Marshgate Major Opportunity Area.  

 
 Policy SP9 states that - 

 We will provide community facilities that meet the needs of local residents and those 
living in the area around Stevenage. We will: 
 f. Support the provision of leisure and cultural facilities to reflect the distribution of the 
existing and future population, by protecting and enhancing existing facilities and helping 
to deliver new facilities, particularly: 
i. A new wet and dry leisure facility to replace the Arts and Leisure Centre and Stevenage 
Swimming Centre within the town centre. 

 
7.2.2 Furthermore, Policy TC7 of the Local Plan relates to the Marshgate Major Opportunity 

Area and states that planning permission will be granted for ‘New Use Class D1 and D2 
(Now Use Class E and F.2) leisure, cultural and civic uses’. It further states that 
applications should address the following design and land use principles –  

• A new sports/swimming complex with an interactive frontage onto Town 
Centre Gardens; 

• Creation of a critical mass of uses and activities to stimulate greater day-
today and event use of Town Centre Gardens. 

 
7.2.3 The proposed new sports and leisure facility would see the relocation of facilities 

currently located in the Arts and Leisure Centre off Lytton Way, as well as swimming 
facilities from the adjoining Swimming Centre. The facilities available in the new facility 
consist of a 25m 10 lane swimming pool with spectator seating, a teaching pool, splash 
pad, soft play area, 6 court sports hall with provision for badminton, basketball, netball 
(list not exhaustive), gym, spin class space, studio spaces, changing facilities and a café.  

 
7.2.4 The design approach has carefully considered the functionality of the building in respect 

of opening up and engaging with the Town Centre Gardens. Located due east of the 
site, they are currently cut-off from the existing swimming centre and Bowes Lyon Youth 
Centre (which will not be affected by the proposed development) by fencing and largely 
blank rear elevations. The proposed eastern elevation of the proposed centre is 
predominantly glass allowing views into and out from all floors of the centre facing the 
gardens. These spaces encompass the teaching pool, splash pad, café, gym and studio 
spaces.  
 

7.2.5 Outside the eastern entrance to the building the landscaping would provide an external 
seating area focussed towards the Town Centre Gardens. The proposals therefore make 
positive moves to fulfill the policy requirement for engagement with the gardens and the 
likelihood to stimulate further use of the gardens. The proposal in terms of land use policy 
is therefore considered acceptable. 

 
 
 
 

Page 87



 

 

24 
 

7.3 Character and Appearance 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 
7.3.1 Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places of the NPPF (2024) stipulates that the 

creation of high quality, sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design expectations, and 
how these will be tested, is essential for achieving this. So too is effective engagement 
between applicants, communities, local planning authorities and other interests 
throughout the process. Where development is not well designed, permission should be 
refused. 

 
7.3.2 The National Design Guide 2019, which was published by the Government, is a material 

consideration in the determination of planning applications. It states that buildings are 
an important component of places and proposals for built development are a focus of 
the development management system. However, good design involves careful attention 
to other important components of places. These include: 

 

• the context for places and buildings; 

• hard and soft landscape; 

• technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

• social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 
7.3.3 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 

materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at 
all levels, including: 

 

• the layout; 

• the form and scale of buildings; 

• their appearance; 

• landscape; 

• materials; and 

• their detailing. 
 
 Development Plan 
 
7.3.4 Whilst the policies contained in the Local Plan have limited weight, Policy SP8 generally 

reflects the requirements of the NPPF in that it requires new development to achieve the 
highest standards of design and sustainability. In addition, Policy GD1 generally requires 
all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of built 
development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape 
design and relevant aspects of sustainable design. 

 
7.3.5 In the emerging local plan partial review and update, criterion (e) of Policy GD1 is 

updated to refer to “unacceptable” adverse impacts. The intention behind the change is 
to make clear that in some circumstances, an adverse impact might still fall within 
acceptable bounds and that this is a matter of judgement for the decision maker. Policy 
GD2 is a new policy emerging from the local plan partial review and update. It states that 
proposals which demonstrate they have been designed to achieve a rating of excellent 
or higher against a relevant BREEAM standard and/or to achieve the BRE Home Quality 
Mark will be strongly supported. Having regard to paragraph 49 of the NPPF, this 
emerging version of the policy is afforded moderate weight in the assessment of the 
application. 

 

Page 88



 

 

25 
 

7.3.6 This part of the application has been assessed against the key policy criteria on good 
design, as well as how the scheme meets the four key objectives in the National Design 
Guide on what is considered as a well-designed place. 

 
Layout 

 
7.3.7 The site layout has been designed to maximise site efficiency, accommodating existing 

constraints, especially the existing swimming centre, location of the Bowes Lyon building 
and proximity of the Town Centre Gardens. The orientation and shape of the building is 
considered to make best use of the space chosen for the proposal (when considering 
the required phasing of the development) and its integration between St Georges Way 
and the Town Centre Gardens. The building position and layout would ensure it has a 
prominent frontage on to both Fairlands Way and St Georges Way. The proposed siting 
of the new building to the south of the existing swimming centre has largely been led by 
the necessity to build the new facility while the existing centre is still in use. Preventing 
a loss of the facility for any period of time.  

 
7.3.8 Once the new centre is built the existing facility would be demolished and the proposed 

car park layout completed, including additional areas of useable open space to the north 
of the building. These would include the café outdoor seating area to the northeast of 
the building and the hard landscaping provision providing access to the cycle parking, 
car park beyond, and various areas of grass and landscaping. The layout would also 
encompass SuDS features in the form of swales to the northwest and southeast of the 
building.  
 

7.3.9 The siting of the new facility and the colonnade along its northern edge has been aligned 
with the approved highway works on St Georges Way which will provide a new level 
signalised crossing point. This is being delivered as part of the Life Sciences Quarter 
development approved within The Forum and works are due to start imminently. This 
will be a key new route for opening up the eastern side of the Town Centre with the Town 
Gardens.  

 
7.3.10 The footpath currently sited between the swimming centre and the Bowes Lyon building 

which provides access to and from the Town Centre Gardens and St Georges Way, will 
be permanently closed, with the new building being built over it. The footpath has some 
historic significance as an old farm lane and the design of the Town Centre Gardens by 
Gordon Patterson included this lane as one of the three primary design principles. 
Therefore, whilst the lane does not have any formal designation, its loss should be 
considered as part of the heritage asset assessment. This is discussed further below in 
this report. However, the loss of this Town Centre Gardens access point will be replaced 
by the new colonnade and footpath to the north of the new building. 
 

7.3.11 Constrained by the available space between the two existing buildings of the swimming 
centre and Bowes Lyon Centre, the building layout has been carefully designed to 
provide the required facilities from an operations standpoint, but also by prioritising its 
engagement with the Town Centre Gardens. The layout has also carefully considered 
the operations of the building in terms of the location and layout of the plant and 
machinery needed for the pools and utilities.  
 

7.3.12 A new substation is required to power the proposed building. This would be located to 
the southwest of the site and would be a detached ancillary building. The provision of 
this substation does not form part of the application proposals as it can be provided 
under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order as 
permitted development.    

 
7.3.13 In conclusion, the layout is considered to be acceptable. It has been reliant on working 

around the continued operations of the existing building, whilst prioritising the need to 

Page 89



 

 

26 
 

provide a certain level of facilities within the building and providing positive engagement 
with the Town Centre Gardens. It is considered the proposed layout has done this well, 
creating a good balance between each element.  

 
Scale, Massing and Form 

 
7.3.14 The site is located on the northeastern outskirts of the Town Centre. The area is made-

up of a variety of key character points, the residential flats to the east of the site which 
are 17 storeys tall, open green spaces at the Town Centre Gardens to the east and King 
George V Recreation Ground to the north of Fairlands Way, and multi-use buildings to 
the west in the Town Centre. The nearest buildings here vary from three to six storeys 
in height, with a varying palette of materials. The Bowes Lyon Centre to the south is two 
storeys in height at the closest point to the site, increasing to three storeys at its southern 
half.  
 

7.3.15 Re-development of The Forum shopping area and its car park has been approved and 
would consist of a Life Sciences Quarter, with a variety of high quality buildings ranging 
from three to six storeys in height.    

 
7.3.16 The Design and Access Statement clearly outlines the evolvement of the scheme and 

the influences on the end design. The proposed building would be predominantly four 
storeys in height with basement areas to accommodate the swimming pools and 
associated plant. The main bulk of the building is the area that contains the 25m 10 lane 
swimming pool and 6 court sports hall above. The height of the building scales down at 
the eastern end, closest to the Town Centre Gardens, and at the southern side towards 
the Bowes Lyon Centre to three storeys. 
 

7.3.17 The building is obviously large in overall scale, needing to provide high level facilities to 
cover a variety of sport and recreational uses. The orientation has the main entrance on 
the northern elevation fronting the car park and Fairlands Way. The northern and 
southern elevations would be the longest measuring approximately 70m in length, with 
40m of this being the full four storeys. The east and western elevations being the shorter 
sides of the rectangular layout would have a width of approximately 43m. There would 
be a step-in of the fourth storey off the southern elevation by approximately 7m. 
 

7.3.18 Given the proposed use of the building, the scale and mass are expected. The existing 
swimming centre is up to three storeys in height with some single storey elements. The 
additional facilities proposed in the new Leisure Centre have been carefully sited 
internally to ensure the building is not too large and out-of-keeping in its setting.  
 

7.3.19 The proposed building is considered to take positive cues from its surrounding 
environment and from the varying built form in the northeastern corner of the Town 
Centre. The scale and mass are respectful of the immediately neighbouring buildings 
whilst ensuring the building will fulfill its purpose. The scale, mass and form are therefore 
considered acceptable and will result in a high quality and statement building in this 
prominent location. 

 
Appearance and Materiality 

 
7.3.20 The existing swimming centre is finished in horizontal white sectional cladding, with a 

blue painted single storey extension to its front and western elevation. The Bowes Lyon 
Centre is a typical New Town building completed in dark brown mix brick work with flat 
roof and a cantilever front canopy finished in white. Newer buildings in the area, such as 
Autolus which has sectional cladding and glazing and new residential buildings introduce 
more modern brickwork and render forward in varying colours. 
 

Page 90



 

 

27 
 

7.3.21 There is therefore a wide variety of examples for the proposal to take cues from. The 
Design and Access Statement identifies the prominence of buildings which have a ‘plinth’ 
on the lower half of the building’s elevations completed in a different material or texture 
to the upper storeys. This is visible on St Andrew and St George Church further south 
along St Georges Way. The Grade II Listed church has a striking flint panelling plinth 
with turquoise weathered copper roof. The building provides numerous horizontal and 
vertical design features and influences.  
 

7.3.22 Paragraph 3.10.1 gives a strong declaration of the vision for the materiality for the 
proposed leisure centre. It states ‘The new Leisure Centre presents an exciting 
opportunity to deliver a contemporary architectural response that reflects its civic 
significance as a key community facility. It is considered to do this.  
 

7.3.23 The ground and first floors are clearly identified by the lighter coloured panelling, the 
exact colour and material to be agreed. The second and third floors would incorporate 
an aluminium curtain wall finish, taking cues from the modern additions nearby. Again, 
the exact colour and finish are to be agreed but it gives a good visual representation of 
the proposed finish of the building. The metallic finish on the upper level has also been 
proposed because of its ability to take on a reflective nature in terms of colours and how 
that could be presented on the building. This could include taking green hues from the 
nearby mature trees in the Town Centre Gardens when in full canopy bloom, to taking 
in pink and red hues from sunsets, etc. It would give the building a very different dynamic 
from its surrounding environment.     

 
7.3.24 Utilising and promoting contemporary architectural design, the building proposes large 

amounts of full height glazing, with the key principle of having views into and through the 
building. This is to emphasise the facilities inside, but to also engage with the Town 
Centre Gardens, a key requirement of Policy TC7 of the Local Plan. The large, glazed 
panels would provide views into the main swimming pool. Whilst the internal pool space 
is two storey’s in height, the upper floor would be finished in the render panelling. The 
glazing continues on the north eastern end of the front elevation and along the eastern 
end elevation of the building. The glazing here opens up across all three floors where 
the café, teaching pool, gym and studio spaces would be located. 
 

7.3.25 The introduction of the colonnade on the northern elevation is considered to offer a 
functional but expressive design feature. It provides shelter to those entering and leaving 
the building to and from St Georges Way, whilst also providing an important architectural 
structure which at double height encompasses the importance of the building and instils 
its modern appearance in the wider area.  
 

7.3.26 The Design and Access Statement identifies that the colonnade would not just be an 
architectural feature for visual aesthetics, but, would also provide a threshold and 
gathering space. It mediates a space between external and internal and becomes the 
embodiment of civic ideals of openness, inclusivity and permanence.  
 

7.3.27 In terms of the loss of the existing swimming centre facility, this is considered acceptable 
despite the visual impact it would have on the existing landscape. Policy clearly outlines 
the Town’s plans to update key leisure and cultural facilities by way of re-provision. The 
existing facility has come to the end of its life and the cost to upgrade would not be 
feasible. The existing building is not considered to positively contribute to the character 
and appearance of the area. It is of its time architecturally, with minimal views into the 
building, and thus the elevations are plain and uninteresting. Its replacement in this 
respect is welcomed. 
 

 
 
 

Page 91



 

 

28 
 

Conclusion 
 
7.3.28 Overall, it is considered the proposed development would have a high-quality finish and 

has been carefully designed to integrate itself with the wider area whilst systematically 
presenting a standout contemporary building and establishing its civic use in this 
prominent space. Whilst final materials are to be agreed, the proposals identify the key 
design principles in terms of the materiality of the proposed building and how it would be 
expressed in its siting. The proposed building would in officer’s opinion would enhance 
the character and appearance of the area and would be a significantly positive impact 
on the town. The proposed development is therefore, considered acceptable in 
accordance with the policies on design in the adopted Local Plan (2019), the Design 
Guide SPD (2025), the NPPF (2024) and PPG. 

 
7.4 Loss of Green Space 

 
7.4.1 Policy NH1 of the Local Plan (2019) relates to Principal Open Spaces in the borough, 

with the Town Centre Gardens being specified under NH1/2 as a Principal Park. The 
policy states that planning permission will be granted where proposals: 

a) Would not result in the loss of any part of a Principal Open Space; 

b) Would not have an adverse impact upon any Principal Open Space within, or 

adjacent to, the application site; and 

c) Reasonably provide, or reasonably contribute towards the maintenance or 

improvement of, Principal Open Spaces and allotments. 

 
7.4.2 Paragraph 14.1 of the Local Plan (2019) states that the Principal Open Spaces are sites 

that: 

• Have a significant draw within Stevenage or their neighbourhood; 

• Are destinations in their own right, places where people would go to spend time 

with a specific purpose; 

• Are not incidental open space; 

• Are not principally defined by organised sports activities; and 

• May contain a variety of facilities and attractions aimed at a wide demography. 

 
7.4.3 Based on the proposed site layout plan, the new building footprint sits up to and possibly 

slightly over the policy designation line for Policy NH1/12 for the edge of the Town Centre 
Gardens. It is not possible to be absolutely definitive on this because of the rudimentary 
policy map features. Notwithstanding this, the significance and function of the Town 
Centre Gardens would not be compromised. The proposals would see an improved 
relationship between the built form and the gardens through the introduction of the 
community spaces outside the building, as well as the building design and interaction 
with the Principal Open Space.  

 
7.4.4 Additional areas of green are proposed around the car park area, especially following 

demolition of the existing swimming centre and the remedial works to provide a greater 
landscaped area to the pool’s frontage. It is considered the public benefit derived from 
the provision of this facility greatly outweighs the minimal impact on the Town Centre 
Gardens.  
 

7.5 Impact on the Environment and Neighbouring Occupiers 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 
7.5.1 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF (2024) sets out that planning decision should ensure create 

places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future residents. Paragraph 124 
of the National Design Guide states that “Good design promotes quality of life for the 
occupants and users of buildings. This includes function – buildings should be easy to 

Page 92



 

 

29 
 

use. It also includes comfort, safety, security, amenity, privacy, accessibility and 
adaptability”. Paragraph 126 of the National Design Guide also emphasises that “well-
designed homes and communal areas within buildings provide a good standard and 
quality of internal space. This includes room sizes, floor-to-ceiling heights, internal and 
external storage, sunlight, daylight and ventilation. The quality of internal space needs 
careful consideration in higher density developments, particularly for family 
accommodation, where access, privacy, daylight and external amenity space are also 
important”. 

 
 Development Plan 
 
7.5.2 Whilst the policies contained in the Local Plan have limited weight, Policies SP8 and 

GD1 of the Local Plan (2019) which generally reflect the good design principles outlined 
in the NPPF and National Design Guide, require that development does not adversely 
impact the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. In the emerging Local Plan review and 
partial update, criterion (e) of policy GD1 is updated to refer to “unacceptable” adverse 
impacts. The intention behind the change is to make clear that in some circumstances, 
an adverse  impact might still fall within acceptable bounds and that this is a matter of 
judgement for the decision maker. This emerging policy carries significant weight under 
paragraph 49 of the NPPF. 

 
7.5.3 Policy FP5 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to consider contamination 

and be supported by an appropriate preliminary risk assessment (PRA), demonstrating 
that any necessary remediation and subsequent development poses no risk to the 
population, environment or groundwater bodies. 

 
7.5.4 Policy FP7 requires all development proposals to minimise, and where possible, reduce 

air, water, light, and noise pollution. Planning permission will be granted when it can be 
demonstrated that the development will not have unacceptable impacts on general 
amenity and the tranquillity of the wider area.  
 

7.5.5 Construction activities, both on and off site by their nature can be noisy and intrusive 
for neighbouring occupiers, particularly in terms of noise, vibration, air quality (dust), 
smoke, odour and light. Other possible matters can also cause nuisance including 
construction vehicle parking or movements, or damage to neighbouring properties, 
services and facilities.  
 

7.5.6 Noise and vibration can arise in particular from piling operations, groundworks and 
excavations, and plant or machinery and their associated use. Early morning deliveries 
can also give rise to disturbance if not properly controlled and managed. Dust from site 
operations can also be an issue, particularly during periods of sustained dry weather.  

 
7.5.7 The nearest residential properties are contained to the east with Brent Court and Harrow 

Court, and also to the west of the site off Marshgate. The nearest buildings due west of 
the site, side facing on to St Georges way appear to be offices above existing retail and 
commercial premises. The known residential properties are at least 90m or more away 
from the nearest respective edge of red line plan.  

 
  Noise Pollution 
 
7.5.8 The application is accompanied by a Noise Impact Assessment by Anderson Acoustics 

Ltd. Noise survey work was undertaken to determine baseline noise levels in the vicinity 
of the site. Assessment of activity noise levels in accordance with BS 4142 indicates that 
the impact of noise externally will be related to any proposed plant equipment. The final 
details of this plant have not yet been confirmed.  

 

Page 93



 

 

30 
 

7.5.9 The NIA advises that at the time of conducting the noise survey there is not sufficient 
information available to predict noise emissions from proposed plant. The report 
summary continues, stating that ‘experience indicates that noise levels from these 
sources will not give rise to a significant impact if they are controlled to a BS4142 rating 
that is 5db below the lowest measured background level’. Officers agree and it is 
considered reasonable to impose conditions to this extent, to ensure the proposed plant, 
once details are known, does not exceed this measurement. Also, that where necessary 
sufficient screening and mitigation can be secured prior to first use of the facility. The 
Environmental Health Officer has confirmed this position and suggested conditions for 
imposition.  

 
Contamination 

7.5.10 The application has been submitted with a Ground Investigation Report by Lucion 
Ground Engineering Ltd. The report findings advise that the made ground is suitable for 
use within the context of the commercial swimming pool development, and that there is 
no indication of contamination.  
 

7.5.11 It is considered reasonable to impose standard conditions relating to any future 
contamination found as works on site progress, and measures to ensure remediation as 
required.  

 
  Light Pollution 
 
7.5.12 The Energy Statement Report submitted advises that only LED lighting will be used on 

site. Furthermore, it is noted that in section 3.15 of the Design and Access Statement 
the comment that external lighting will be designed to meet a number of guidance 
documents including the ILP Guidance Note 01 – The reduction of Obtrusive Light. This 
approach is welcomed. No specific details of the proposed lighting have been provided 
at this stage. The ultimate detailed lighting scheme should reflect the Note’s guidance 
regarding the environmental zone classification of the site and how it will meet the 
challenges of managing light spill and reflected light given the presence of dwellings 
overlooking the development. It is considered reasonable that these details can be 
adequately secured by the imposition of conditions.  

 
  Air Quality 
 
7.5.13 Looking at air quality and air pollution specifically, the Air Quality Annual Status Report 

(ASR) 2024 by Stevenage Borough Council identifies that the development site is not 
located within or in close proximity to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). This 
generally indicates that the air quality in the area is within national guidelines.  

 
7.5.14 Environmental Health Officers note that the application essentially seeks permission to 

replace the existing swimming centre and therefore the impact on local air quality 
associated with future users is unlikely to be significantly different to the current position.  

 
  Privacy, Overbearing Impact and Daylight 
 
7.5.15 The proposed building is located a sufficient distance from neighbouring residential 

properties to not cause any adverse impact on privacy, daylight or be considered 
overbearing.          

 
  Demolition and Construction Impacts 
 
7.5.16 The disruptive effect of demolition and construction work is a material consideration. 

Some disruption is inevitable, insofar as vehicle movements and noisy work would be 
necessary to complete the development. However, the impacts can be mitigated, for 

Page 94



 

 

31 
 

example by employing dust suppression techniques, limiting the hours when deliveries 
can be made, and limiting the hours when work can be carried out.  

 
7.5.17 To this end, it is recommended that a construction management plan be secured by 

condition. Subject to this condition, it is considered that the impacts of demolition and 
construction could be mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 
  Conclusions on Environment and Neighbouring Occupiers 
 
7.5.18 Having regard to the above, it is concluded that the proposed development would not 

result in any fundamentally unacceptable impacts on the environment and has been 
designed in such a way as to ensure acceptable living conditions for neighbouring 
occupiers. The application has been assessed by the Environmental Health Team and 
conditions suggested where necessary. In these respects, the proposal is considered to 
accord with Policies FP5, FP7 and GD1 of the Local Plan. 

 
7.6 Parking 

 
 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
 

7.6.1 Chapter 9 ‘Promoting Sustainable Transport’ of the NPPF (2024) sets out a requirement 
to consider transport issues, which includes parking, at the earliest stages of a 
development proposal. Paragraph 116 of the NPPF (2024) states “Development should 
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, 
following mitigation, would be severe, taking into account all reasonable future 
scenarios”.  

 
7.6.2 Taking this into consideration, paragraph 117 of the NPPF (2024) stipulates that 

applications for development should: 
a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and 

with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating access to 
high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus 
or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public 
transport use;  

b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all 
modes of transport;  

c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope for 
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street 
clutter, and respond to local character and design standards;  

d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency 
vehicles; and  

e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient locations. 

 
 Development Plan 
 

7.6.3 Policy IT5 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to comply with the parking 
standards set out in the Council’s Parking SPD (2025) and has not been updated by the 
Local Plan (LP) Review. Policy SP6 Sustainable Transport has been reordered to reflect 
the priority of sustainable transport consistent with NPPF under the LP Review and the 
amended policy carries significant weight. This policy requires, amongst other things, for 
developments to demonstrate they are in a sustainable location and will promote active 
travel by non-car modes of transport by providing appropriate cycle parking and prioritise 
public transport.  

 

Page 95



 

 

32 
 

7.6.4 Based on the SPD the maximum parking standards for swimming pools and fitness 
centres/indoor leisure centres is 1 car parking space per 15 sqm. As the site lies on the 
outskirts of the Town Centre, it is in a highly sustainable location and falls within the SPD 
non-residential accessibility zones for parking provision. Non-Residential Map 2 – Town 
Centre (W) in the SPD shows the site within the Town Centre Zone, and immediately 
adjacent Zone 1. Where sites fall within the Town Centre zone provision shall be 
calculated on a site-by-site basis and assessed via a Transport Assessment. This is to 
allow significant reductions in numbers where applicable but also acknowledges that 
some uses will attract the need for on-site parking despite the sustainable location. 
 

7.6.5 It is also worth noting that the immediately adjacent non-residential accessibility zone is 
Zone 1 which allows a 0-25% provision, again due to its sustainable location. The 
proposed building would equate to a total floor area of 5,875 sqm which would require a 
maximum parking provision of between 0 and 100 spaces when taking the requirements 
of Zone 1.    

 
7.6.6 The existing surface car parks provide 91 car parking spaces, 32 in the north car park 

and 53 in the south car park and 6 faded out spaces to the east of the building and off 
the northern access road. The proposed site layout plan shows the provision of 53 car 
parking spaces, 5 of which would be disabled spaces, with provision for motorised two-
wheelers within this total. Electric Vehicle Charging Points are being provided in 
accordance with the SPD and this is also covered by Part S of the Building Regulations. 
There would therefore be a net loss of 38 spaces on site.  

 
7.6.7 The SPD states that in respect of the loss of existing parking spaces equivalent 

replacements should be provided within a reasonable proximity (200m for car parking, 
80m for cycle parking) to the destinations they serve unless it can be demonstrated that 
the parking is no longer required. For reference, the proposed car parking area would 
be within 200m of St Georges multi-storey car park (MSCP) site, The Forum car park, 
and ultimately the approved multi-storey car park at the life sciences development on 
The Forum. 
 

7.6.8 The existing leisure facilities in the Arts and Leisure Centre rely on public car parking in 
the Town Centre, with spaces also available at the Train Station MSCP. Users are 
required to park and walk to the facility, however. Similarly, existing overspill of users at 
the swimming centre would need to make use of other public car parks in the town 
centre, like St Georges Way MSCP and The Forum surface car park.  
 

7.6.9 The peak average number of daily visitor for the swimming centre typically shows greater 
numbers than car park space numbers. The reduction of the number of spaces proposed 
will of course exacerbate this, especially as the new centre will include leisure facilities 
not currently available at the swimming centre site.   
 

7.6.10 However, as per the Council’s Local Plan policies and SPD, greater emphasis is being 
placed on modal shift from the private motor car, and the proposal, accompanied by a 
Travel Plan seeks a reduced target car driver modal split of 40 percent. The numbers 
proposed in the Transport Assessment submitted take account of the loss of squash 
courts and the dedicated Bowls space from the existing leisure facilities. Furthermore, 
given the facilities for swimming and leisure/sports will now be in the same space there 
will be some level of overlap for trips, with people using the facility for both as opposed 
to having to visit two separate venues.   
 

7.6.11 The site is well connected to non-car modes of transport, including several nearby bus 
stops along Fairlands Way, and immediate connectivity to the foot and cycle network to 
the north of the site. Pedestrian access to the Town Centre is currently via underpass to 
the south of the site, however, the new at-level Toucan crossing to the west of the site 
will provide direct access from the building frontage to The Forum and Town Centre 

Page 96



 

 

33 
 

beyond. The prohibition of cycling through the town centre and the Town Centre Gardens 
is noted, as raised by Cycling UK in their objection. Notwithstanding, this crossing 
provides direct access across St Georges Way with the allowance that cyclists can 
dismount and walk the approximately 600m to the train station or bus interchange. 
Moreover, it is for the Council as landowner and not the Council as Local Planning 
Authority to determine whether or not the cycle prohibitions are to be lifted with respect 
to the Town Centre and Town Centre Gardens.  
 

7.6.12 The existing foot and cycleway provision to the north of the swimming centre will be 
unchanged, with the proposed public realm improvements and foot/cycle connections 
from the building frontage to the Fairlands Way connections considered a positive 
improvement over existing arrangements.  
 

7.6.13 Comments from Cycling UK that infer continued poor connectivity to the south of the site 
are noted. However, improvements along St Georges Way to the south would be 
significant and as existing restricted by the physical limitations along the footpath. It 
would be unreasonable in officer’s opinion for the development itself to seek these 
changes. The local highway authority has also fully assessed the application and have 
raised no objections or requirements for improvements of these nature.  
 

7.6.14 Furthermore, in respect of points raised by Cycling UK in respect of Active Travel 
England’s (ATE) advice, this is ‘standing advice’ only. ATE have not provided detailed 
comments on the applications. It is noted that elements of ATE’s standing advice have 
not been undertaken as part of this application. However, this in itself is not a reason for 
objection or refusal.  
 

7.6.15 The allowance of planning judgement when determining planning applications falls with 
the local planning authority, and the planning balance must be fully considered in cases 
such as these. Officer’s take note of the small shortcomings of the development as 
raised by third party comments on the application.  
 

7.6.16 However, the development as a whole must be considered. The proposed Sports and 
Leisure Centre is a Local Plan designated, Corporate strategic project that will provide 
significant new facilities to the town. The public benefits that will be realised through its 
provision by far outweigh the shortcomings in respect of connectivity and missed 
information stated.  
 

7.6.17 The loss of car parking on site is unfortunate. However, to provide additional parking in 
the re-aligned parking area to the north of the new building would significantly impact 
the level of public realm, landscaping (some of which is required for BNG purposes), 
cycle parking, foot/cycleway connections and SuDS features proposed. This would be 
to the detriment of each of these elements but also to the overall positive and well 
considered design of the development.  
 

7.6.18 Therefore, in respect of car parking provision, the proposed 53 spaces are considered 
to be acceptable. There is adequate alternative public parking available within 200m of 
the proposed development in accordance with the SPD.  
 

7.6.19 In respect of cycle parking, the required provision would be 1 long stay space per 8 staff 
and 1 short stay space per 100 sqm, equating to a required provision of 65 spaces on 
site. The proposed Transport Assessment and site layout plan shows the provision of 60 
short stay cycle parking spaces (30 Sheffield stands) and 8 long stay cycle parking 
lockers (details to be agreed).      
 

7.6.20 The level of cycle parking is therefore policy compliant, and details of the long stay 
lockers / covered spaces can be secured through condition. An area has been identified 
for the provision of 6 Beryl bikes given the schemes launch in the Borough should it be 

Page 97



 

 

34 
 

felt advantageous to follow this-up. However, given recent vandalism to this initiative it 
will not be taken any further forward as part of this application. Officers did suggest the 
provision of a small scooter area for children’s scooters, given the provision of children’s 
facilities inside the new building and the likelihood for families to use the centre. 
Unfortunately, this has not been taken on. However, it is not a policy requirement and 
thus does not have any weight on securing cycle parking on-site.  
 

7.6.21 Having regard to the above, the proposed car and cycle parking arrangements are 
considered to be acceptable. In this respect, the proposal accords with Policy IT5 of the 
Local Plan. 

 
7.7 Highway Safety 

 
7.7.1 Policy IT4 of the Local Plan has been amended under the LP Review by substituting the 

word “adverse” with “unacceptable” to align with the NPPF and to the travel plan 
threshold to align with HCC Highways policy. The amended policy carries significant 
weight. It states that planning permission will be granted where development will not 
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety. The application is accompanied by a 
Transport Assessment and a Travel Plan. 

 
Access 

 
7.7.2 It is proposed to undertake works to the existing exit only junction onto Fairlands Way to 

create an ‘in’ ‘out’ access at this location. This is historically how the swimming centre 
car park was accessed. The siting of the new building eradicates the existing St Georges 
Way access to the south of the existing swimming centre building. These works, whilst 
shown on the proposed plans, are being undertaken under the Council’s statutory 
permitted development rights. They do not therefore form part of the assessment of this 
application.   

 
7.7.3 Given the proposed phasing of the development, the construction of the new access will 

be fundamental to the continued use of the existing centre whilst the new building is 
constructed. The closure of and phasing of the car park areas for use when works start 
is also an important matter to outline and have agreed.  
 

7.7.4 The surface-level signalised crossing to the west of the site has been approved and is 
being delivered across St Georges Way as part of the life sciences quarter on The Forum 
site. This will provide a much-needed West – East pedestrian and cycling access 
between the Town Centre and Town Centre Gardens, that is not reliant on the existing 
subway network. This connection is identified in Local Plan Policy IT7 for new and 
improved links for pedestrians and cyclists. 
 

7.7.5 Connections to and from the eastern side of this crossing will be important, so the scale 
of the hardstand access along the northern side of the proposed Leisure Centre, and its 
design to include landscaping and cycle parking are welcomed. The demolition of the 
existing building and siting of the proposed leisure centre will also open the views and 
general accessibility of the site across and into the Town Centre Gardens from wider 
vistas than existing. This is considered to be hugely beneficial on multiple levels  

 
 Trip Generation 

 
7.7.6 The Transport Assessment submitted in support of the application (including the 

addendum) outlines the trip generation of the existing swimming centre and leisure 
centre, and then the proposed trip generation of the new leisure centre.  

 
7.7.7 Table 1B (Existing and Proposed Development – Summary Traffic Generation 

Sensitivity test B, excluding the reduction factor of 0.85) of the TA addendum indicates 

Page 98



 

 

35 
 

that the proposed development is expected to generate an additional 50 vehicular trips 
during weekday AM peak period, 157 vehicular trips during weekday PM peak period 
and 141 vehicular trips during the Saturday peak period. The highway authority 
considers that this level of additional traffic, when accounting for the omission of the 
Bowls Club trips, the implementation of a Travel Plan, and the presence of linked trips, 
would not result in a significant impact on the local highway network.  
 

7.8 Biodiversity and Ecology 
 
7.8.1 The Environment Act received royal ascent in 2021. Within the legislation is the 

requirement for proposals to bring about a positive net gain in biodiversity. The 
regulations make a 10% net gain a statutory requirement (with a standard condition). 
The requirement and the ways in which this gain is measured apply to planning 
applications for major development submitted after the regulations came into force on 
12 February 2024. The NPPF and accompanying PPG require the Council to achieve 
measurable net gains in biodiversity at development sites across the Borough unless 
they are exempt. Policy SP12 of the Local Plan requires the protection of assets of 
ecological and biodiversity value. This policy has not been amended by the Local Plan 
Review and carries significant weight.   

 
7.8.2 The application is supported by an ecological appraisal. No statutory or non-statutory 

nature conservation designations are present within the site, all designations in the wider 
area are physically separated from the site and therefore are unlikely to be adversely 
affected by the proposals. The extended Phase 1 habitat survey established that the 
site, given the presence of the existing swimming centre and levels of hardstanding from 
the car parks only provides possible bat roosting in nearby trees. The site does not show 
signs of Badgers or Great Crested Newts. Furthermore, the ornamental pond in the 
Town Centre Gardens given its manmade structure and the presence of numerous 
waterfowl birds is not suitable for Great Crested Newts. 
 

7.8.3 The line of trees south of the site that adjoins the existing footpath access from St 
Georges Way to the Town Centre gardens were identified as having low bat roosting 
potential, specifically in trees marked T12 and T13 in the Arboricultural Report.  The 
Ecology Report advises mitigation measures to provide opportunities for enhancement 
of ecology on site. In this case they include bird and bat boxes to be installed on new 
buildings and in established retained trees respectively. This can be secured through 
condition.  

 
7.8.4 The application is also supported by a Biodiversity Net Gain Assessment which has 

considered the landscape proposals using the latest statutory metric. Based upon the 
metric, the proposals would result in a total net change of 26.60% for habitat units 
reflecting a significant gain of 0.36 habitat units as a result of the landscaping proposals 
being implemented. Therefore, the proposed development would be able to deliver the 
10% net gain on site. Comments received by the Ecology Officer are being considered 
by the applicant and respective consultants. Final details to confirm the correct 
assessment has been undertaken and to confirm the BNG position will be secured prior 
to any decision being made.  
 

7.8.5 The BNG Report does go on to state that in order to achieve these results the condition 
of retained trees must be enhanced from poor to moderate and 56 new small trees must 
be planted. The Council’s Tree Officer has raised some concerns over the total number 
of trees being shown for planting, in particular a group of four trees in the south east 
corner. The Tree Manager advises that these four trees are unlikely to thrive because of 
their proximity under the canopies of the existing mature trees to the south of the site.  
 

7.8.6 Some concerns have also been raised over the planting of Lime trees around the car 
park area because of their likelihood to drop sap near cars and the café. The revision of 

Page 99



 

 

36 
 

tree species proposed is being looked in to. The comments in relation to tree planting 
numbers are also being considered by the applicant’s consultants. The implications for 
a reduced planting schedule are that a 10% net gain cannot be provided on site. The 
Council’s BNG Officer has also raised concerns over the 30-year management of these 
spaces given their siting and proximity to hard standing areas and uses associated with 
the new Leisure Centre.     
 

7.8.7 Subject to the agreement of further details relating to final landscaping details (which 
can be agreed through the imposition of conditions) and to clarify the applicants position 
on the 30-year management and maintenance of the landscaping areas, the proposals 
for landscaping and ecology are considered acceptable in principle. The BNG net gain 
on site is secured by the imposition of standard conditions in line with the relevant 
national legislation.  

 
7.8.8 Having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposed development would have 

an acceptable impact on ecology and biodiversity. In this respect, the proposal accords 
with Policy SP12 of the Local Plan.  

 
7.9     Trees and Landscaping 

 
7.9.1 Policy NH5 of the Local Plan (2019) states that development proposals will be expected 

to protect and retain individual trees within the development site and should include new 
planting where appropriate. In the Local Plan review and partial update, policy NH5 is 
replaced by two new policies: Policy NH5a, which relates to trees and woodland; and 
Policy NH5b, which relates to tree-lined streets. Policy NH5a continues to provide a 
general presumption against the loss of healthy trees but also introduces a new tree 
replacement standard and offsetting mechanism where replacement planting cannot be 
provided on site. This emerging policy currently has limited weight. Policy NH5b requires 
new streets to be tree-lined, mirroring paragraph 136 and footnote 53 of the NPPF. This 
emerging policy carries significant weight, however, is not relevant to this application 
proposal.  

 
7.9.2 Despite the site being adjacent the Town Centre Gardens, there are only four main areas 

of trees/landscaping within the red line plan. The line of trees to the south of the site and 
running along the existing footpath between the swimming centre and Bowes Lyon 
Centre, the small cluster of trees and shrubs just north of the existing St Georges Way 
vehicular access, the line of shrubs and three trees to the south of the existing building 
and the area of grass running along the eastern boundary of the site.  

 
7.9.3 The proposals would see the retention of the southern tree belt, with only three trees 

from this area proposed to be removed. Four other trees are proposed to be removed, 
and they are contained in the landscaping beds in the south car park.  These require 
removal because of the siting of the proposed building. Six of the seven trees proposed 
for felling are category C and U, with only one category B tree.  

 
7.9.4 The proposed landscaping would see the planting of 56 small trees. As advised in 

Section 7.9 of the report the Council’s Tree Manager has some concerns over tree 
species, tree placement and overall numbers of trees proposed to be planted. A 
response to this is anticipated from the agent imminently. Notwithstanding this, final 
landscaping details, including species and numbers can be secured by the imposition of 
condition.   

 
7.9.5 It is considered the overall landscaping and tree strategy would create an attractive 

landscaped setting for the proposed buildings, with clear biodiversity and visual amenity 
benefits in accordance with policies SP12 and NH5 of the Local Plan (2019).   
 
 

Page 100



 

 

37 
 

 
7.10 Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
Development Plan 

7.10.1 Policy FP2 of the Local Plan requires applications for major development in Flood Zone 
1 to be accompanied by an appropriate flood risk assessment. The Policy also requires 
that the use of SuDS is maximised on site so as not to increase flood risk and to reduce 
flood risk wherever possible.  

 
7.10.2 In the emerging local plan review and partial update, flood risk and drainage policies are 

significantly revised. Existing policy FP1 is replaced by a new sustainable drainage 
policy, which places an emphasis on the use of the most sustainable SuDS features and 
methods of surface water discharge. Meanwhile, existing policies FP2 and FP3 are 
combined into a new, more comprehensive flood risk policy, which largely reflects 
national flood risk policies but also seeks to protect watercourses and flood defences. 
Having regard to paragraph 49 of the NPPF, these emerging policies carry significant 
weight in the assessment of the application. 
 

7.10.3 Drainage strategies should adhere to the Sustainable Drainage Strategy (SuDS) 
hierarchy provided in the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 2 (2019).  The 
hierarchy identifies that living roofs and walls are the most-sustainable SuDS features, 
followed by ponds and basins, infiltration devices and permeable surfaces. Tanked and 
piped systems are identified as the least sustainable, providing no pollution reduction 
nor biodiversity benefit.  

 
7.10.4 A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report (FRA) accompanies the 

application. The report reviews the drainage and flood risk issues associated with the 
proposed development and sets out how surface water run-off would be accommodated. 
The report states that the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 and that based 
on the ‘flood risk vulnerability classification’ contained within the Planning Practice 
Guidance table 2 the development would be ‘Less Vulnerable’ and so the leisure use is 
appropriate for the site.  

 
7.10.5 The Report advises that the site is underlain by a principal bedrock aquifer and is in 

Source Protection Zone (SPZ) 3. SPZ zones 1-3 show the risk of contamination from 
potential pollution. Development or works to land within a Zone 1 SPZ pose the greatest 
risk of pollution to the water supply (used for public drinking water supply). SPZ3 
specifically is an area around a supply source within which all groundwater is presumed 
to end up at the abstraction point. The report advises that in the case of SPZ3 the source 
catchment area may extend quite a long distance from the source.  

 
7.10.6 Extensive assessments of the sites infiltration characteristics of the ground have been 

undertaken. Paragraph 2.12 of the Report states that because of the underlying soil 
make-up infiltration via traditional soakaways is not feasible as a means of discharging 
surface water.   

 
Flood Mitigation 

7.10.7 Located in Flood Zone 1 the site would not be considered at risk of flooding from fluvial 
sources. Flood mitigation measures are required on site because of the proposed 
development to reduce downstream flood risks.  

 
7.10.8 The surface water flood map shows there is a very low to low risk of flooding at the 

location of the new building. Areas to the north of the building, where the car parking is 
proposed, shows low, medium and high risk of flooding. The FRA states that “surface 
water flood risk here is assessed to be ‘site generated’”. Notwithstanding the above, the 
FRA identifies that the site is within a Surface Water Hotspot. This is an area where 
properties have been identified as most at risk of surface water flooding.  

Page 101



 

 

38 
 

 
7.10.9 The surface water flood risk assessment within the FRA has calculated the 1 in 1000 

surface water flood level to be approximately 88.0m above ordnance datum (AOD). 
Consequently, the proposed development would have a proposed finished floor level of 
approximately 88.6m AOD, taking account of the finished floor level 600mm minimum 
as prescribed in BS8533:2017 ‘Assessing and managing Flood Risk in New 
Development – Code of Practice’. 

 
7.10.10 In terms of groundwater flooding mitigation, it has been recorded that groundwater 

seepages have occurred approximately 6m below ground level. The proposed pool 
basements would be 4m below ground level. The FRA advises that basement installation 
will be constructed using waterproof concrete and has been designed to withstand full 
hydrostatic pressure. The basement would also be lined with a waterproof membrane to 
reduce the risk of groundwater ingress.  
 
Surface Water Drainage  

7.10.11 The Planning Practice Guidance states that types of sustainable drainage system to 
consider will depend on the proposed development and its location, as well as any 
planning policies and guidance that apply locally. It continues that preference should be 
given to multi-functional SuDS, and to solutions that discharge surface water according 
to the following hierarchy –  
1. Into the ground (infiltration); 
2. To a surface water body; 
3. To a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 
4. To a combined sewer. 

 
7.10.12 Based on the ground investigations carried out, infiltration at the site is not possible. 

Furthermore, there are no watercourses near the site. The existing site discharges into 
a Thames Water culvert on the western boundary of the site. Given the calculated 
existing impermeable areas the combined 1 year discharge rate to the culvert is 
calculated to be 50.1l/s. Consequently, the surface water drainage for the proposed 
development would discharge to the culvert mimicking existing drainage arrangements.  

 
7.10.13  A variety of SuDS features are proposed for the site based on the above assessments. 

These are swales, rain gardens, permeable paving and underground cellular tanks. 
 
7.10.14 At the time of writing this report no comments have been received by Hertfordshire 

County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority. If comments are received prior to the 
meeting and/or the drainage strategy is agreed an update will be provided, otherwise it 
is anticipated Members will agree to delegate powers being granted to the Assistant 
Director of Planning and Regulation to impose any conditions advised on any response 
provided after the committee meeting.  

 
7.10.15 A decision will not be issued until the Legal Agreement associated with the development 

has been signed, which will allow time for comments to be received. Therefore, 
comments will be fully considered prior to a decision being issued. However, if the LLFA 
continues to raise an objection to this application and their concerns cannot be 
overcome, then this application will be referred back to the Planning and Development 
Committee for its decision. 
 

7.10.16 It is important to stress that whilst comments have not yet been received, Planning 
Practice Guidance makes clear that statutory consultee are to inform the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) without delay, if they require additional information, and that they have 
procedures in place to enable this to occur as soon as possible after they receive a 
consultation. The guidance also states that it is not acceptable for a statutory consultee 
to wait until the 21-day period where it believes it does not have enough information 
(Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 15-012-20190722).  

Page 102



 

 

39 
 

 
7.10.17 Given the Council as LPA has not received any comments from the LLFA within the 21 

day consultation period, PPG clearly states and quote “Local planning authorities are 
expected to determine applications for planning permission, within a time period of 5, 8, 
10, 13 or 16 weeks (depending on the type of development). Statutory consultees should 
be aware of the risk that, should they fail to respond within a specified time period, a 
local planning authority may proceed to decide the application in the absence of their 
advice” (Paragraph: 016 Reference ID: 15-016-20190722). Taking this into 
consideration, the Council is within its right to make a decision in the absence of any 
comments being received by the LLFA. With that in mind, this is why the application is 
being referred to the Planning and Development Committee for a decision as we are 
required to make decisions without delay.   

 
7.11  Sustainable Construction and Climate Change 
 

Development Plan 
7.11.1 Policy FP1 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) stipulates that planning permission will be 

granted for development that can incorporate measures to address adaptation to climate 
change. New developments will be encouraged to include measures such as: 

• Ways to ensure development is resilient to likely variations in temperature 

• Reducing water consumption to no more than 110 litres per person per day, 
including external water use 

• Improving energy performance of buildings 

• Reducing energy consumption through efficiency measures 

• Using or producing renewable or low carbon energy from a local source; and 

• Contributing towards reducing flood risk through the use of SuDS or other 
appropriate measures. 

 
7.11.2 Under the Local Plan review, Policy FP1 has been revised to cover sustainable drainage 

and Policy SP1: climate change is the new relevant policy in this regard. The 
fundamental objective of Policy SP1 remains the same as previous policy FP1, however, 
it sets out in more detail the objectives to adapting to climate change. This policy 
requires, amongst other things the off-setting of emissions targets if not met on site, 
water usage targets, rainwater harvesting, grey water recycling, use of sustainable 
materials and practices on site, ultra-low and zero carbon combined heat and power 
systems and urban greening (green roofs and walls).   

 
7.11.3 This policy is further supported by a suite of new climate change polices, CC1 through 

CC7 which cover a broad range of topics. However, it should be noted that Policies CC1 
and CC2 require only major planning applications to provide an energy statement. 
Emerging policy GD2 ‘Design certification’ strongly supports development proposals 
which demonstrate that they have been designed to achieve a rating of excellent or 
higher against the relevant BREEAM standard. 

 
7.11.4 The Council’s Design Guide SPD (2025) sets outs additional requirements with respect 

to climate change. The guide states that all developments are required to make efforts 
to minimise energy usage and to incorporate methods of using renewable energy, 
including:-   

• reducing energy demand 

• using passive environmental systems, e.g. natural ventilation 

• daylighting and passive solar gains 

• using high levels of insulation and air tightness in the fabric of the building 

• specifying energy efficient services, controls and appliances 

• implementing water recycling and the provision of water butts 

• using renewable energy 

• using low/zero carbon technologies to provide as much of the energy load as is 
technically and economically feasible, minimising use of fossil fuels; and  

Page 103



 

 

40 
 

• using efficient fossil fuel technologies, such as Combined Heat and Power and 
condensing boilers.  

 
  Sustainability and Energy Strategies  
7.11.5 A Stage 3 Energy Strategy Report by Environmental Mechanical Electrical Consultancy 

has been submitted with the application which outlines the key measures to be 
incorporated within the design in regard to sustainability, carbon emissions, renewable 
energy and environmental impacts of the development. The report confirms that the 
applicant wishes for the proposed development to follow a fabric first approach, therefore 
reducing demand on the national grid as reasonably possible.  

 
7.11.6 The proposal would utilise an Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) for its hot water and 

heating, which is found to be the most appropriate in this case given the high levels of 
heated water required. The ASHP also lends itself to the lowest carbon emissions, which 
have been calculated to exceed the requirements of current Building Regulations, thus 
improving upon the baseline carbon emissions.  

 
7.11.7 The scheme would also utilise sustainability measures such as high specification 

building fabric, energy efficient electric panel heaters, variable refrigerant flow systems 
and highly efficient LED lighting. The applicant has also committed to a minimum of 
BREEAM ‘Excellent’, which complies with emerging Local Plan policy GD2 ‘Design 
certification’. 

 
7.11.8 Given the above, and subject to conditions securing the measures identified to address 

adaptation to climate change, the development would exceed the requirements of the 
existing policy FP1, with the emerging policies carrying moderate weight. 

 
7.12 Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
  Planning Act and Case Law  
7.12.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes several 

‘statutory duties’ for decision-makers, all of which are applicable to the proposed 
development: 

 

• “Section 16(2): In considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works 
the local planning authority or the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.  

• “Section 66(1): In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the 
case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses”. 

• “Section 72: In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in a 
conservation area, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area”. 

 
7.12.2 Case law (South Lakeland, 1992) has determined that ‘preserve’ means ‘to do no harm’. 

However, if harm is identified, the NPPF provides a means of weighing either ‘substantial 
harm’ or ‘less than substantial harm’ to the significance of a designated heritage asset 
against the public benefits of the proposal.  

 
7.12.3 In doing so, case law has emphasised the need to give “considerable importance and 

weight” to preserving listed buildings or the character and appearance of conservation 
areas (Barnwell Manor, Case No: C1/2013/0843). However, the presumption ‘to 
preserve’ is not irrebuttable and “can be outweighed by material considerations powerful 
enough to do so” (Forge Field (Case Nos: CO/735/2013; CO/16932/2013) and a decision 

Page 104



 

 

41 
 

maker that has followed the process set out in the NPPF, in respect to weighing harm 
and benefits, can reasonably be expected to have complied with the ‘statutory duties’ of 
the 1990 Act (Mordue, Case No. C1/2015/1067). 

 
  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
7.12.4 Paragraph 203 of the NPPF (2024) states that ‘in determining applications, local 

planning authorities should take account of:  

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and  

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.’  

 
7.12.5 As established through case law, if there is any harm to designated heritage assets, 

great weight must be given to it.  Paragraph 212, it stipulates that when considering the 
impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss, or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. Paragraph 200 sets out that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within 
its setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  

 
7.12.6 Paragraph 214 sets out that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm 

to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total 
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. 

 
7.12.7 Paragraph 215 sets out that where a development proposal will lead to less than 

substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.  In undertaking this balance, considerable importance 
and weight must be attached to the less than substantial harm. 

 
7.12.8 Paragraph 217 sets out that Local Planning Authorities should not permit the loss of the 

whole or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new 
development will proceed after the loss has occurred. With respect to paragraph 218, 
this sets out that Local Planning Authorities should require developers to record and 
advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in 
part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this 
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible. However, the ability to record 
evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss should be 
permitted.  

 
7.12.9 In considering public benefits, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2019) (Reference 

ID: 18a-020-20190723) sets out that the National Planning Policy Framework requires 
any harm to designated heritage assets to be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal. Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything 
that delivers economic, social or environmental objectives as described in paragraph 8 
of the NPPF. For reference, paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that “Achieving sustainable 
development means that the planning system has three overarching objectives, which 
are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that 
opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different objectives):  

 

Page 105



 

 

42 
 

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at 
the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying 
and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;  

 
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring 
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of 
present and future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe 
places, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs 
and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and  

 
c) an environmental objective – to protect and enhance our natural, built and historic 
environment; including making effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using natural 
resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to 
climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy”. 

  
7.12.10 The planning practice guidance goes onto state that public benefits should flow from the 

development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large 
and not just private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be accessible to 
the public in order to be genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed building 
which secure its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. 
Consequently, while a range of benefits that help deliver sustainable communities could 
be relevant, the PPG provides examples of heritage based public benefits, as follows: 

  

• Sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of 
its setting; 

• Reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset; 

• Securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term 
conservation.  

Development Plan 
7.12.11 Turning to the adopted Local Plan, Policy SP13 relates to the historic environment. This 

states that the council will preserve and enhance the most important area and 
characteristics of Stevenage. The policy goes on to state that the Council will:- 

 
a. Have carried out Heritage Impact Assessments for development sites within, or 

adjacent to, conservation areas. Site specific mitigation measures have been 
incorporated to minimise the impacts of development. 

b. Will use national guidance and legislation to review, designate and determine 
planning applications affecting heritage assets. 

c. Will protect areas of archaeological importance and other relevant heritage assets 
by applying the detailed policies set in this plan. 

 
 

7.12.13 Finally, Policy NH10 Conservation Areas states that development proposals within, or 
affecting a conservation area should have regard to the guidance provided by the 
relevant Conservation Area Management Plan Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
 Impact on Heritage Assets 
7.12.14 The site is in close proximity to the Town Centre Conservation Area and Grade II listed 

Parish Church of St Andrew and St George located due south of the site at the junction 
of St Georges Way and Cuttys Lane. The Grade II listed ‘Scenes of Contemporary Life’ 
sculptural wall mural by William Mitchell is also in close proximity within the St Georges 
Way underpass to the south west of the site.  

 
7.12.15 The application has been supported by the submission of a Heritage Statement which 

identifies the local Heritage Assets which would be impacted by the development. 

Page 106



 

 

43 
 

Looking firstly at the Town Centre Conservation Area, this largely covers Town Square 
and Queensway and extending down Market Place to the border with St Georges Way 
and opposite the Church of St Andrew and St George. Therefore, given the proximity of 
the Conservation Area from the site and the presence of multiple built forms, including 
the St Georges Multi-storey Car Park and the Park Place development, the proposed 
new Leisure Centre is considered to have a neutral impact on the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 
7.12.16 The Grade II listed Church of St Andrew and St George is prominently located further 

south on St Georges Way. The 1950s church comprises of reinforced concrete frame 
with precast concrete flint-faced wall panels, buff brick to narthex and copper covered 
barrel roofs. The layout is traditional in plan with a rectangular, aisled space with the 
altar against the east wall. The church is visually recognised because of its circular 
tower. The tower is comprised of a reinforced concrete frame with six uprights and five 
stages plus a spire, formed of the convergence of the upright members.   

 
7.12.17 Given the proposed re-siting of, and scale of the new Leisure Centre, there will be greater 

views of the building from the church than the existing swimming centre. It is noted that 
the Bowes Lyon Centre provides a visible buffer between the site and the church, 
however some level of harm will be caused by the new building. Notwithstanding this, 
given the presence of the Bowes Lyon building and in considering the high quality design 
of the new building which has taken lots of cues from the church, the level of harm is 
considered less than substantial and at the lower end of the scale.  

 
7.12.18 Furthermore, the public benefit that stems from the proposals is clearly significant in this 

case and would in officer’s opinion outweigh the limited impact on the Grade II listed 
building.  

 
7.12.19 The site lies due north of the Grade II Listed William Mitchell wall mural ‘Scenes of 

Contemporary Life’ which is located in the northern subway providing pedestrian and 
cyclist access from the Town Centre to the Town Centre Gardens under St Georges 
Way. In this case, the mural is already well screened and protected from built form due 
to its location ‘underground’. As such, the impact on this heritage asset is also 
considered to be less than substantial and at the lower end of the scale. The public 
benefits would again outweigh the impact.  

 
7.12.20 Lastly, the proposed siting of the new building would result in the loss of the existing 

footpath from St Georges Way to the Town Centre Gardens that sits just north of the 
Bowes Lyon Centre. The footpath has been identified as a historic farm access and was 
an important factor in the design of the Town Centre Gardens by landscape architect 
Goerge Patterson. It therefore has some historic value. However, despite this, the 
provision of a new mutli-purpose leisure centre in this siting is a key part of Stevenage’s 
redevelopment. The site constraints, including the need to keep the existing swimming 
centre operational during construction have led to the proposed siting of the building. 
When considering the public benefits of the development, including the new and 
improved pedestrian and cyclist access to the Town Centre Gardens to the north of the 
proposed building far outweighs any impact on the loss of this footpath.   

 
7.13 Loss of Existing Facilities 
 
7.13.1 Local Plan Policy SP9 Healthy Communities under criteria (f) clearly outlines that a new 

wet and dry leisure facility is to be provided to replace the Arts and Leisure Centre and 
Stevenage Swimming Centre within the town centre. The loss of these facilities is 
therefore agreed in principle.  

 
7.13.2 The Design and Access Statement submitted to support the application goes in to detail 

the existing provision within these buildings, and the proposed new facilities. This has 

Page 107



 

 

44 
 

been strongly guided by the Council’s Leisure Facilities Team in terms of demand and 
operations. 

 
7.13.3 The proposed Leisure Centre would see the specific loss of the existing squash courts, 

indoor 6 rink bowls facility and two courts within the sports hall.  In respect of the water 
facilities, the total provision in the new facility is increased, including the new splash pad. 
However, the overall depth of the main pool would be 1.8m. The existing main pool has 
a maximum depth of 3.8m because of the former diving platforms/boards.  

 
7.13.4 The reduced pool depth as proposed and the loss of the indoor dedicated Bowls area at 

the Arts and Leisure Centre have received a large quantity of objections to the proposals. 
In particular the reduced depth of the new swimming pool to 1.8m has also raised an 
objection from Swim England. The objection specifically relates to the 1.8m depth 
proposed meaning the local Artistic Swimming Club will no longer be able to utilise the 
pool as they require a minimum depth of 2m for training.  

 
7.13.5 The majority of objections received relate to this issue. Swim England have advised that 

there are no nearby facilities that have a pool of sufficient depth for training and therefore 
competitions as well.  

 
7.13.6 The proposed depth of 1.8m has come from a constructive overview of proposed uses, 

an analysis of existing users/groups and how often/how long they require the space, and 
also a cost analysis of providing the new leisure centre. The addition of a further 20cm 
of depth across just half of the pool would equate to a further 52.5 cubic metres of 
excavation and heated water required to fill the space.  

 
7.13.7 Stevenage Borough Council as the applicant have advised that ‘increasing the depth to 

2 metres would incur substantial additional construction costs and raise ongoing 
operational expenses, without proportionate benefit to the wider user base. Given the 
availability of alternative deep-water pools in the region, the investment cannot be 
justified within the project’s budget constraints or the Council’s responsibility to deliver 
best value for the community’. 

 
7.13.8 The Council as the developer for this project has engaged in substantial community 

consultation. They have advised that they have ‘engaged constructively with the club to 
understand its requirements, details of which are set out in the Statement of Community 
Involvement. It is noted that Stevenage is not the only pool that they use for training; 
they also have weekly sessions at Monks Walk School in Welwyn Garden City and 
Hatfield Swimming Centre, pools which remain available to them’.  

 
7.13.9 Sport England have provided detailed comments on the proposals and in principle are 

supportive of the development. They highlight the benefits of consolidating both the 
facilities of the Arts and Leisure Centre and the Swimming Centre in a single facility 
offering benefits to users, as well as having operational efficiencies due to the existing 
energy costs, staffing demands etc of running two separate facilities.  

 
7.13.10 The central location of the facility combined with the proposed access improvements to 

the town centre, would, according to Sport England ‘help support access to the facility 
by users especially under-represented groups in sport/physical activity that are less likely 
to have access to their own vehicle’. They continue to advise that the improved 
pedestrian access along the side of the building and into the Town Centre Gardens, 
including the new café facilities offered as part of the proposals, would likely support 
greater use of the gardens for physical activity.  

 
7.13.11 The existing swimming centre is the only publicly accessible swimming facility in the area 

and is therefore an important facility. The swimming pools proposed in the new Leisure 
Centre would provide a significant net increase in water space capacity, increasing from 

Page 108



 

 

45 
 

480 sqm. to 695 sqm. Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model spatial planning tool 
indicates that due to capacity and age of the existing Swimming Centre pools, only 57% 
of demand from Stevenage Borough residents for water space is met by the existing 
facilities.  

 
7.13.12 Sport England’s figures suggest that by 2031 this figure is estimated to increase to 80% 

if the new leisure centre facility is built. This would largely be due to the increased quality 
of the swimming pools and supporting changing facilities.  

 
7.13.13 In respect of the 1.8m depth, this has been deemed most appropriate operationally. 

Swim England’s Guidance on Water Depths. Diving Entries and Competitive Starts 
document has the following entries –  

• Local aquatics club – practice and to become competent at race starts requires 
a minimum depth of 1.8m; 

• Entry level Artistic Swimming training sessions – preferred 0.9m plus depth; 

• Artistic Swimming training – preferred 2.0m or minimum 1.8m deep and 
preferred depth at shallow end of 1.2m; 

• Entry level/novice/low level artistic swimming competition aimed at individuals 
under the age of 16 – 1.5m plus depth; 

• Artistic Swimming, higher standard of swimmer above training or other low-level 
competition – minimum 2m deep. 

• Water polo. Adult training – preferred 1.8m deep; 

• Water polo Local league – preferred 2.0m or minimum 1.8m deep and preferred 
minimum depth at shallow end of 1.2m; 

• Water polo entry level/novice/low level water polo competition aimed at 
individuals under the age of 16 – 0.9m plus depth; 

• Water polo, higher standard of play above training, local league or other low-
level competition – 2.0m deep throughout the playing area is required.  

• Lifesaving and practice – 1.8m deep. 
 

7.13.14 The above clearly outlines that a level of training for Artistic swimming and other water 
sports can be carried out in 1.8m deep pools as per Swim England’s guidance. It is 
important in respect of the overall depth of the pool that it is clearly emphasised that this 
is an operational issue. SBC as the developer have undertaken significant consultation 
and dialogue with many existing groups of users and have proposed a facility that 
provides greater and better facilities in general than the existing swimming centre and 
leisure centre.  

 
7.13.15 It is only for the planning assessment to determine whether the provision of this new 

facility is acceptable. Whilst the type and number of facilities within the building will be 
important as part of officer’s considerations, the operational decision to provide a 1.8m 
over a 2m pool is not a material planning consideration. Furthermore, it is not for the 
planning process to seek an increase in the depth of the pool.  

 
7.13.16 The applicant has identified that the facility as designed but with a 2m deep pool would 

not be viable given additional construction costs, and then ongoing maintenance and 
upkeep costs. The provision of a new Swimming and Leisure Centre in the proposed 
location would be a huge benefit to the residents of Stevenage and beyond. The public 
benefits of a new, modern, efficient facility, in officer’s opinions far outweighs the 
objections to the depth of the pool. Especially given the pool depth being in compliance 
with Swim England’s own supporting guidance.  

 
7.13.17 Looking at the dry facilities of the centre, the proposals would see a reduction in sports 

hall courts of 8 to 6, loss of squash courts and also the loss of the six rink indoor bowls 
facility. The loss of these facilities is due to the constraints of needing to fit the building 
in the space between the existing swimming centre and Bowes Lyon Centre and also 
having to consider the overall scale and mass of the proposed buildings.  

Page 109



 

 

46 
 

 
7.13.18 Whilst these facilities would be lost, Sport England has confirmed that despite the net 

loss their Facilities Planning Model indicates that 97% of demand for sports halls from 
Stevenage residents would still be satisfied. This would be from the supply of sports 
halls both within and outside of Stevenage after the development was implemented 
which would be the same as the existing level of satisfied demand being met.  

 
7.13.19 In respect of the Bowls facilities, the town has outdoor provision for the sport. Whilst this 

may limit play during the winter months, facilities are still available. As with the loss of 
the squash courts and 1.8m pool depth, the impacts of these individual elements need 
to be considered in the context of the significant investment proposed into the new 
leisure centre. A centre that will have modern facilities addressing the qualitative 
deficiencies of the facilities that they would replace as well as providing a financially 
sustainable leisure centre to operate over a long-term period.  

 
7.13.20 Furthermore, Sport England also advise that some of the facilities which are most in 

demand by the community such as the swimming pools and activity studios would 
substantially increase in capacity, to the benefit of a greater number of users.  

 
7.13.21 Therefore, in conclusion the loss of the existing facilities, including specific elements 

such as squash courts and indoor bowls, and subsequently the loss of a single water 
based club at the facility is acceptable in principle. This is because of the significant 
benefits that will come from consolidating the two existing facilities into a single building, 
with greatly improved swimming, sports and leisure facilities which would see a net 
increase in users, and more inclusive wet and dry changing facilities.      

 
7.14 Planning Obligations 
 
7.14.1 The following planning obligations would be attached to any planning permission: 
 

• £6,000 Travel Plan evaluation and support fee (to cover 5 years) 

• Local Employment and Apprenticeships 

• Monitoring fee 
 
7.14.2 The above obligations have been agreed with the applicant and Hertfordshire County 

Council as Highway Authority (where relevant) and would be secured via a Unilateral 
Agreement, subject to planning permission. 

 
7.15 Other Matters  
 
  Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
7.15.1 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 

Schedule on 1 April 2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure 
projects based on the type, location and floor space of a development, in line with the 
rates shown in the table below. 

  

Development Type CIL Rate (£ per square metre) 

 Zone 1: Stevenage 
Central, Stevenage West 

Urban Extension and 
North of Stevenage 

Extension 

Zone 2: Everywhere else 

Residential  

Market housing £40/m2 £100/m2 

Sheltered housing £100/m2 

Extra care housing £40/m2 

Page 110



 

 

47 
 

Retail development £60/m2 

All other development £0/m2 

 
7.15.2 CIL is a non-negotiable charge. The exact charge will be determined by the Council’s 

CIL officer after an application has been granted in accordance with the CIL Charging 
Schedule and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
Opportunities for relief or exemption from the CIL charge exist and will be taken into 
account in the calculation of the final CIL charge. 

 
7.15.3 CIL replaces the need for S106 agreements to specify financial and/or land contributions 

for non-site-specific infrastructure projects. This allows infrastructure to be planned on a 
borough-wide scale rather than on a site-by-site basis as mitigation against the impacts 
of individual proposals. A CIL Form 1: Additional Information has been submitted along 
with the application. The development would be CIL liable at £0/m². 

 
Police Crime Prevention Officer 

7.15.4 Concerns have been raised by the Police Crime Prevention Officer in respect of crime 
and fear of crime, mixed changing facilities and Secure by Design. The mixed changing 
facilities concern is covered later in this report. In terms of the other matters the 
applicants have since confirmed in writing that they will pursue the development being 
secure by design approved.  

 
7.15.5 The building itself has been designed to ensure high levels of natural surveillance and 

inclusivity. In respect of the crime figures presented, these relate to two separate 
facilities, both of which have poor outward surveillance, and, with the Arts and Leisure 
Centre having the main pedestrian thoroughfare for connecting the Town Centre and 
Railway Station. There is a presumption therefore that many of the reported crimes 
would not be directly related to the sports facilities themselves. 
 

7.15.6 The building has been designed with natural surveillance / open in design which ensures 
crime has been designed out in line with planning policy. Further, with inclusion of 
secured by design the development is considered to be acceptable in this respect. All 
other matters relating to designing out crime would also be covered under Building 
Regulations as well.  
 
Human Rights and Equalities 
 

7.15.7 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 
Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a 
violation of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
7.15.8 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully 

aware of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the 
decision that they are taking. Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation 
of any potential impact of that decision on the Council's obligations under the Public 
Sector Equalities Duty. As a minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully 
consider the content of any Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
7.15.9 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) 
foster good relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the 
Equality Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Page 111



 

 

48 
 

7.15.10 The proposal would provide disabled spaces in the most accessible carpark location, 
level access to all parts of the site and disabled toilets / internal lift to ensure the site is 
accessible to all. The proposed mixed dry and wet changing facilities are largely in 
accordance with Sport England’s requirements. However, concerns were raised by the 
Police Crime Prevention Officer in terms of the mixed changing areas.  

 
7.15.11 In response to this a Safeguarding Report and Secure By Design Statement have been 

submitted in support of the proposals. In particular the Safeguarding Report identifies 
that the development has been designed in accordance with Sport England guidelines 
‘Accessible and inclusive sports facilities (AISF)’. The AISF guidance aims to:  

•  Increase awareness and use of inclusive design principles;  
• Support approaches to design that can reduce or remove barriers to more being 

active;  
• Encourage best-practice approaches to creating and maintaining well-designed 

sports and leisure facilities from point of concept through to day-to-day occupation. 
 

7.15.12 The guidance goes on to expand on this by stating - Usually found in swimming pool 
environments, changing villages consist of a matrix of all-gender changing cubicles and 
clusters of adjacent lockers. Cubicles provide privacy and sizes usually vary to cater for 
1-2 persons, families or larger groups. The numbers and location of the components are 
subject to consultation and management requirements to meet programming needs - 
see also Table D1 for minimum provision. The circulation routes are usually open to 
allow a level of natural surveillance and safeguarding with sightlines from adjacent 
spaces. 

  
7.15.13 It is considered the proposed changing village area at the new facility provides an 

effective design solution and follows best practice guidelines. The proposed 
development is not considered therefore to have any material impact on persons with 
any of the protected characteristics listed under the Equalities Act. 

 

8 CONCLUSION 
 

8.1 This application seeks planning permission for the construction of new Swimming and 
Leisure Centre, with phased demolition of the existing swimming centre. The proposed 
facilities would meet the Local Plan designation for a new mixed dry and wet facility on 
the site proposed. The facility would also provide greater functioning facilities, with an 
increased total swimming pool provision. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable in 
principle. 

 
8.2 The proposal would contribute to the redevelop of the Town Centre, by providing this 

much needed modern facility within the identified Marshgate Major Opportunity Area. 
The proposals would positively engage with and increase access to the Town Centre 
Gardens. The building scale, mass and design is considered to be high quality and 
positively contributes to the area. Additional landscaping would be incorporated 
throughout the site and the proposals would meet BREEAM Excellent. Further, the 
proposal has been carefully designed so as to not cause undue harm to nearby residents 
and would not prejudice highway safety.  

 
8.3 Having regard to the above, the proposal is considered to accord with the development 

plan when read as a whole. In the absence of any other material considerations which 
indicate that permission should be refused, it is recommended that planning permission 
be granted.  

 

9  RECOMMENDATION 
 

9.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the applicant having first entered into 

a Unilateral Undertaking to secure/provide contributions towards: 

Page 112



 

 

49 
 

 

• £6000 Travel Plan evaluation and support fee 

• Local Employment and Apprenticeships 

• Monitoring fee 

 

9.2 The detail of which would be delegated to the Assistant Director of Planning and 

Regulation in liaison with the Council’s appointed solicitor, along with the 

recommendations of the Lead Local Flood Authority, as well as the imposition of suitable 

safeguarding conditions.  

 

9.3 Authority would be given to the Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation in 

consultation with the Chair of Planning Committee, to amend or add to the suggested 

draft conditions set out in this report, prior to the decision notice being issued, where such 

amendments or additions would be legally sound and most effectively deliver the 

development that the Planning Committee has resolved to approve. These suggested 

conditions are as follows: 

 

Conditions 

1.           The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:  

  SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0163 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0164 Rev P01; SSLH-
FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0140 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0142 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-
ZZ-D-A-0141 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0143 Rev P01; FB-SK-4036-250519-AS-
001; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0110 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0111 Rev P01; 
SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0112 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0113 Rev P01; SSLH-
FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0119 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0114 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-
ZZ-D-A-0150 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0151 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-
0152 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0153 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0170 Rev 
P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0183 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0171 Rev P01; 
SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0172 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0173 Rev P01; SSLH-
FBA-01-ZZ-A-0174 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0180 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-
D-A-0181 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0182 Rev P01; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-
0400 Rev P01; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0501 Rev P02; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0502 
Rev P02; SSLH-SWH-ZZ-XX-D-C-0910 Rev P02; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0160 Rev 
P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0161 Rev P01; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0162 Rev P01; 
SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0100 Rev 02; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0101 REV 02; SSLH-FBA-
01-ZZ-D-A-0102 REV 02; SSLH-FBA-01-ZZ-D-A-0103 REV 02; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-
L-0101-S3 REV 13; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0102-S3 REV 09; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-
0103-S3 REV 09; SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0300-S3 REV 05; 

  
REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  

REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004). 

 
3.            No development shall take place (including demolition and site clearance) until a 

Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Plan: The Construction Management Plan 
shall include details of: 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing.  

Page 113



 

 

50 
 

b. Access arrangements to the site for traffic associated with the construction works.  
c. Measure to minimise dust, noise machinery and traffic noise impacts during 
construction.  
d. Screening and hoarding details to protect neighbouring residents.  
e. Traffic management requirements, including the location of routes and from the site, 
details of their signing monitoring and enforcement measures.  
f. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car parking, 
loading /unloading and turning areas);  
g. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities.  
h. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway including end 
of day tidying procedures to ensure protection of the site out the hours of construction. 
The construction activities shall be designed and undertake in accordance with the code 
of best practice set out in BS 5228 1997 and the agreed details unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the LPA and Highways.  
i. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of waste) and to 
avoid school pick up/drop off times. 
j. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction activities.  
k. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and temporary 
access to the public highway.  
l. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be submitted 
showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, pedestrian routes, 
and remaining road width for vehicle movements. 

 m. hours of working (including deliveries and waste removal);  
 n. all plant necessary for construction and demolition;  
 o. noise and vibration mitigation measures with particular attention paid to piling, power 

floating, and vacuum excavation activities where these activities are to be undertaken;  
 p. dust and smoke mitigation measures;  
 q. site lighting and off-site mitigation measures;  
 r. vermin control.  
 

REASON:- In the interests of local amenity and in order to protect highway safety and 
the amenity of other users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with 
Local Plan Policy FP7 and Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport 
Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
4. No development shall take place until a detailed Phasing Plan for the development 

hereby approved has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The Plan shall include details of car park closures, access arrangements to 
the existing Swimming Centre during construction, access arrangements to the new 
Leisure Centre during demolition of the existing Swimming Centre and during 
construction of the car park following demolition.  

  
REASON:- In the interests of public health and safety during the construction and 
demolition phases of the development on site. 

 
5. The Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the Biodiversity Net 

Gain Report dated May 2025 and prepared by Richard Graves Associates. 
               

REASON:- To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site. 
 
6. No development shall take place until a Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (the 

HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan and including: 
              (a) a non-technical summary; 
              (b) the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the HMMP; 
     (c) the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve habitat to 

achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain Plan; 

Page 114



 

 

51 
 

(d) the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of development; and 
(e) the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or enhanced 
habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The created and/or enhanced habitat 
specified in the approved HMMP shall be managed and maintained in accordance with 
the approved HMMP. 

               
REASON:- To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site. 

 
7. Notice in writing shall be given to the Council when the: 
              (a)  HMMP has been implemented; and 
  (b)  Habitat creation and enhancement works as set out in the HMMP have been 

completed. 
               

REASON:- To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site. 
 
8. No development shall take place above slab level until a full schedule and samples 

(where applicable) of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 
of the approved Leisure Centre hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance. 

 
9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, the existing entrance 

only access off St. Georges Way shall be closed off permanently and reinstate all 
footways/ green verge in accordance with the technical approval issued by the HCC’s 
Development Management Implementation (DMI) team and thereafter retained at the 
position as indicated on the approved plan drawing number (Ref-SSLH-SWH-01-XX-D-
C-5510, P06).  

 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018) and Roads in Hertfordshire, Section 4, 2.3. 

 
10. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay shall be 

provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved plan number 
(SSLH-SWH-01-XX-D-C-5510, P06). The splay shall always thereafter be maintained 
free from any obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent 
highway carriageway.  

 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018) and Roads in Hertfordshire, Section 4, 2.3. 

 
11. Within six months of the first use of the new leisure facility hereby permitted all proposed 

onsite car, coach & cycle parking, and turning areas including shared cycle path as 
shown on the landscape masterplan (Ref- SSLH-WWA-ZZ-ZZ-D-L-0101 Rev-P13) shall 
be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced, and drained in accordance with the approved 
plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
REASON:- To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 
highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). 

 

Page 115



 

 

52 
 

12. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, arrangement shall be made 
for surface water from the proposed development to be intercepted and disposed of 
separately so that it does not discharge onto the highway carriageway.  

 
REASON:- To avoid the carriage of extraneous material or surface water from or onto 
the highway in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 
2018). 

 
13. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, full details of the proposed 

secure covered / cycle lockers shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with 
the approved details prior to first use of the development and permanently maintained 
and retained. 

  
REASON:- To ensure satisfactory and adequate long stay secure and covered cycle 
parking is provided and made available at all times to promote sustainable modes of 
transport.   

 
14. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, full details of the proposed bin 

store shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details prior 
to first use of the development and permanently maintained and retained. 

  
REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance.   

 
15. Prior to first use of the development hereby permitted, full details of all soft landscaping 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Details shall 
take account of the comments made by the Council’s Green Spaces Officer and Tree 
Officer. The soft landscaping shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details to a reasonable standard in accordance with the relevant British 
Standards or other recognised Codes of Good Practice. 

  
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

 
16. Prior to the first use of the approved development the details for the provision of swift 

boxes and bat boxes within the site, on the buildings or on the trees respectively, as 
identified in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Bat Roosting Features Report 
produced by Richard Graves Associates dated May 2025 shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The bird and bat boxes shall be 
installed prior to first use of the development and permanently maintained in accordance 
with the approved details.    

  
REASON:- To minimise harm to biodiversity and enhance the ecological value of the 
site.  

 
17. Prior to the first use of the development, details of protection measures against the 

access of unauthorised vehicles within the proposed public realm areas shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development 
shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

  
REASON:- To ensure the restriction of unauthorised vehicles in the interests of public 
safety and good design.  

 
18. Prior to demolition of the existing swimming centre, a Site Waste Management Plan 

(SWMP) for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The SWMP should aim to reduce the amount of waste produced on site and 
should contain information including estimated types and quantities of waste to arise 

Page 116



 

 

53 
 

from construction and waste management actions for each waste type, plus mechanisms 
to deal with environmental impacts such as air quality and dust control measures, noise 
and vibration restriction measures, light and odour. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved SWMP.  

 
REASON:- To protect the amenities of local residents during demolition and to promote 
the sustainable management of waste arisings and contribution towards resource 
efficiency, in accordance with Policy 12 of the Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document (2012). 

 
19. Prior to the installation of any external plant, an Operational Noise Management Plan 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The plan 
shall detail siting of the plant and demonstrate its conformity with the plant noise 
objective set out on section 5 of the Noise Impact Assessment report by Anderson 
Acoustics Limited (reference 6816, dated 3/9/2024)( plant noise levels at the nearest 
noise sensitive receptors should not exceed 55 dB LAeq,Tr during the day and 52 dB 
LAeq,Tr during the night, when assessed ins accordance with BS 4142) and how noise 
from non-plant sources will be mitigated. The approved plan shall then be implemented 
prior to the beneficial occupation of the development and permanently retained as such 
thereafter.  

 
REASON:- In the interests of the amenities of nearby existing residential occupiers in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy FP7. 

 
20. Prior to the implementation of any public realm works, details of the proposed furniture 

to be used within the public realm areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. Details shall include the picnic benches, concrete 
benches and measures to protect them against grinding by skateboards, bikes and 
scooters, and graffiti, and any refuse receptacles. The furniture shall be installed prior to 
first use of the development and permanently maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
 REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable appearance, and the furniture 

is durable for the longevity of the development.  
 
21. Prior to the installation of any external lighting associated with the development hereby 

permitted, a written scheme for the provision of external lighting together with an Artificial 
Lighting Assessment including the design, size, and illuminance of all lighting and its 
impact having regard to relevant national guidance shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
REASON:- In the interests of the amenities of nearby existing residential occupiers in 
accordance with Local Plan Policy FP7 

 
22.  Prior to the construction of any of the Sustainable Drainage (SuDS) swales and rain 

gardens proposed, details of their final design shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. Details shall include engineer drawings and measures to 
ensure protection and maintenance. The SuDS features shall thereafter be managed 
and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

  
REASON:- To ensure the development delivers appropriate SuDS features and for their 
longevity within the site.  

 
23. In the event that any previously unidentified ground contamination is discovered on the 

site, no further construction work may be carried out in the affected area until a 
remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The development shall then be carried out in accordance with the approved 

Page 117



 

 

54 
 

remediation strategy. Where any development to which this permission relates is 
required to be carried out in accordance with a remediation strategy, a verification report 
(setting out the remedial measures actually undertaken on the site) shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the beneficial 
occupation of the development.  

 
REASON:- In the interests of human health. 

 
24. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be 

carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the completion of the 
development. 

  
REASON:- To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development. 

 
25.       The measures to address adaptation to climate change as set out within the Energy 

Strategy Report by Environmental Mechanical Electrical Consultancy dated 15 May 
2025 and the Planning Statement by WSP dated 2 June 2025 shall be implemented and 
permanently maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

  
REASON:- To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change through provision 
of energy and water efficiency measures. 

  
 

 Pro-active Statement 
 
 Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 

through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during 
the determination process which led to improvements to the scheme. The Council has 
therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (paragraph 38) and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 

 
 INFORMATIVES 
 
1. Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 

with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land 
which is not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the 
public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. Further information is available via the 
website: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-
pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-
management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx  

 
2. Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways 

Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish 
on a made up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of 
any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical 
means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during 
construction of the development and use thereafter are in a condition such as not to 
emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 
available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
3. Avoidance of surface water discharge onto the highway: The applicant is advised that 

the Highway Authority has powers under section 163 of the Highways Act 1980, to take 
appropriate steps where deemed necessary (serving notice to the occupier of premises 
adjoining a highway) to prevent water from the roof or other part of the premises falling 

Page 118

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopment-management.aspx


 

 

55 
 

upon persons using the highway, or to prevent so far as is reasonably practicable, 
surface water from the premises flowing on to, or over the footway of the highway. 

 
4. Construction Management Plan (CMP): The purpose of the CMP is to help developers 

minimise construction impacts and relates to all construction activity both on and off site 
that impacts on the wider environment. It is intended to be a live document whereby 
different stages will be completed and submitted for application as the development 
progresses. A completed and signed CMP must address the way in which any impacts 
associated with the proposed works, and any cumulative impacts of other nearby 
construction sites will be mitigated and managed. The level of detail required in a CMP 
will depend on the scale and nature of development. The CMP would need to include 
elements of the Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLOCS) standards as 
set out in our Construction Management template, a copy of which is available on the 
County Council’s website at: https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-
and-pavements/business-and-developer-i nformation/development-
management/highways-development-management.aspx  

 
5. Street works licence (New Roads and Street Works Act - Section 50): The applicant is 

advised that they are not authorised to carry out any work within the Public Highway and 
that to do so they will need to enter into a legal agreement with the Highway Authority 
(NRSW agreement). This consent is separate and additional to any planning permission 
that may be given. Before proceeding with the proposed development, the applicant shall 
obtain the requirements and permission for the associated placement of apparatus within 
the adjacent highway as part of the proposal via the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/permit-scheme/east-of-england-permit-scheme.aspx or by 
telephoning 0300 1234 40047. This should be carried out prior to any new apparatus is 
placed within the highway. 

 
6. Travel Plan (TP): A TP, in accordance with the provisions as laid out in Hertfordshire 

County Council’s Travel Plan Guidance, would be required to be in place from the first 
occupation/use until 5 years post occupation/use. A £1,200 per annum (overall sum of 
£6000 and index-linked RPI March 2014) Evaluation and Support Fee would need to be 
secured via a Section 106 agreement towards supporting the implementation, 
processing and monitoring of the full travel plan including any engagement that may be 
needed. Further information is available via the County Council’s website at: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-
and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-
management.aspx OR by emailing travelplans@hertfordshire.gov.uk 

 
7. Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 
2020. This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact 
the CIL Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even 
if you are granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement 
under Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) that CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and 
acknowledged by Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do 
so will mean you risk losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be 
imposed. NB, please note that a Commencement Notice is not required for residential 
extensions if relief has been granted.  

 
Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on 
the Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL 
Team at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk. 

 

Page 119

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-i%20nformation/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/permit-scheme/east-of-england-permit-scheme.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/permit-scheme/east-of-england-permit-scheme.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-anagement/highways-development-management.aspx
mailto:CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk


 

 

56 
 

8. The applicant is advised of the Council’s powers under Part III of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 to probit nuisances arising from noise, artificial light, and a range of 
other pollutants that may arise from commercial premises. 

 
9. To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 

Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning 
us on 01438 879990. 

 
To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 
https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/payment can be made online or by 
phoning the above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone 
Hertfordshire Building Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

 
Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building 
Control Ltd, Campus East, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6AE. 

 
Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and 
fee building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter 
of the work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

 
Excavation for foundations 
Damp proof course 
Concrete oversite 
Insulation 
Drains (when laid or tested) 
Floor and Roof construction 
Work relating to fire safety 
Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
Completion 

 
Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to 
ensure a same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 

 
10. The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 
development may not begin unless: 

 
a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
b) the planning authority has approved the plan. 

 
The planning authority, for the purposes of determining whether to approve a Biodiversity 
Gain Plan if one is required in respect of this permission would be Stevenage Borough 
Council.   

 
Based on the information available, this permission is considered to be one which will 
require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before development is begun because 
none of the statutory exemptions or transitional arrangements are considered to apply. 

 
Where the local planning authority considers that the permission falls within paragraph 
19 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the permission which 
has been granted has the effect of requiring or permitting the development to proceed 
in phases. The modifications in respect of the biodiversity gain condition which are set 
out in Part 2 of the Biodiversity Gain (Town and Country Planning) (Modifications and 
Amendments) (England) Regulations 2024 apply. 

 

Page 120



 

 

57 
 

Biodiversity gain plans are required to be submitted to, and approved by, the planning 
authority before development may be begun, and, if subject to phased development, 
before each phase of development may be begun (Phase Plans). 

 
If the onsite habitat includes irreplaceable habitat (within the meaning of the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Irreplaceable Habitat) Regulations 2024) there are additional 
requirements for the content and approval of Biodiversity Gain Plans.  The Biodiversity 
Gain Plan must include, in addition to information about steps taken or to be taken to 
minimise any adverse effect of the development on the habitat, information on 
arrangements for compensation for any impact the development has on the biodiversity 
of the irreplaceable habitat.  

 
The planning authority can only approve a Biodiversity Gain Plan if satisfied that the 
adverse effect of the development on the biodiversity of the irreplaceable habitat is 
minimised and appropriate arrangements have been made for the purpose of 
compensating for any impact which do not include the use of biodiversity credits. 

 
More information can be found in the Planning Practice Guidance online at  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain.    

 
11. The applicant is advised that the design and layout of the leisure centre should comply 

with the relevant industry Technical Design Guidance, including guidance published by 
Sport England and, National Governing Bodies for Sport. Particular attention is drawn to 
Sport England’s “Accessible and Inclusive Sports Facilities”, “Sports Hall Design & 
Layouts” and “Swimming Pools” design guidance notes 
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-planning/design-and-
cost-guidance  

  

10 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  
 
1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 

number relating to this item. 
 
2.  The Stevenage Local Plan 2011-2031 (2019) and Stevenage Local Plan Partial Review 

(2024). 
 
3. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

SPD (2025); Developer Contributions SPD (2025); Design Guide SPD (2025). 
 
4. Hertfordshire County Council Local Transport Plan LTP4 2018-2031 
 
5. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 2024 

and the National Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
6. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 

referred to in this report. 
 

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/biodiversity-net-gain
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 122



 

DC36 

PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date:    

IMPORTANT  INFORMATION - DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Author – Technical Support 01438 242838 

Lead Officer – Alex Robinson 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

The Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation has issued decisions in respect of the 
following applications in accordance with his delegated authority:- 
 
 
 
1.  Application No : 25/00119/COND 

 
 Date Received : 11.02.25 

 
 Location : 224-230 Bedwell Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 1NG 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of Condition 33 (LLFA Condition - Drainage Strategy 

for flood resilient measures) attached to planning permission 
reference number 22/00965/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
2.  Application No : 25/00135/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.02.25 

 
 Location : The Gatehouse Rectory Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Change of use of building approved under 22/00804/FPH from 

an annexe to a separate single storey dwelling 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 5



 

DC36 

 
 
 
 
 
3.  Application No : 25/00180/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 10.03.25 

 
 Location : 29 Whitney Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 4BQ 

 
 Proposal : First floor front and side extension and single storey front 

extension to create porch/cupboard 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
4.  Application No : 25/00224/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 26.03.25 

 
 Location : 2 Morley Cottages Chells Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Retention of outbuilding 

 
 Date of Decision : 15.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
5.  Application No : 25/00246/COND 

 
 Date Received : 31.03.25 

 
 Location : 224-230 Bedwell Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 1NG 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition 29 (LLFA) attached to planning permission 

reference number 22/00965/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



 

DC36 

 
 
 
6.  Application No : 25/00251/COND 

 
 Date Received : 01.04.25 

 
 Location : 33 Julians Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3ES 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of Conditions 14 (samples of materials); 15 

(landscaping strategy); 16 (bird and bat boxes); 17 (boundary 
treatments); 18 (water hydrants); 21 (cycle storage); 22 (waste 
and recycling); and 23 (external lighting) attached to planning 
permission reference number 23/00889/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 16.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
7.  Application No : 25/00309/FP 

 
 Date Received : 26.04.25 

 
 Location : 16 Badgers Close Stevenage Herts SG1 1UH 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from public amenity land to private residential land 

 
 Date of Decision : 23.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
8.  Application No : 25/00359/FP 

 
 Date Received : 01.05.25 

 
 Location : Stevenage Service Station Lonsdale Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Installation of 6 No. EV Chargers and associated works 

 
 Date of Decision : 10.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
9.  Application No : 25/00367/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.05.25 

 
 Location : 437 Vardon Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5BB 

 
 Proposal : Singe storey front and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 23.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

Page 125



 

DC36 

 
10.  Application No : 25/00391/COND 

 
 Date Received : 16.05.25 

 
 Location : Brent Court  Silam Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of Condition 14 (Tree Protection Measures) attached 

to planning permission reference number 22/00963/FPM 
 

 Date of Decision : 17.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
11.  Application No : 25/00401/OP 

 
 Date Received : 23.05.25 

 
 Location : Land Beside 40 Shephall View Stevenage Herts SG1 1RL 

 
 Proposal : Outline permission for 3 bedroom bungalow on land beside 40 

Shephall View Stevenage with all matters reserved 
 

 Date of Decision : 17.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Outline Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
 
Owing to the size of the plot, there is insufficient space to 
accommodate a single storey building with sufficient internal 
floorspace to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards for 
a three bedroom dwelling.  Further, to accommodate a building 
of sufficient size would result in an unacceptably substandard 
private amenity space.  The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Policy GD1 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2031 
(adopted 2019), the Design Guide SPD (2025), and the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 
Owing to the size of the plot, the submitted plan fails to 
demonstrate that a private amenity space of at least 50sqm and 
at least 10m deep can be provided at the rear of the dwelling.  
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy GD1 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 to 2031 (adopted 2019), the 
Design Guide SPD (2025), and the aims and objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



 

DC36 

 
 
 
12.  Application No : 25/00405/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 27.05.25 

 
 Location : 22 Grenville Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8XZ 

 
 Proposal : Extension and replacement raised roof to existing detached 

garage with habitable accommodation above. 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
 
The proposed garage extension by reason of its height and bulk 
would appear visually incongruous, overly prominent, and unduly 
imposing when viewed from Grenville Way and would harm the 
character and appearance of the area. The proposal is contrary 
to policies GD1 and SP8 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 (2019) and Local Plan Partial Review (2024), the 
Council's Design Guide SPD (2025), National Planning Policy 
Framework (2024) and the Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
The proposed development, if approved, would result in 
inadequate car parking provision to serve the property in line with 
the Council's adopted parking standards. This is likely to result in 
additional on-street parking in inappropriate locations close to 
junctions, to the detriment of the free flow of traffic and highway 
safety in the vicinity of the application site. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policy IT5 of the Stevenage Borough Local 
Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019) and Local Plan Partial Review (2024), 
the Council's Parking Provision SPD (2025), the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2024) and the Planning Practice 
Guidance. 

 
 
13.  Application No : 25/00409/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 27.05.25 

 
 Location : 9 Marymead Court Stevenage Herts SG2 8AE 

 
 Proposal : Single story rear extension and front porch extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 25.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 

DC36 

 
 
14.  Application No : 25/00412/AD 

 
 Date Received : 28.05.25 

 
 Location : Bond International Cartwright Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Retention of non-illuminated fascia sign. 

 
 Date of Decision : 09.07.25 
  

Decision: 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
15.  Application No : 25/00418/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 30.05.25 

 
 Location : 37 Kings Walden Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 0JX 

 
 Proposal : Erection of two storey side extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 25.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s); 
 
The proposed extension by reason of its height, bulk and siting 
up to the boundary would not be subservient to the original 
dwelling and would appear bulky, visually incongruous and 
harmful to the character and appearance of Kings Walden Rise. 
The proposal is contrary to policies GD1 and SP8 of the 
Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019) and Local 
Plan Partial Review (2024), the Council's Design Guide SPD 
(2025), National Planning Policy Framework (2024) and the 
Planning Practice Guidance. 
 
The proposed development, if approved, would result in 
inadequate car parking provision to serve the property in line with 
the Council's adopted parking standards. This is likely to result in 
additional on-street parking in inappropriate locations close to 
junctions, to the detriment of the free flow of traffic and highway 
safety in the vicinity of the application site. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Policy IT5 of the Stevenage Borough Local 
Plan 2011 - 2031 (2019) and Local Plan Partial Review (2024), 
the Council's Parking Provision SPD (2025), the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2024) and the Planning Practice 
Guidance. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 

DC36 

 
 
16.  Application No : 25/00420/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 02.06.25 

 
 Location : 116 Broad Oak Way Stevenage Herts SG2 8RB 

 
 Proposal : Single storey front and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
17.  Application No : 25/00422/CPAS 

 
 Date Received : 02.06.25 

 
 Location : Unit 1 Roebuck Retail Park London Road Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Installation of 158.85kWp Rooftop Solar PV Installation, made up 

of 353 no. 450W Solar Panels 
 

 Date of Decision : 11.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is NOT REQUIRED 
 

 
 
18.  Application No : 25/00423/AD 

 
 Date Received : 02.06.25 

 
 Location : Unit 3A Roaring Meg Retail Park London Road Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Retrospective installation of 1no. internally illuminated fascia 

sign, 1no. internally illuminated goal post sign, and window vinyls 
 

 Date of Decision : 24.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
19.  Application No : 25/00426/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 04.06.25 

 
 Location : 6 The Pastures Stevenage Herts SG2 7DZ 

 
 Proposal : Proposed first floor side and rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 01.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
 

Page 129



 

DC36 

 
 
 
20.  Application No : 25/00427/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 04.06.25 

 
 Location : 2D Hillcrest Stevenage Herts SG1 1PL 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for the erection of 

proposed car port 
 

 Date of Decision : 10.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
21.  Application No : 25/00431/FP 

 
 Date Received : 04.06.25 

 
 Location : 46 Basils Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3PX 

 
 Proposal : Erection of single storey rear extension and change of use of 

ground floor from office (use class E) to create 3no. x 1 bed flats 
at ground and first floor with associated parking and storage. 
 

 Date of Decision : 18.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
22.  Application No : 25/00432/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 05.06.25 

 
 Location : 7 Olde Swann Court Stevenage Herts SG1 3WB 

 
 Proposal : Reduction of the crown by 20% of 1no Sycamore Tree (T17) 

protected by Tree Preservation Order 61 
 

 Date of Decision : 23.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 

DC36 

 
 
 
 
23.  Application No : 25/00433/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 05.06.25 

 
 Location : Land To Rear Of 2 Essex Close Stevenage Herts SG1 3FA 

 
 Proposal : Crown lift Copper Beech tree (T15) to 5.2M protected by Tree 

Preservation Order 80 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
24.  Application No : 25/00435/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 05.06.25 

 
 Location : Land Adjacent To 31 Essex Road Stevenage Hertfordshire SG1 

3EX 
 

 Proposal : Reduce 1no. Horse Chestnut tree (T17) by up to 2m and Crown 
Lift 1no. Horse Chestnut tree (T18) to 2.4m above footpath, 
protected by Tree Preservation Order 80. 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
25.  Application No : 25/00436/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 05.06.25 

 
 Location : Land Near 7 Campion Court Stevenage Herts SG1 3EY 

 
 Proposal : Epicormic removal from 1no. Common Lime tree (T11) and 

reduction by up to 2m of 1no. Lawson Cypress tree (T13) 
protected by Tree Preservation Order 80 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 

DC36 

 
 
 
26.  Application No : 25/00437/AD 

 
 Date Received : 06.06.25 

 
 Location : Specsavers Opticians 90 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : 1no. internally illuminated fascia sign and 1no. hanging sign 

 
 Date of Decision : 29.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 
 

27.  Application No : 25/00441/AD 
 

 Date Received : 09.06.25 
 

 Location : 66 - 68 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 
 

 Proposal : Installation of 1no. bespoke illuminated ATM surround panel, 
1no. 620mm internally illuminated fascia panel, replacement 
signage on existing hanging sign and 1no. 55inch attractor panel 
behind shopfront window within the unit. 
 

 Date of Decision : 31.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
28.  Application No : 25/00447/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 11.06.25 

 
 Location : The Oaks 106 Burydale Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Fell Cherry Plum (T009), Prune Wild Cherry (T018) 

 
 Date of Decision : 23.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
29.  Application No : 25/00449/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 12.06.25 

 
 Location : 363 Wisden Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5JN 

 
 Proposal : Raising roof to garage to facilitate partial conversion 

 
 Date of Decision : 08.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

Page 132



 

DC36 

 
 
30.  Application No : 25/00450/FP 

 
 Date Received : 12.06.25 

 
 Location : The Priory Nursery, St John's Ambulance Hall Stanmore Road 

Stevenage Herts 
 

 Proposal : Installation of a proposed modular outbuilding, bin and cycle 
stores and shade canopies. 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
31.  Application No : 25/00453/FP 

 
 Date Received : 16.06.25 

 
 Location : 33 Newton Road Stevenage Herts SG2 0BX 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from a dwellinghouse (Class C3) to residential 

children's home (Class C2). 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
32.  Application No : 25/00454/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.25 

 
 Location : 1 The Willows Stevenage Herts SG2 8AN 

 
 Proposal : Reduce crown of 1 no. Goat Willow by 1.5m (T1); Reduce crown 

of Conifer by 2m (T2, T3, T4) 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
33.  Application No : 25/00458/AD 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.25 

 
 Location : 103 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Replacement 1no. internally illuminated ATM Collar 

 
 Date of Decision : 24.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 

Page 133



 

DC36 

 
 
34.  Application No : 25/00459/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 18.06.25 

 
 Location : 4 Foster Close Stevenage Herts SG1 4SA 

 
 Proposal : Removal of 2no. Oak trees (T2) and (T4) protected by Tree 

Preservation Order 10 
 

 Date of Decision : 21.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
35.  Application No : 25/00460/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 18.06.25 

 
 Location : 2 Foster Close Stevenage Herts SG1 4SA 

 
 Proposal : Removal of 1no. Hornbeam tree forming part of Group (G2) 

protected by Tree Protection Order 10 
 

 Date of Decision : 21.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
36.  Application No : 25/00462/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 19.06.25 

 
 Location : 41 Randals Hill Stevenage Herts SG2 9YN 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of a conservatory at the rear of the property 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
37.  Application No : 25/00468/FP 

 
 Date Received : 21.06.25 

 
 Location : 95 Raleigh Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 0ED 

 
 Proposal : Erection of 1no. two-bedroom dwelling 

 
 Date of Decision : 28.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 134



 

DC36 

 
38.  Application No : 25/00474/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 25.06.25 

 
 Location : 1 Vardon Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5PT 

 
 Proposal : Retention of timber pergola to rear elevation and raised decking 

 
 Date of Decision : 07.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
39.  Application No : 25/00478/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 26.06.25 

 
 Location : 137 Mildmay Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5RS 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate for a single storey rear extension 

and 1 no. roof light. 
 

 Date of Decision : 07.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
40.  Application No : 25/00479/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 26.06.25 

 
 Location : 10 Boswell Gardens Stevenage Herts SG1 4SB 

 
 Proposal : Variation of Conditions 1 (Approved Plans) and 3 (Matching 

Materials) attached to planning permission reference number 
25/00192/FPH, to provide a flat roof instead of a pitched gable 
roof.  
 

 Date of Decision : 20.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
41.  Application No : 25/00484/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 26.06.25 

 
 Location : SG1 Development Site Town Centre Stevenage  

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to reserved matters approval 

19/00743/FPM for a minor alteration to Condition 56 (Highway 
improvements Part A) to align the trigger point of the condition 
with the design programme 
 

 Date of Decision : 14.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 

Page 135



 

DC36 

 
 

 
42.  Application No : 25/00496/FP 

 
 Date Received : 26.06.25 

 
 Location : 2 Popple Way Stevenage Herts SG1 3TG 

 
 Proposal : Replace single-glazed wooden shopfront with new double-glazed 

aluminium shopfront. 
 

 Date of Decision : 30.07.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
43.  Application No : 25/00497/AD 

 
 Date Received : 27.06.25 

 
 Location : 103 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Replacement signage comprising 2no. internally illuminated 

fascia signs, 1no. non-illuminated fascia sign, 2no. internally 
illuminated projecting signs, and internally illuminated ATM 
surround. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Advertisement Consent is GRANTED 
 
 

 
44.  Application No : 25/00505/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 02.07.25 

 
 Location : 5 Woodfield Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4BP 

 
 Proposal : Full crown reduction and trim branches back to trunk on side 

facing number 9 Woodfield Road, Common Lime (T13) protected 
by Tree Preservation Order 82   
   
 

 Date of Decision : 15.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



 

DC36 

 
 
45.  Application No : 25/00506/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 02.07.25 

 
 Location : 29 - 31 Orchard Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3HE 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission 24/00565/FP for 

a variation of condition 1 (Approved Plans) 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
46.  Application No : 25/00512/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 04.07.25 

 
 Location : 9 Compton Place Stevenage Herts SG1 4FN 

 
 Proposal : Lawful development certificate (proposed) for rear dormer 

window and 3 no. roof lights. 
 

 Date of Decision : 15.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
47.  Application No : 25/00519/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 04.07.25 

 
 Location : 149 Wigram Way Stevenage Herts SG2 9UJ 

 
 Proposal : Two storey rear extension and single storey front porch extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 26.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
48.  Application No : 25/00522/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 07.07.25 

 
 Location : The Marquis Of Granby North Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Reduce crown by 5m in height, and 4m in diameter on 2no. Ash 

trees. 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
Page 137



 

DC36 

 
49.  Application No : 25/00524/BNGCO 

 
 Date Received : 07.07.25 

 
 Location : Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Compliance with Biodiversity Net Gain details required by 

planning permission 25/00299/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 
50.  Application No : 25/00525/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 08.07.25 

 
 Location : 20 Eliot Road Stevenage Herts SG2 0LJ 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for the erection of a 

single-storey rear extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
51.  Application No : 25/00526/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 08.07.25 

 
 Location : MBDA UK Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non Material Amendment to planning approval 22/00975/FP to 

revise location for new roller shutter door and associated external 
hardsurfacing, and revised location for two number external 
louvres 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
52.  Application No : 25/00533/CPA 

 
 Date Received : 11.07.25 

 
 Location : 77 - 83 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Prior approval for the change of use of the first and second floors 

from retail to residential dwellings (Use Class C3) 
 

 Date of Decision : 11.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and GIVEN 
 

Page 138



 

DC36 

 
 
 
 
53.  Application No : 25/00535/CC 

 
 Date Received : 11.07.25 

 
 Location : 9 Hitchin Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3BJ 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from C3 residential to C2 care home and erection 

of single storey garden room 
 

 Date of Decision : 04.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
This Council Raises NO OBJECTION to the Development 
Proposed 
 

 
 
54.  Application No : 25/00546/CPA 

 
 Date Received : 17.07.25 

 
 Location : 77 - 83 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : A one storey extension to the existing building for 9no. 1 bedroom 

and 4no. 2 bedroom flats 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and GIVEN 
 

 
 
55.  Application No : 25/00548/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 17.07.25 

 
 Location : Brent Court  Silam Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to reserved matters approval 

22/00963/FPM for the relocation of substation from the undercroft 
car park, internal alterations, and alterations to the undercroft car 
park layouts 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



 

DC36 

 
56.  Application No : 25/00554/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 22.07.25 

 
 Location : 224-230 Bedwell Crescent Stevenage Herts SG1 1NG 

 
 Proposal : Non-material amendment to planning permission 22/00965/FPM 

for relocation of substation and plot substitutions (Change from 
Devoke House type to Roundhill House type) (Plots 50-57). 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
57.  Application No : 25/00558/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 23.07.25 

 
 Location : 31A Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission 24/00736/FP to 

fit a 150mm diameter UPVC drainage pipe to the rear external 
facade 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
58.  Application No : 25/00588/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 04.08.25 

 
 Location : 22 Chertsey Rise Stevenage Herts SG2 9JN 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for single storey rear 

extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
59.  Application No : 25/00611/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 11.08.25 

 
 Location : 66 Chepstow Close Stevenage Herts SG1 5TT 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) conversion of garage 

to habitable space external alterations to dwellinghouse. 
 

 Date of Decision : 18.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

Page 140



 

DC36 

 
60.  Application No : 25/00641/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 21.08.25 

 
 Location : 151 Raleigh Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 0EB 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a single storey 

rear extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.08.25 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 
number relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted January 2020. 
 

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019. 
 

4. Local Plan Partial Review (2024). 
 

5. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018.  
 

6. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

 
7. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

December 2024 and Planning Policy Guidance. 

 

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



Part I – Release 
to Press 

 

 
 

 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 9 September 2025   

INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

Author – Linda Sparrow  

Lead Officer – Alex Robinson 

Contact Officer – Alex Robinson 

1. APPEALS RECEIVED 

 
1.1 NONE.  

 

2. DECISIONS AWAITED 

2.1. 24/00893/FP, Land Adjacent to 175 Vardon Road.  Appeal against refusal of planning 
permission for the erection of a pair of semi-detached two-bedroom dwellings. 

 
2.2. 21/01025/ENFAPL, 7 Boxfield Green.  Appeal against the serving of an Enforcement Notice 

relating to the development not in accordance with approved plans under planning permission 
reference number 17/00734/FPH. 

 
3. DECISIONS RECEIVED 
  
3.1 None.  

Page 143

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 144


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES - 21 JULY 2025
	3 25/00413/FPM - FORMER KODAK SITE, BESSEMER DRIVE
	4 25/00424/FPM - STEVENAGE SWIMMING CENTRE, ST GEORGES WAY
	5 INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS

